
 
 

 

Children and Young People Select Committee 

Agenda 
 
Thursday, 5 December 2019 
7.00 pm, Committee Room 4 
Civic Suite 
Catford Road 
London SE6 4RU 
 
For more information contact: Emma Aye-Kumi (emma.aye-
kumi@lewisham.gov.uk) 
 
This meeting is an open meeting and all items on the agenda may be audio 
recorded and/or filmed. 
 
 

Part 1 
 
Item  Pages 

 
1.   Minutes of the meeting held on 16 October 2019 

 
5 - 12 

2.   Declarations of interest 
 

13 - 16 

3.   Responses to Referrals 
 
Response from Health and Wellbeing Board on 
BAMER mental health inequalities 
 

17 - 30 

4.   Provisional key stage outcomes for Lewisham schools 
 

31 - 40 

5.   Education Strategy 
 

41 - 76 

6.   CAMHS waiting times for Lewisham children 
 

77 - 90 

7.   Recruitment and retention of school staff - in-depth 
review follow up 
 

91 - 116 

8.   Lewisham Alternative Provision and unregulated 
education settings 
 

117 - 122 

9.   Lewisham Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 
2018-19 

123 - 184 

Public Document Pack



 
 

 

 
10.   Select Committee work programme 

 
185 - 208 

11.   Referrals to Mayor and Cabinet 
 

 



 

Children and Young People Select Committee 
Members 

 
Members of the committee, listed below, are summoned to attend the meeting 
to be held on Thursday, 5 December 2019.  
 
Kim Wright, Chief Executive 

Tuesday, 26 November 2019 
 
  

Councillor Luke Sorba (Chair)  

Councillor Caroline Kalu (Vice-Chair)  

Councillor Colin Elliott  

Councillor Octavia Holland  

Councillor Coral Howard  

Councillor Liz Johnston-Franklin  

Councillor Paul Maslin  

Councillor Hilary Moore  

Councillor Jacq Paschoud  

Councillor John Paschoud  

Lilian Brooks Parent Governor Representative - 
Primary Schools 

Kate Ward Parent Governor Representative - 
Secondary Schools 

Gail Exon Church Representative 

Monsignor N Rothon Church Representative 

Councillor Bill Brown (ex-Officio)  

Councillor Sakina Sheikh (ex-Officio)  
  



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 
 
 

MINUTES OF THE CHILDREN AND YOUNG 
PEOPLE SELECT COMMITTEE 

Wednesday, 16 October 2019 at 7.00 pm 
 
 

PRESENT:  Councillors Luke Sorba (Chair), Caroline Kalu (Vice-Chair), Octavia Holland, 
Coral Howard, Liz Johnston-Franklin, Hilary Moore, Jacq Paschoud, John Paschoud, 
Gail Exon (Church Representative) and Monsignor N Rothon (Church Representative)  
 
APOLOGIES: Councillors Colin Elliott 
 
ALSO PRESENT: Sara Williams (Executive Director, Children and Young People), Emma 
Aye-Kumi (Scrutiny Manager), Councillor Chris Barnham (Cabinet Member for School 
Performance and Children's Services), Ruth Griffiths (Service Manager for Access Inclusion 
and Participation), Angela Scattergood (Director of Education Services), Claudia Smith 
(Interim Head of Integrated Services for SEND), Sue Stocks (Parent Participation Officer - 
Lewisham Parent and Carer’s Forum), Nilan Salih (Parent Representative – Lewisham 
Parent and Carer’s Forum), Lucie Heyes (Director of Children’s Social Care) 
 

 
1. Minutes 

 
1.1 The Chair opened the meeting and noted apologies from Cllr Colin Elliott. 

 
1.2 The order of business was changed to take the SEND strategy ahead of the Children’s 

Social Care budget report. 
 

1.3 The following points were made regarding the minutes of the last meeting: 
 

1. One Member felt that providing information on where to access mental health 
support should be covered in the PHSE curriculum 

2. The Chair suggested that comments regarding the curriculum should be saved 
until the next meeting when the Education Strategy would be discussed 

3. Two amendments to the minutes were AGREED as follows: 
 

Item 6 - BAME achievement 
 
6.1.4. “The London Borough of Hackney had undertaken a borough-wide 
review of the attainment of Black boys, and Lewisham Learning Inclusive 
Curriculum Conference heard from one Hackney school that had reviewed its 
curriculum to make it more culturally relevant and inclusive” 
 
and 
 

Item 8 – Early Help Review 
 
1. “A member of the Committee commented on the cuts of £196,000 to the 
health visiting service listed in the report. The Committee had commented 

Page 5

Agenda Item 1



 

 
 
 

2 

strongly last year around this cut and so was surprised that further 
discussions about the cut had not happened”. 
 

4. A briefing session would be arranged to enable Committee members to 
comment on proposals regarding the Children’s Centres contract. 

5. An report on the Early Help Review be scheduled for January 2020. 
6. The Chair would request that the Children’s Centre contract be added to the 

agenda for Overview and Scrutiny Business Panel. 
 
 
 

2. Declarations of interest 
 

2.1 It was RESOLVED that the following be noted in respect of Item 5 – SEND Strategy: 
 
2.2 Councillor Jacq Paschoud declared that she is a Member of the Brent Knoll and 

Watergate Trust, and a Trust Governor of Watergate School. 
 
2.3 Council John Paschoud declared the interests of his wife, Councillor Jacq Paschoud 

(above). He also declared that he would be a Governor of Parkwood Hall Cooperative 
Academy, effective from 17 October 2019. 

 
Gail Exon, Diocesan Representative, declared that she sits on the Southwark 
Diocesan Board of Education Academy Trust. 
 

3. Responses to Referrals to Mayor and Cabinet 
 

3.1 Responses were received from Mayor and Cabinet regarding 
 

1. The in-depth review of exclusions from school 
2. The Early Help savings proposals. 

 
3.2 The Chair had attended the Mayor and Cabinet meeting at which the responses had 

been discussed. He reported that in respect of the exclusions review, the report had 
been positively received and the recommendations largely embraced.  
 

3.3 In response to questions from the Committee it was noted that: 
1. Unconscious bias and equalities training (recommendation 19) was already 

being rolled out and schools were being encouraged to engage with it.  
2. Some schools had commissioned whole school training on the back of a pilot 

scheme that Lewisham Learning had run last year.  
3. Training was being funded through a range of sources including Lewisham 

Learning, Early Years providers, teacher training providers, individual schools. 
4. In support of recommendation 2 – increasing BAME representation on panels 

and school governing bodies, school governors had been requested to 
complete an electronic ethnic monitoring form but the return rate had been low. 
Some Members, who were also school governors, expressed concern that the 
form may not have reached the intended targets, as they had not seen it. The 
Director for Education Services agreed to investigate.  

Page 6



 

 
 
 

3 

5. The timescale for the next recruitment round of Independent Review Panel 
members was not known. The Service Manager for Access, Inclusion and 
Participation would follow up with the relevant team. 

6. In respect of recommendation 8 – improvement or replacement of Abbey 
Manor’s premises, the committee’s view was that fit-for-purpose 
accommodation should be a priority. The PRU had delivered improving results 
and attendance and needed accommodation that could help rather than hinder 
its offer. 

7. Improved premises could also support a reduction in the use of expensive 
private provision. Place planning needed to be looked at alongside options for 
premises. 

 
3.4 It was RESOLVED that: 

 
1. the response from the Mayor and Cabinet regarding the Early Help savings 

proposal be received;  
2. the response from the Mayor and Cabinet regarding the recommendations from 

the Exclusions Review be received; 
3. the Director of Education Services will investigate why some governors had not 

received ethnic monitoring forms to complete; and 
4. the Service Manager for Access, Inclusion and Participation will liaise 

Governance Support officers regarding the recruitment of Independent Review 
Panellists. 

 
4. Children's Social Care budget including staffing, fostering, sufficiency strategy 

 
4.1 Lucie Heyes, Director of Children’s Social Care, introduced the item and highlighted 

the links between the placements, salaries and S17 Family Support budgets, for 
example a reduction in placements may result in increased pressure on Family 
Support. 
 

4.2 Questions were invited from the panel and the following was noted: 
1. Foster carers need convincing that Lewisham is as good an employer as 

independent fostering agencies (IFAs). Many subscribe to the myth that IFAs 
are better to work for, despite the fact that Lewisham pays competitively. 

2. Lewisham would have to do a lot of marketing to encourage foster carers to 
move in-house, and a fee would be payable to the IFA if existing foster carers 
were to make the switch.  

3. The service has difficulty attracting foster carers for older children. Often, the 
reasons for older children being taken into care include violence and gang 
involvement, which requires foster carers with specific skills and experience. 

4. The recent inspection judgement outcome had been in line with the service’s 
self-assessment, and confirmed that no radical change of direction was needed. 
The department was 1 year into a 3 year plan.  

5. The 3 year improvement plan would be looked at in more detail at a future 
meeting. 

6. Some 80% of Lewisham’s case-holding social workers are permanent members 
of staff, which is considered good for London.  

7. Plans were in motion to convert some senior social workers to a more senior 
role, which would come with a pay uplift and would be good for career planning. 
This was easier to do than having to rescale existing posts. 

Page 7



 

 
 
 

4 

8. This conversion was expected to cost £120,000 per annum for 20 social 
workers each receiving an additional c. £6,000 per annum. 

9. Creating career progression opportunities was considered key to attracting 
good staff as people tend to move for promotion, not to do like for like. The 
progression would be social worker  senior social worker  advanced 
practitioner, and the intention was to put this in place by March 2020.  

10. The service was also looking at pay benchmarking, affordability and caseload 
workforce supervision, as well as salary. 

11. Some 71% of Lewisham’s children looked after population was aged between 
10-18, and this included older children coming into care as well as those who 
have been in care for some time, and may not need to be in care anymore. 
Stable placements for older children in long term care do get reviewed but 
family circumstances tend not to be looked it. The service needed to get better 
at doing this as in some cases it may be safe for the child to return to their 
family. This would need sensitive and careful long-term management.  

12. Additional resource was needed to deliver the improvement plan and 
discussions were taking place through the finance board. Members asked that 
detail be provided to a future meeting on what the cost over 3 years would be to 
make the improvements necessary for the service to receive a ‘Good’ rating. 

13. The Cabinet Member for School Performance and Children’s Social Care 
reminded the committee that just 18 months ago, the service had a £12.5m 
overspend. The budget had since been stabilised and the council was 
committed to reducing the amount of spending on placements. Ofsted had 
noted the progress and the improvements now needed to pick up the pace. He 
also highlighted that around 20% of the council’s general fund was spent on 
500 children looked after, care leavers and the associated support and 
preventative work.  

14. The Children’s Social Care casework recording system had been delivered on 
time and to scope, however the system had experienced some instability. A fix 
had been implemented but it was too early to tell whether this would be 
sufficient to improve system stability. 

15. IT support was not available out of hours to support the Emergency Duty Team.  
16. Pressure on the salary budget was expected to increase next year, and to be 

covered by additional funds being set aside under the Spending Review.  
 

4.3 It was RESOLVED that: 
1. the report be noted; 
2. more information be provided at a future meeting on the cost implications of 

delivering the Children’s Social Care Improvement Plan. 
  

 
5. SEND Strategy 

 
5.1 Claudia Smith –Head of Integrated Services for Special Educational Needs and 

Disability (Interim), Sue Stocks – Parent Participation Officer, Lewisham Parent and 
Carer Forum and Nilan Salih – Parent Representative, Lewisham Parent and Carer 
Forum introduced the report and invited comments and questions from the committee.  
 

5.2 It was noted: 

Page 8



 

 
 
 

5 

1. That there had been a problem with the report formatting that meant that words 
had been ‘chopped off’ making it difficult to read. The Scrutiny Manager would 
circulate a legible copy by email following the meeting. 

2. Reference to supporting those with “dual diagnosis” should be broadened to 
“dual and multiple diagnosis”. 

3. Lewisham Autism Support was being funded to provide early support. This 
support should be extended to cover all SEND, not just ASD. 

4. The increase in EHCPs was in line with other local authorities and was 
attributable in part to the 2014 reforms that extended the age range to include 
those age 19-25.  

5. There had been a sizeable increase in under 5s with EHCPs, which followed 
the national trend. 

6. Where a child needed SEND support, some schools were easier to engage with 
than others. The SEND Advisory Services had been working directly with 
schools with pupils receiving SEND Support but without an EHCP. Feedback 
had been positive but this was work in progress. Data was being analysed to 
identify where additional support to schools was needed. 

7. It was not necessary to apply for an EHCP through the school, but it was helpful 
to have the school on side.  

8. The Parent/Carer Forum can play a role in supporting relationships between 
parents/carers and schools.  

9. The SEND Advisory Service keeps a list of schools that it is concerned about.  
10. Councillor Holland requested further information, to be provided outside the 

meeting, on the SALT offer to Children’s Centres 
11. Extending SEND provision and resource bases in mainstream and special 

schools, and promote the Lewisham SEND offer and success of Lewisham 
schools was part of the mitigation plan to reduce the overspend. 

12. Lewisham ASD figures appear high when compared to other boroughs. This 
was thought to be due to differences in classification. 

13. The SEND Advisory Services is working with schools to prevent exclusions, 
playing a key role in improving attendance and attainment of children receiving 
SEN Support. 

14. Improved efficiency and earlier intervention were key to achieving 
improvements within the resource envelope. 

15. Members requested that monitoring and evaluation statistics relating to 
implementation of the strategy be shared with the Committee.     

16. An email from Kevin Mantle, Parent Governor Representative for Special 
Schools, was tabled. 

17. Members, referring to proposals to restructure the current scrutiny 
arrangements, stressed the need for specialist scrutiny of the SEND Strategy, 
and their support for the CYP Select Committee to remain a standing scrutiny 
function. 

18. Officers had completed a sufficiency strategy to identify gaps in provision by 
looking at where children were going out of borough because of needs that 
could not be met in the borough. 

 
5.3 It was RESOLVED that  

1. the report be noted;  
2. Monitoring and evaluation statistics relating to implementation of the strategy 

would be shared with the Committee; and  

Page 9



 

 
 
 

6 

3. an update on the SALT offer to Children’s Centres be provided to Councillor 
Holland after the meeting. 

 
 

6. Select Committee work programme 
 

6.1 The Chair noted his disappointment that the provisional secondary results were not 
available in time for the meeting. Officers explained that this was outside their control 
as the results were due to be released nationally the following day.   
 

6.2 Officers were asked why the Lewisham Safeguarding Children Board annual review 
for 2018-19, which was due to have been considered before the summer recess, had 
yet to be presented to the committee. Officers gave assurances that the report was 
ready and would be circulated imminently. 
 

6.3 The time being 9:30pm, it was MOVED, SECONDED and RESOLVED that Standing 
Orders be suspended for 10 minutes to allow for the completion of Committee 
business. 
 

6.4 After a brief discussion, it was noted that: 
1. If the provisional results revealed anything of note, a briefing would be prepared 

and circulated by email. 
2. A population needs assessment in respect of the Early Help Review had yet to 

be provided. 
3. Members requested a briefing on the Children’s Centres contract extension and 

a chance to discuss the Youth Centre Contract.  
4. The Youth Centre Contract was due to be let in either December or January. 
5. One Member expressed frustration at the designation of reports as “Information 

Items”, meaning it would not be discussed. The Chair clarified that Members 
were free to discuss any item on the agenda but that no officer would be 
present for Information Items.  

 
6.5 The work programme was considered and the following was agreed: 

1. Move “Provisional school results” to December 
2. Move “Children’s Social Care Improvement Plan” to January 
3. Add “Early Help Review” to January 
4. Move “Exclusions from school – in-depth review follow up” to March. 

 
6.6 It was RESOLVED that the following changes be made to the work programme: 

5. Move “Provisional school results” to December 
6. Move “Children’s Social Care Improvement Plan” to January 
7. Add “Early Help Review” to January 
8. Move “Exclusions from school – in-depth review follow up” to March. 

 
 

7. Referrals to Mayor and Cabinet 
 
None. 
 
 
The meeting ended at 9.35 pm 

Page 10



 

 
 
 

7 

 
 
Chair:  
 ---------------------------------------------------- 
 
Date: 
 ---------------------------------------------------- 

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



Committee Children and Young People Select Committee Item No. 2 

Title Declarations of Interest 

Contributors Chief Executive  

Class Part 1 Date 5 December 2019 

 
Declaration of interests 
 
Members are asked to declare any personal interest they have in any item on the agenda. 
 
1 Personal interests 
 

There are three types of personal interest referred to in the Council’s Member Code 
of Conduct :-  

 
(1)  Disclosable pecuniary interests 
(2)  Other registerable interests 
(3)  Non-registerable interests 

 
2 Disclosable pecuniary interests are defined by regulation as:- 
 
(a) Employment, trade, profession or vocation of a relevant person* for profit or gain 
 
(b) Sponsorship –payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than by the 

Council) within the 12 months prior to giving notice for inclusion in the register in 
respect of expenses incurred by you in carrying out duties as a member or towards 
your election expenses (including payment or financial benefit  from a Trade Union). 

 
(c)  Undischarged contracts between a relevant person* (or a firm in which they are a 

partner or a body corporate in which they are a director, or in the securities of which 
they have a beneficial interest) and the Council for goods, services or works. 

 
(d)  Beneficial interests in land in the borough. 
 
(e)  Licence to occupy land in the borough for one month or more. 
 
(f)   Corporate tenancies – any tenancy, where to the member’s knowledge, the Council 

is landlord and the tenant is a firm in which the relevant person* is a partner, a body 
corporate in which they are a director, or in the securities of which they have a 
beneficial interest.   

 
(g)   Beneficial interest in securities of a body where:- 
 

(a)  that body to the member’s knowledge has a place of business or land in the 
borough; and  

 
 
 
 (b)  either 

Page 13

Agenda Item 2



(i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or 1/100 of the 
total issued share capital of that body; or 

 
(ii) if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total 
nominal value of the shares of any one class in which the relevant person* 
has a beneficial interest exceeds 1/100 of the total issued share capital of 
that class. 

 
*A relevant person is the member, their spouse or civil partner, or a person with 
whom they live as spouse or civil partner.  

 
(3)  Other registerable interests 

 
The Lewisham Member Code of Conduct requires members also to register the 
following interests:- 

 
(a) Membership or position of control or management in a body to which you 

were appointed or nominated by the Council 
 

(b) Any body exercising functions of a public nature or directed to charitable 
purposes , or whose principal purposes include the influence of public 
opinion or policy, including any political party 

 
(c) Any person from whom you have received a gift or hospitality with an 

estimated value of at least £25 
 
(4) Non registerable interests 

 
Occasions may arise when a matter under consideration would or would be likely to 
affect the wellbeing of a member, their family, friend or close associate more than it 
would affect the wellbeing of those in the local area generally, but which is not 
required to be registered in the Register of Members’ Interests  (for example a 
matter concerning the closure of a school at which a Member’s child attends).  

 
 
(5)  Declaration and Impact of interest on member’s participation 

 
 (a)  Where a member has any registerable interest in a matter and they are 

present at a meeting at which that matter is to be discussed, they must 
declare the nature of the interest at the earliest opportunity  and in any event 
before the matter is considered.  The declaration will be recorded in the 
minutes of the meeting. If the matter is a disclosable pecuniary interest the 
member must take not part in consideration of the matter and withdraw from 
the room before it is considered.  They must not seek improperly to influence 
the decision in any way. Failure to declare such an interest which has not 
already been entered in the Register of Members’ Interests, or 
participation where such an interest exists, is liable to prosecution and 
on conviction carries a fine of up to £5000  
 

 (b)  Where a member has a registerable interest which falls short of a disclosable 
pecuniary interest they must still declare the nature of the interest to the 
meeting at the earliest opportunity and in any event before the matter is 

Page 14



considered, but they may stay in the room, participate in consideration of the 
matter and vote on it unless paragraph (c) below applies. 
 

(c) Where a member has a registerable interest which falls short of a disclosable 
pecuniary interest, the member must consider whether a reasonable member 
of the public in possession of the facts would think that their interest is so 
significant that it would be likely to impair the member’s judgement of the 
public interest.  If so, the member must withdraw  and take no part in 
consideration of the matter nor seek to influence the outcome improperly. 

 
 (d)  If a non-registerable interest arises which affects the wellbeing of a member, 

their, family, friend or close associate more than it would affect those in the 
local area generally, then the provisions relating to the declarations of 
interest and withdrawal apply as if it were a registerable interest.   

 
(e) Decisions relating to declarations of interests are for the member’s personal 

judgement, though in cases of doubt they may wish to seek the advice of the 
Monitoring Officer. 

 
(6)   Sensitive information  

 
There are special provisions relating to sensitive interests.  These are interests the 
disclosure of which would be likely to expose the member to risk of violence or 
intimidation where the Monitoring Officer has agreed that such interest need not be 
registered.  Members with such an interest are referred to the Code and advised to 
seek advice from the Monitoring Officer in advance. 

  
(7) Exempt categories 
 

There are exemptions to these provisions allowing members to participate in 
decisions notwithstanding interests that would otherwise prevent them doing so.  
These include:- 

 
(a) Housing – holding a tenancy or lease with the Council unless the matter 

relates to your particular tenancy or lease; (subject to arrears exception) 
(b)  School meals, school transport and travelling expenses; if you are a parent 

or guardian of a child in full time education, or a school governor unless the 
matter relates particularly to the school your child attends or of which you are 
a governor;  

(c)   Statutory sick pay; if you are in receipt 
(d)  Allowances, payment or indemnity for members  
(e)  Ceremonial honours for members 
(f)   Setting Council Tax or precept (subject to arrears exception) 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



 1 

 

 
1. Purpose 

1.1 To report to members the response given at the Health and Wellbeing 
Board to recommendations made at the joint meeting of the Children 
and Young People Select Committee and Healthier Communities 
Select Committee, held on 17 July 2019 regarding BAME health 
inequalities. 
 
 

2. Recommendations 

2.1 The Committee is recommended to receive the Board’s response to 
their referral. 
 
 

3. Background 

3.1 The Health and Wellbeing Board (HWB) considered the joint referral at 
its meeting on 14 November 2019. The Committees referred their 
views to the Health and Wellbeing Board in the following terms: 

 
a) That HWB investigates the lack of robustness and possible 

inaccuracies with CAMHS ethnicity data and provides details of how 
and when this deficiency will be addressed and remedied; 

 
b) That HWB considers a dedicated programme, with additional 

funding and other resources, based within community and third 
sector organisations that already have expertise and the trust of 
BAMER communities, on whose cooperation and public 
consultation and co-production will rely. 

 
 

4. Response by the Health and Wellbeing Board  

4.1 At the same meeting of the Health and Wellbeing Board on 14 
November 2019, the Board received a formal response from the 
Director of Public Health to the joint referral. 

Children and Young People Select Committee 
  

Title 
  

Response from the Health and Wellbeing Board to the joint 
referral by the Children and Young People Select 
Committee and Healthier Communities Select Committee 

Key Decision 
  

No Item No. 3 

Ward 
  

All 

Contributors 
  

Director of Public Health 
 

Class 
  

Part 1 Date: 5 December 2019 

Page 17

Agenda Item 3



 2 

4.2 The Board agreed that this report should comprise their formal 
response to the joint referral. As such it is attached as Appendix A. 

 
Originator 

If you have any queries on this report, please contact Stewart Weaver-
Snellgrove, Principal Officer, 020 8314 9308.    

  

Page 18



 3 

Appendix A: 

 
 
1. Purpose 

 
To respond to a referral made by a joint meeting of the Children and 
Young People Select Committee and Healthier Communities Select 
Committee on 17 July 2019. At this meeting it was resolved that a referral 
be made to the Health and Wellbeing Board (HWB) recommending: 
 
1) That HWB investigates the lack of robustness and possible 

inaccuracies with CAMHS ethnicity data and provides details of how 
and when this deficiency will be addressed and remedied; 

2) That HWB considers a dedicated programme, with additional funding 
and other resources, based within community and third sector 
partner organisations that already have expertise and the trust of 
BAMER communities, on whose cooperation public consultation and 
co-production will rely. 

 
 
2. Recommendation/s 
 

Members of the Health and Wellbeing Board are recommended to: 
 
2.1 Note the response to the referral outlined below.  
 
 
3. Strategic Context 
 
3.1  The Health and Social Care Act 2012 required the creation of statutory 

Health and Wellbeing Boards in every upper tier local authority. By 
assembling key leaders from the local health and care system, the 
principle purpose of the Health and Wellbeing Boards is to improve 
health and wellbeing and reduce health inequalities for local residents.  

 
3.2  The activity of the Health and Wellbeing Board (HWB) is focussed on 

delivering the strategic vision for Lewisham as established in 
Lewisham’s Health and Wellbeing Strategy.  

 

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD 

 

Report Title 
 

Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic (BAME) Health Inequalities – 
Response to referral made by  Children and Young People Select 
Committee and Healthier Communities Select Committee 

Contributors 
 

Director of Public Health, London Borough 
of Lewisham  

Item No. 3b 

Class 
 

Part 1 Date:  14th November 
2019 

Strategic 
Context 

See body of the report 

Page 19



 4 

3.3  The work of the Board directly contributes to the Council’s new 
Corporate Strategy. Specifically Priority 5 – Delivering and Defending: 
Health, Social Care and Support – Ensuring everyone receives the 
health, mental health, social care and support services they need. 

 
 
4. Background 
 
4.1    In July 2018 the HWB agreed that the main area of focus for the Board 

should be tackling health inequalities, with an initial focus on health 
inequalities for BAME communities in Lewisham.  

 
4.2  Following analysis undertaken by a sub group of the Board, three priority 

areas were identified through which the Board could play a significant 
role in addressing the widest gaps in BAME health inequalities. The 
areas identified were: mental health; obesity; and cancer.  

 
4.3  The work of the Board has focused on the area of mental health in this 

first year and a strategic approach has been considered across both 
Children and Young People (CYP) and Adults. 

 
4.4  The approaches and commissioning for these two population groups are 

carried out by separate teams across the council and CCG. However, 
there is a clear understanding that reducing mental health inequalities 
amongst BAME communities in Lewisham requires an integrated 
approach to maximise resources and improve mental health and 
wellbeing outcomes. 

 
 
5. CAMHS ethnicity data 
 
5.1 Extensive work has been undertaken over the last three months by the 

Lewisham CAMHS service alongside SLaM data analysts to improve the 
accuracy and comprehensiveness of ethnicity data for Lewisham 
CAMHS.   

 
5.2 Data below in Table 1, shows a much improved position for 2019/20 

where the number of ‘unknowns’ has been reduced to 9%, meaning that 
the data is far more meaningful and accurate.  

 
5.3  This more accurate and comprehensive data shows that although 

access for BAMER children and young people is better than we originally 
thought, there is still an issue of disproportion, when measured against 
Lewisham’s demographics.  There is more work to be done to 
understand the level of disproportionality particularly for specific ethnic 
groups and gender. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 20



 5 

Table 1. Ethnicity Data for Community CAMHS in Lewisham 

 

 
 Asian Black 

Mixed 
Race 

Other 
ethnic 
group 

White Unknown 

0-19 year olds in Lewisham 
(Census 2011) 

7.1% 35.7% 15.8% 4.8% 36.6% 0% 

Lewisham CAMHS 
Community Services (Sept 
2016) (n=1,138) 

2.8% 27.9% 10.9% 2.8% 43.4% 12.1% 

Lewisham CAMHS 
Community services (Sept 
17) (n=1,307) 

2.4% 29.6% 14.4% 2.9% 49.2% 1.5% 

Lewisham CAMHS 
Community services (Sept 
18) (n=1,597) 

3% 23% 11% 2% 48% 13% 

Lewisham CAMHS 
Community services (Sept 
19) (n=1,733) 

2% 23.5% 12% 2% 51.5% 9% 

 
5.4 Data cleansing has identified that in September approximately 9% of 

children and young people against a CAMHS caseload of 1,733 did not 
provide their ethnicity details.  Of the same CAMHS caseload 39.5% of 
children and young people described themselves as of Black, Asian, 
Minority, Ethic Refugee (BAMER) at the time of assessment, with 23.5% 
describing themselves as having a Black background, thus 
demonstrating an improved position of access than was previously 
stated.   

 
5.5  Alongside this work to improve the Lewisham CAMHS data, 

commissioners for children and young people have also undertaken 
analysis of reach and ethnicity data across the wider commissioned 
mental health and emotional wellbeing pathway for children and young 
people.  Early findings have been positive, with BAMER access being 
around 55-60% for most non-statutory/community based services. 
Evidence of this can be seen in Table 2 below.   

 
5.6 SLaM’s Children Wellbeing Practitioner (CWP) Programme has been 

established to develop the CYP mental health workforce by allowing 
trainee mental health practitioners, with robust clinical supervision, to 
deliver evidence – based interventions to children and families with mild 
to moderate needs. This proven, community and evidence based 
approach has doubled in size over the past year.  Whilst it is still a small 
resource, with approximately four WTE practitioners and two trainees, 
Table 2 shows that it has achieved 57% BAMER access against a total 
figure of 63.4% of 0-19 year olds that identified as BAMER in the Census 
2011.  

 

Page 21



 6 

5.7 In 2019, Lewisham was successful in securing funding to implement two 
Trailblazer Mental Health Support Teams (MHST), as set out in the 
Transforming Children and Young People’s Mental Health: A Green 
Paper.  Much like Children Wellbeing Practitioners, Education Wellbeing 
Practitioners (EWP) will allow a new cohort of trainees to join the local 
workforce in delivering evidence based interventions in community 
settings.  This proven, community and evidence based approach is 
hoped to mirror CWP’s success in delivering proportionate BAMER 
access.  

 
5.8  Appendix 1 provides benchmarking data which has been taken from the 

recently developed ‘four borough’ SLaM performance dashboard. This 
shows that many more Black CYP are accessing CAMHS services in 
Lambeth.   Lewisham’s figures are similar to Southwark’s, if the black 
and mixed groups are combined.    
 
Table 2. Ethnicity breakdown for non-statutory/community based CYP mental 
health and wellbeing services 

 

Service Name Service description Caseload/ 
Reach 18/19 

CYP recorded 
as BAMER  

Young Person’s 
Health and 
Wellbeing Service  

Face to Face Counselling 
(Compass)  

595 54% 

Online counselling 
(Kooth) 

710 57% 

Parenting Support 
for behaviour/ 
conduct 

Evidence based 
parenting programme 
(EYA) 

98 88% 

CAMHS Virtual 
School for Looked 
After Children 

Early intervention 
provision for children 
looked after (SLaM) 

103 58% 

Children Wellbeing 
Practitioner 
Programme 

Evidence based provision 
to support CYP with 
anxiety, low mood 
(SLaM) 

116 57% 

Mindful Mums 
Parenting 
Programme  

Postnatal Wellbeing 
Parenting Programme for 
mothers of babies aged 
0-2 (Bromley, Lewisham 
and Greenwich Mind) 

141 38% 

 
5.9  Positive progress has been made in improving the availability and quality 

of data on the ethnic origin of children and young people accessing 
statutory and non-statutory mental health and emotional wellbeing 
services.  This data shows a mixed picture with room for improvement, 
particularly for statutory services.   Action being taken is therefore as 
follows: 

 
• Given the ethnic composition of the Lewisham CYP population, 

BAMER access to mental health services has been identified as 
one of nine key priorities within the refreshed CAMHS 

Page 22



 7 

Transformation Plan 2019.  Baseline information will be reported 
with clear actions attached, which will be monitored and reviewed 
over the course of the coming year.  

 
• As part of wider performance management systems, equality of 

access to services will remain a priority for SLaM, ongoing work 
will be undertaken to ensure that the ethnicity of services users is 
recorded and any anomalies are addressed.   

 
• Additional resource, such as the Mental Health in Schools 

Trailblazer will be targeted to meet the identified needs of our 
community, by focusing on BAMER access as a key priority. 

 
• We will build on the well-established BAMER participation 

networks, such as Alchemy, that we already have in place. 
Alongside public health, we will work with the London Borough of 
Lambeth to learn from best practice in this area.  

 
• A range of training programmes will continue to be offered to 

professionals across CAMHS and non-NHS providers such as 
unconscious bias and cultural awareness, with an expectation 
that this will be taken up by all relevant practitioners.   

 

 We will continue to build on successes achieved through co-
location of services and integration of statutory mental health 
provision with local non-NHS providers, but currently resourcing 
is a real constraint. 
 

 We will actively seek to increase resources available for this area 
of work.  The CCG are recognising the historical financial position 
and there are opportunities for improvement under the NHS 
Investment Plan. 
   

 Ongoing work will continue with SLaM and other agencies, 
building on the successes in community based services and 
addressing the continued improvement agenda for SLaM 
CAMHS.  Where possible we will work alongside adult’s services, 
when supporting the commitment to a ‘provider alliance’ across 
children’s services.  

 
 
6. BAME mental health inequalities programme of work 
 
6.1 The Provider Alliance Leadership group agreed to allocate the non-

committed funding in the 19/20 programme budget to community 
engagement and involvement. A community engagement and 
involvement framework has been drafted and was presented to the 
Provider Alliance Leadership Group on the 28th October.  The draft 
framework will be tested with community representatives and shaped 
into  a community and engagement strategy and subsequent action 

Page 23



 8 

plan for the Provider Alliance. The community engagement budget will 
be used to support the delivery of the action plan.  

 
6.2 The BAME network have a representative on the Leadership Group, 

however concerns have been expressed that only having one 
representative of the network is not sufficient. The Alliance will work with 
representatives of the BAME network to consider the current 
arrangements what may be the most effective method of engaging 
BAME community members and/or representatives in the co-design and 
co-production within the Provider Alliance development process.  

 
6.3 An initial service user involvement meeting has taken place to support 

the identification of service users that are engaged in local service, that 
are willing to participate in the co-design and co-production of local care 
pathways that will be delivered by the Provider Alliance. The Service 
User Involvement forum and network will be co-ordinated by the 
Lewisham Community Wellbeing service.  

 
6.4  The Provider Alliance Leadership group have broadly accepted the draft 
 Joint Strategic Needs Assessment recommendations in principle and 
 have agreed to incorporate the agreed recommendations into their 
 planning documents.   
 
6.5 The South London and Maudsley Mental Health Trust have established 

a Lewisham Independent Advisory Group to directly engage BAME 
community representatives in dialogue that will support the improvement 
of access, experience and outcomes for BAME service users. The 
Provider Alliance Leadership Group and Independent Advisory Group 
will establish a formal interface to ensure that there is a shared set of 
values, learning and priorities in our approach to engagement and quality 
improvement.  

 
 
7. BAME Health Inequalities Action Plan 
 
7.1  At the last meeting of the Health and Wellbeing Board and subsequent 

joint Healthier/CYP Select meeting, the first iteration of an overarching 
BAME Health Inequalities action plan covering the priority area of mental 
health was presented. This action plan served to collate actions to 
address BAME health inequalities in mental health across children and 
young people and adults. An update on the actions presented in this 
initial plan, incorporating the work outlined above, can be seen in 
Appendix 2.  

 
7.2  Work has since been undertaken by Council officers to extend this action 

plan to cover all of the three priority areas of BAME health inequality 
identified by the Board, namely mental health, cancer and obesity. 
Council officers have also been working to ensure that the action plan is 
co-produced with members of the Lewisham BME network.  

 

Page 24



 9 

7.3  To facilitate the final agreement of a co-produced overarching action 
plan with the Lewisham BME network, it is proposed that a BAME health 
inequalities working group covering mental health, cancer and obesity 
consisting of Council officers responsible for the respective priority areas 
and members of the Lewisham BME network, continue to oversee the 
development of the plan. This working group will also monitor progress 
using an agreed indicator framework for the action plan going forward. It 
is proposed that this working group be co-ordinated by Public Health and 
present update reports to each meeting of the Health and Wellbeing 
Board. 

 
 
8.  Financial implications 

 
8.1 The various areas of work described within the report that is the 

responsibility of the Council will be met from existing revenue budgets in 
the Community Services and Children and Young People Directorates.  

 
 
9. Legal implications 
 
9.1 Members of the Board are reminded of their responsibilities to carry out 

statutory functions of the Health and Wellbeing Board under the Health 
and Social Care Act 2012. Activities of the Board include, but may not 
be limited to the following: 

 

 To encourage persons who arrange for the provision of any health or 
social services in the area to work in an integrated manner, for the 
purpose of advancing the health and wellbeing of the area. 

 To provide such advice, assistance or other support as its thinks 
appropriate for the purpose of encouraging the making of arrangements 
under Section 75 NHS Act 2006 in connection with the provision of such 
services. 

 To encourage persons who arrange for the provision of health related 
services in its area to work closely with the Health and Wellbeing Board. 

 To prepare Joint Strategic Needs Assessments (as set out in Section 
116 Local Government Public Involvement in Health Act 2007). 

 To give opinion to the Council on whether the Council is discharging its 
duty to have regard to any JSNA and any joint Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy prepared in the exercise of its functions. 

 To exercise any Council function which the Council delegates to the 
Health and Wellbeing Board, save that it may not exercise the Council’s 
functions under Section 244 NHS Act 2006. 

 
 
10. Crime and Disorder Implications 

 
10.1 There are no Crime and Disorder Implications from this report. 

 
 
 

Page 25



 10 

11. Equalities Implications 
 

11.1 The Equality Act 2010 (the Act) introduced a new public sector equality 
duty (the equality duty or the duty). It covers the following nine protected 
characteristics: age, disability, gender reassignment, marriage and civil 
partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex, and 
sexual orientation.  

 
11.2  In summary, the Council must, in the exercise of its functions, have due 

regard to the need to:  
 

 Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and 
other conduct prohibited by the Act.  

 Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected 
characteristic and those who do not.  

 Foster good relations between people who share a protected 
characteristic and those who do not.  

 

11.3  The duty continues to be a “have regard duty”, and the weight to be 
attached to it is a matter for the Mayor, bearing in mind the issues of 
relevance and proportionality. It is not an absolute requirement to 
eliminate unlawful discrimination, advance equality of opportunity or 
foster good relations.  

 
11.4  The Equality and Human Rights Commission has recently issued 

Technical Guidance on the Public Sector Equality Duty and statutory 
guidance entitled “Equality Act 2010 Services, Public Functions & 
Associations Statutory Code of Practice”. The Council must have 
regard to the statutory code in so far as it relates to the duty and 
attention is drawn to Chapter 11 which deals particularly with the 
equality duty. The Technical Guidance also covers what public 
authorities should do to meet the duty. This includes steps that are 
legally required, as well as recommended actions. The guidance does 
not have statutory force but nonetheless regard should be had to it, as 
failure to do so without compelling reason would be of evidential value. 
The statutory code and the technical guidance can be found at: 
http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/legal-and-
policy/equalityact/equality-act-codes-of-practice-and-technical-
guidance/  

 
11.5   The Equality and Human Rights Commission (EHRC) has previously 

issued five guides for public authorities in England giving advice on the 
equality duty:  

 
1. The essential guide to the public sector equality duty  
2. Meeting the equality duty in policy and decision-making  
3. Engagement and the equality duty  
4. Equality objectives and the equality duty  
5. Equality information and the equality duty  

 

Page 26

http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/legal-and-policy/equalityact/equality-act-codes-of-practice-and-technical-guidance/
http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/legal-and-policy/equalityact/equality-act-codes-of-practice-and-technical-guidance/
http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/legal-and-policy/equalityact/equality-act-codes-of-practice-and-technical-guidance/


 11 

11.6  The essential guide provides an overview of the equality duty 
requirements including the general equality duty, the specific duties and 
who they apply to. It covers what public authorities should do to meet the 
duty, including steps that are legally required, as well as recommended 
actions. The other four documents provide more detailed guidance on 
key areas and advice on good practice. Further information and 
resources are available at: http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/advice-
and-guidance/publicsector-equality-duty/guidance-on-the-equality-duty/ 

 
 
12. Environmental Implications 

 
12.1 There are no environmental implications from this report. 
 
 

If you have any difficulty in opening the links above or those within the 
body of the report, please contact Stewart Snellgrove (Stewart.Weaver-
Snellgrove@lewisham.gov.uk; 020 8314 9308), who will assist. 

 
If there are any queries on this report please contact Catherine Mbema, 
Public Health, Lewisham Council, on 0208 314 4937, or by email at: 
Catherine.mbema@lewisham.gov.uk 

 
 
  

Page 27

mailto:Stewart.Weaver-Snellgrove@lewisham.gov.uk
mailto:Stewart.Weaver-Snellgrove@lewisham.gov.uk
mailto:Catherine.mbema@lewisham.gov.uk


 12 

Appendix 1: Ethnicity Data – SLaM, CAMHS services: Croydon, Lewisham, Lambeth and Southwark, June ‘19 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 28

https://app.powerbi.com/reports/645b4f6b-95f9-4943-bfea-ce20b5b80738/ReportSection52a41489cba69e2970b6?pbi_source=PowerPoint


 13 

Appendix 2 
 

Ref 
No.  

Action  Owner/Governance  Timescale Progress  RAG  

Children and Young People (CYP) 

1.  Establish mental health participation group 
with a focus on BAME children and young 
people 

LBL CYP 
commissioning team / 
CYP Mental Health 
and Emotional 
Wellbeing Board  

June 2019 Specific school work commenced In 
October 2019 

 

2.  Response to recommendations from member-
led review and NHS intensive support team 
review of mental health pathway for CYP in 
Lewisham  

LBL CYP 
commissioning team / 
CYP Mental Health 
and Emotional 
Wellbeing Board 

April 2019 – 
March 2021 

32 recommendations with short, medium 
and long term actions are being worked 
through 

 

Adults  

3.  Work to ensure that there is  community and 
service user participation in co-design of local 
service and care pathways  

Adults Mental Health 
Provider Alliance  

September 
2019  

An initial Service User involvement 
network meeting was held in July, further 
engagement work is needed with local 
service users groups to promote the 
network and increase participation – 
representatives from the network will be 
invited to join the co-design sessions for 
the Provider Alliance 

 

4.  Implementation of recommendations from the 
Adults Mental Health JSNA  

Adults Mental Health 
Provider Alliance  

August 2019  MH Provider Alliance has broadly 
accepted the recommendations but will 
need to establish an order of priority  

 

5.  Work to ensure that Lived Experience workers 
are ethnically representative of the Lewisham 
population  

Adults Mental Health 
Provider Alliance  

December 2019 
(Linked to 
external funding 
bids)  

NHSE Community Transformation bid was 
not successful – MH Provider Alliance to 
consider how this objective will be 
achieved within existing resources 

 

6.  To co-produce approaches to engagement 
and on-ongoing dialogue as component of the 
Alliance Engagement & Involvement 
strategy/plan 

Adults Mental Health 
Provider Alliance 

September 
2019  

A new Transformation Manager has been 
appointed to support the Provider Alliance 
Development process. 
 
A community engagement and 
involvement framework has since been 
drafted and was presented to the Provider 

 

P
age 29



 14 

Ref 
No.  

Action  Owner/Governance  Timescale Progress  RAG  

Alliance Leadership Group on the 28th 
October.   

CYP and Adults   

7.  To work with the Lewisham BAME Health 
Network to continue to develop this action 
plan for the next 3 years  

CYP Mental Health 
and Emotional 
Wellbeing 
board/Adults Mental 
Health Provider 
Alliance/Public Health  

October 2019  Council officers have received feedback 
from the Lewisham BME network on the 
first iteration of this action plan and will 
work with network members over the next 
2-3 months to refine and agree the next 
iteration of the plan, which will also cover 
the priority areas of cancer and obesity.  

 

8.  To develop a co-production infrastructure to 
engage Lewisham BAME communities in 
commissioning decisions that impact upon 
mental health and emotional wellbeing   

CYP Mental Health 
and Emotional 
Wellbeing 
board/Adults Mental 
Health Provider 
Alliance/Public Health  

October 2019  The BAMER Health network are now 
represented on the Adult Mental Health 
Provider Alliance Leadership Board, others 
methods (As outlined above) that enable 
co-production within the commissioning 
process will need to be identified and 
explored with the BAMER Health network 
and wider community 

 

9.  To develop a Lewisham approach to promote 
the interface between adult and CYP mental 
health services  

CYP Mental Health 
and Emotional 
Wellbeing 
board/Adults Mental 
Health Provider 
Alliance  

October 2019  Discussion between commissioners of 
adult and CYP mental health services has 
commenced to work on the interface 
between adults and children’s’ services. 

 

10.  To develop the Time to Change Hub to 
include a focus on reducing stigma in BAME 
communities in Lewisham  

Lewisham Public 
Health/Adults Mental 
Health 
Commissioning 
Team/Adults Mental 
Health Provider 
Alliance  

September 
2019  

The Hub has already been established but 
work to focus on reducing stigma in BAME 
communities is to be developed.  

 

 

 
  

 

P
age 30



1 
 
 

 
 
1 Summary 

 
1.1. This report is based on provisional key stage results for Lewisham schools in 2019 for 

Early Years, Year 1 phonics, Key Stage 2 and Key Stage 4 GCSEs with a brief headline 
report on A Level results. It also presents a summary outline of specific work underway 
to strengthen Lewisham’s secondary school improvement offer in 19/20 academic year 
to secure improved outcomes in 2020 and coming years. 
 

2 Recommendations 
 

2.1. The Committee is recommended to comment on and note the report, in particular the 
actions underway and planned. 
 

3 Policy Context 
 

3.1. Lewisham’s ambition for the education of its children and young people is reflected in 
the key commitment within the Mayor and Council’s Corporate Strategy for giving 
children and young people the best start in life- ‘that every child has access to an 
outstanding and inspiring education and is given the support they need to keep them 
safe, well and able to achieve their full potential’. 
 

3.2. Lewisham’s Children and Young People’s Plan 2019-2022 outlines the key priorities 
the Council is adopting in order to fulfil this commitment- that all children and young 
people in Lewisham enjoy their education, achieve and make progress with focus on 
increased access to high quality education in the borough and more young people 
attaining the qualifications they need at age 16 and 18 to be successful in life. 

 
4 Background 

 
4.1 In line with recommendations from Lewisham’s 2015/16 Education Commission, 

Lewisham Learning- the schools’ led partnership established by school leaders and 
the local authority has been co-ordinating school improvement in Lewisham since 
February 2018. 
 

4.2 Prior to this, Lewisham Secondary Challenge was established and in 2017 Lewisham 
Secondary Challenge, along with the ATLAS Teaching School, secured funding from 
the Department for Education’s (DfE) Strategic School Improvement Fund (SSIF) for 

 
Children and Young People Select Committee 

 

Report Title 
 

Report on headline provisional key stage outcomes for Lewisham schools, 
2019 

Key Decision 
 

No Item No. 4 

Ward 
 

All 

Contributors Director of Education 

Director of Lewisham Learning 

Class 
 

Part 1 Date: 5th December 2019 

Page 31

Agenda Item 4

https://lewisham.gov.uk/mayorandcouncil/corporate-strategy
https://lewisham.gov.uk/myservices/socialcare/children/cypp


2 
 
 

a school improvement project to run from January 2018 to April 2019. The brief of the 
challenge was extended to August 2019. The focus of the challenge has been on 
reducing the number of underperforming schools and improving outcomes at Key 
Stages 4 and 5. 
 

4.3 Lewisham secondary and primary school improvement is now funded partly through 
the Council contribution to the partnership and the schools’ de-delegated funding from 
the Dedicated Schools’ Grant, as agreed by Schools’ Forum. 
 

4.4 The Council has a commitment to making all Lewisham schools good or better as 
judged by Ofsted.  Improved ratings across the phases mean that in November 2019 
95% of primary, 71% of secondary, 100% of nursery and 100% of our special 
schools/Pupil Referral Unit) are good or outstanding. 
 

5 Key issues to note 
 

5.1. At Early Years and Key Stage 2, headline outcomes remain above national, although 
the gap is narrowing and there is some fluctuation in Lewisham’s outcomes. The focus 
for schools, supported by Lewisham Learning and the Local Authority (LA) is on 
embedding progression in the curriculum and targeting children known to be 
underachieving compared to their peers, particularly children of Black Caribbean 
heritage, those eligible for Pupil Premium and those who should be exceeding 
expected levels- work which continues in to secondary provision as part of the wider 
Lewisham Learning partnership work beyond that reported on here. 
 

5.2. At Key Stage 4, after promising improvements in 2018, we have seen a disappointing 
set of outcomes at GCSE, with too many young people not making the progress they 
should have made or achieving passes in all the core subjects of English, maths and 
science. This is despite the continuing hard work in schools and across the partnership 
which secured improvements last year. Although we need to look at trends over time, 
we are working with individual schools to understand the background to their 2019 
results- both where they dipped and where they saw improved progress and outcomes, 
to establish lessons to be learned. This report gives a brief outline of the work 
underway in schools, Lewisham Learning and the Local Authority to ensure that all 
schools get back on that trajectory of improving outcomes for children and young 
people, with an obvious focus on those sitting GCSEs in 2020. The Director of 
Lewisham Learning will report in greater detail on this work and its progress to this 
committee later in the academic year. 
 

5.3. Nationally, A-level results dropped at all grades in 2019, reflecting the move to A-levels 
all based on the final exam rather than coursework. In this context it should be noted 
as positive that A-level attainment is slightly up overall in Lewisham. 
 

6 Early Years Foundation Stage Profile (EYFSP) for Lewisham’s five year olds. 
 

6.1. This analysis is based on the Statistical First Release Early Years Foundation Stage 

Profile (EYFSP) results: 2018 to 2019 released by the (DfE) in October 2019. 

 

6.2. Children achieving a good level of development (GLD) are those children who, at the 

end of Reception are achieving at least the expected level within the following areas of 

learning: communication and language; physical development; personal, social and 

emotional development; literacy and mathematics. 

Page 32



3 
 
 

 
Table 1: Lewisham EYFSP performance, 2019 

 
Performance measure 

 
Lewisham 

 
Inner 

London 

 
London 

 
England 

 
% achieving a good level of 
development 

 
76.4 

 
73.3 

 
74.1 

 
71.8 

 
Table 2: Percentage achieving a good level of development, 2017-19 

% achieving a 
good level of 
development 

 
 

2016 

 

 
2017 

 

 
2018 

 
 

2019 

Lewisham 79 79 78 76 

England 69 71 72 72 

 
6.3. The percentage of pupils achieving a good level of development in Lewisham is 76.4 

in 2019, a decrease of 1.5 percentage points compared to 2018, but 4.6 percentage 
points above the national average (72%).  

 
7. Phonics screening outcomes for Lewisham’s year 1 children 

 
7.1. This analysis is based on the Statistical First Release Phonics screening check and 

key stage 1 assessments: England 2019, released by the DfE in September 2019. 

 

7.2. The Phonics Screening Check is designed to show how well children can use the 

phonics skills that they have learned up to the end of Year 1, and to identify children 

who need extra phonics help. Phonic decoding is using the sounds that letters and 

groups of letters make when spoken to learn to read. 

 
Table 3: Year 1 Phonics performance, 2019 

 
Performance measure 

 
Lewisham 

 
Inner 

London 

 
London 

 
England 

 
% of year 1 pupils meeting the 
required standard of phonic decoding 

 
81 

 
84 

 
84 

 
82 

 
 

Table 4: Percentage of year 1 pupils meeting the required standard of 
phonic decoding, 2016-19 

% meeting the 
required standard 
of phonic 
decoding 

 
 

2016 

 

 
2017 

 

 
2018 

 
 

2019 

Lewisham 83 81 84 81 

England 81 81 82 82 

Page 33



4 
 
 

 
7.3. The percentage of year 1 pupils meeting the required standard of phonic decoding in 

Lewisham is 81 in 2019, a decrease of 3 percentage points compared to 2018, and 1 

percentage point below the national average. Schools will target interventions to the 

new Year 2 children who did not meet the expected standard. 

 
8. Key Stage Two outcomes for 11 year olds in Lewisham 

 
8.1. This analysis is based on the analysis of the Statistical First Release National 

curriculum assessments: key stage 2, 2019 (provisional) released by the DfE in 

September 2019 and confirmed revisions submitted by schools. 

 

8.2. One of the key measures for how children are doing at the end of their primary school 

education is whether they have reached the expected levels within all three subjects 

of reading, writing and maths. 

Table 5: Lewisham Key Stage 2 performance in Lewisham compared to 
London and England, 2019 

 
Performance measure 

 
Lewisham 

 
Inner 

London 

 
London 

 
England 

 
% achieving pupils reaching the 

expected standard in reading, 

writing and maths  

 
67 

 
69 

 
69 

 
65 

Percentage of pupils reaching a 
higher standard in reading, writing 
and maths 

 

10 

 

14 

 

14 

 

10 

 
Table 6: Percentage achieving Expected Standard in Reading, Writing & 
Maths, 2016-19 

% Reaching Expected 
Standard in Reading, 
Writing & Maths 
 

 
 

2016 

 

 
2017 

 

 
2018 

 
 

2019 

Lewisham 62 68 68 67 

England 54 64 64 65 

 
8.3. The percentage of children reaching the expected standard in reading, writing and 

maths combined at key stage 2 in Lewisham is 67 in 2019, a decrease of 1 percentage 

point compared to 2018, but 2 percentage points above the national average (65%). 

 

9. Key stage 4 outcomes for Lewisham’s 16 year olds 
 

9.1. The information in the table below is from the Statistical First Release, Key stage 4 
performance, 2019 (provisional) published by the DfE on 17th October 2019. This is 
still unvalidated data and the results are pending appeals and remarks so they may 
change before publication of the validated results in January 2020. 

Page 34



5 
 
 

 
9.2. GCSE grades A* to G in England have been replaced by a new grade scale numbered 

from 9 to 1, with 9 being the highest grade. The new GCSEs are 'linear', which means 
they are exam focused and that all those exams come at the end of the course. Grade 
5 is judged as a strong pass and Grade 4 a standard pass. English and Maths were 
marked under the numerical grades for the first time in 2017. Most subjects, including 
science, geography, history and modern languages were assessed for the first time in 
2018 without coursework and using the 9-1 grading.  
 

9.3. Ofsted and Ofqual have made it clear that comparisons with 2017 for subjects other 
than English and mathematics are not feasible due to the significant changes in the 
way exams were assessed. For this reason, year on year comparisons are presented 
against 2018 results only. 
 

9.4. Key performance measures explained: 
 

9.4.1. Attainment 8 (A8) - This indicator measures pupils' average grade across eight 
subjects. These are English and Mathematics and: 

 three other English Baccalaureate (EBacc) subjects (sciences, computer 
science, geography, history and languages); 

 three further subjects, which can be from the range of EBacc subjects, or any 
other GCSE or approved, high-value arts, academic, or vocational qualification. 

9.4.2. Progress 8 (P8) - This indicator measures pupils' progress between the end of 
primary school and Year 11, across the above 8 subjects. A positive score indicates 
that a student has made better progress than expected while a negative score 
means that a students has achieved below expected levels. 

 
 

Table 7: Summary of GCSE outcomes, Lewisham 2019 & 18 

Subject Measure 2019 2018 

 
English & 

Mathematics 

9-4 in both English & 
mathematics 

58.2 61.0 

9-5 in both English and 
mathematics 

37.5 40.7 

 
English 

English 9-4 73.9 74.9 

English 9-5 56.6 60.0 

 
Mathematics 

Mathematics 9-4 62.4 66.5 

Mathematics 9-5 42.4 46.1 

 
 
 

EBacc 

Science 9-4 57.3 61.3 

Science 9-5 40.9 43.8 

Languages 9-4 67.9 68.4 

Languages 9-5 54.5 52.3 

Humanities 9-4 57.8 61.3 

Humanities 9-5 54.5 48.3 

Attainment A8 Score 43.6 44.9 

Progress P8 -0.27 -0.22 

 
9.5. After encouraging improvement at GCSE last year, the table above shows this has 

not been repeated this year. Overall, the provisional GCSE results suggest that the 
Attainment 8 score for the Borough has dipped by1.3 with progress dropping from -
0.22 to -0.27 and the percentage of pupils achieving standard passes in English and 
maths dipping by 2.8 percentage points and a high passes by 3.2 percentage points.  

Page 35



6 
 
 

Attainment in English is stronger than in the other core subjects. Attainment is 
strongest in Languages. 

 
Table 8: Lewisham 2019 KS4 school by school performance data 

 
 
School 

 
Year 
11 

cohort 

 
P8 

 
A 8 

9-4 
English 

and 
maths 

% 

9-5 
English 

and 
maths 

% 

9-4 
EBacc 

% 

9-5 
EBacc 

% 

Addey and 
Stanhope 
School 

99 -0.44 43.8 63 36 9 5 

Bonus Pastor 
Catholic 
College 

141 -0.00 46.1 58 33 23 11 

Conisborough 
College 

165 -0.97 34.8 42 26 4 1 

Deptford Green 
School 

142 -0.55 37.1 52 28 13 9 

Forest Hill 
School 

208 -0.71 42.6 59 40 18 16 

Haberdashers’ 
Aske’s 
Hatcham 
College 

200 -0.25 48.5 65 46 20 15 

Haberdasher’s 
Askes’ Knights 
Academy 

160 -0.12 45.3 66 37 29 18 

Prendergast 
School 

107 +0.43 55.5 82 63 58 40 

Prendergast 
Ladywell 
School 

137 -0.12 41.4 50 25 18 13 

Prendergast 
Vale School 

107 -0.45 42.7 58 37 36 25 

St Matthew 
Academy 

149 +0.53 48.5 68 48 27 15 

Sedgehill 
School 

195 -0.41 40.1 48 27 6 5 

Sydenham 
School 

222 +0.16 50.9 66 47 39 30 

Trinity Church 
of England 
School 

108 -0.37 43.6 60 44 17 8 

 
 

9.6. Progress 8 improved in six of our schools but dipped in the remaining schools. Clearly there 

is more to do to improve the progress our young people make between Key stage 2 and Key 

Stage 4, in identifying and targeting interventions for low prior attainers and providing 

appropriate challenge for high attainers. This includes improving the accuracy of predictions 

for individual learners to inform planning. 

Page 36



7 
 
 

Table 9: Lewisham 2019 GCSE, 9-4 in English and mathematics, school by school 
comparison with 2018 

School 9-4 in English and 
mathematics % 

Comparison 
with 2018 % 

Addey and Stanhope 63 +1 

Bonus Pastor Catholic 
College 

58 -9 

Conisborough College 42 +5 

Deptford Green School 52 -4 

Forest Hill School 39 -2 

Haberdashers’ Aske’s 
Hatcham College 

65 -1 

Haberdashers’ Aske’s 
Knights Academy 

66 +1 

Prendergast School 82 +5 

Prendergast Ladywell 
School 

50 -5 

Prendergast Vale School 58 -17 

St Matthew Academy 68 -4 

Sedgehill School 48 +3 

Sydenham School 66 -4 

Trinity Church of England 
School 

60 -11 

 
 
Table 10: Lewisham 2019 GCSE 9-5 in English and maths, school by school comparison 
with 2018 

School 9-5 in English 
and mathematics 
%  

Comparison 
with 2018 % 

Addey and Stanhope 36 -7 

Bonus Pastor Catholic 
College 

33 -11 

Conisborough College 26 +9 

Deptford Green School 28 -10 

Forest Hill School 39 -2 

Haberdashers’ Aske’s 
Hatcham College 

46 -6 

Haberdashers’ Aske’s 
Knights Academy 

37 -2 

Prendergast School 63 +8 

Prendergast Ladywell 
School 

25 -9 

Prendergast Vale School 37 -9 

St Matthew Academy 48 -4 

Sedgehill School 27 +4 

Sydenham School 47 -9 

Trinity Church of England 
School 

44 -1 

 
9.7. The percentage of pupils with standard passes (9-4) both English and mathematics has 

improved in five of our schools. However, there were drops in the majority of schools. In 

Page 37



8 
 
 

some cases, it appears that disappointing outcomes in one core subject (one of English, 
Maths or Science) impacted significantly on the bottom line results for schools some schools. 
Maths and Science are areas of high focus in terms of teaching and learning and continuing 
to develop a curriculum which provides progression for pupils at all levels. 

 
Table 11: Lewisham Key Stage 4 performance compared to London and England, 2019 

Performance measure Lewisham Inner 

London 

London England 

English and mathematics 9-4 % 

pass  

58 66.3 68.5 64 

English and mathematics 9-5% 

pass 

37 45 49 43 

P8 average -0.26 0.18 0.22 -0.02 

A8 average score per pupil 43.6 48.3 49.6 46.5 

 

9.8. In 2019 Lewisham ranked bottom in London for the Progress 8 measure, behind Greenwich 

and Lambeth and 131st/ 150 nationally. Clearly there is more to do to improve the progress 

our young people make between Key stage 2 and Key Stage 4, in identifying and targeting 

interventions for low prior attainers and challenging the high attainers.  

 

10. Post-16 outcomes 

 

10.1. The tables below shows the outcomes for A Levels and BTECs within Lewisham. The data 

is taken from un-validated data as submitted by schools and settings. 

Table 12: Lewisham Key Stage 2 performance in Lewisham compared to London and 
England, 2019 

Measure (A Levels) Outcome Comparison with 

2017 

England average 

% achieving at least 

2 A Levels A*-E 

79 +5 81 

Average grade per 

entry 

C- C C+ 

 

Table 13: Lewisham 2019 BTEC pass rates (un-validated) 

BTEC 
Cohort 

All Distinction*(D) 
% 

All D and 
above % 

All Merit and 
above % 

All Pass and 
above % 

695 2 33 87 99 

 

Page 38



9 
 
 

10.2. Nationally, A-level results dropped at all grades in 2019, reportedly reflecting the move to 

A-levels all based on the final exam rather than coursework.  A-level attainment is slightly 

up overall in Lewisham in 2019 with a greater proportion of A* grades in contrast to a 

decrease nationally. A*-C grades in Lewisham decreased slightly, compared to a more 

significant decrease nationally. Provisionally, the percentage of students achieving three 

or more A levels in Lewisham increased by 5% points to 71% in 2019. 

 

10.3. A more detailed report for these will be available for the full spring 2020 outcomes report 

to committee following the publishing of the validated 2019 data. 

 

11. Improving outcomes for Lewisham’s children and young people 

 

11.1. Lewisham Learning Partnership and the LA education service have been working to 

ensure that we build on work to date to strengthen the schools’ led model to improve 

outcomes for pupils in Lewisham schools, with a focus on secondary schools. This 

involves working with school leaders and governors who are fully committed to this 

mission, to make positive changes in their individual schools and working collaboratively 

across the partnership to adapt and develop the model in light of what the evidence is 

telling us about what we need to strengthen and what we need to do differently. 

 

11.2. Since September 2019 this work has been: 

 

11.2.1. Meeting with headteachers individually to reflect on what has gone well in the past two 

years, what needs to happen now to get better outcomes for the current Year 11 pupils, 

where the priorities are and what needs to happen for improving outcomes for all pupils 

(including those within identified BAME groups, those who are prior high attainers; 

those with Special Educational Needs and Disabilities and those who may be 

disadvantaged); facilitating this work with leaders and governing bodies. 

11.2.2. Working with schools to broker bespoke packages for effective school to school 

support, commissioning high quality consultants and scoping the needs from the LA 

for all individual schools, in light of the above. 

11.2.3. Setting up rapid improvement boards for schools causing concern, to support leaders 

and governors to identify clear measurable improvement targets; measure the impact 

of interventions and support and track progress made towards those targets; taking 

swift and decisive action when progress is not on track. 

11.2.4. Identifying common issues impacting on poor outcomes a number of schools in the 

Borough including: 

 curriculum progression, teaching and learning for maths and science; 

 forensic use of assessment data in predicting outcomes within the new exam 

framework in order to target interventions for pupils who need them, 

particularly around attainment of standard and good passes in all three core 

subjects.  

 ensuring pupil and parent/carer voices and views are incorporated into 

individual learning and planning and development 

11.2.5. Continuing to allocate to all schools a suitably qualified Challenge Adviser to carry out 

a termly professional dialogue around performance and priorities. 

Page 39



10 
 
 

11.2.6. Continuing the work begun in spring 2019 to design and implement the next phase of 

secondary school improvement, following the end of the SSIF funding with the aims of 

increasing school to school collaboration within the partnership; strengthening the 

accountability model by defining partners’ roles and responsibilities; reporting and 

evaluation pathways. 

 

11.3. Progress and impact of this specific ongoing work and the wider work with schools and 

settings will be included in the Lewisham Learning Partnership update to the committee 

in the spring term 2020. 

 

12. Financial Implications 
 

12.1. There are no direct financial implications arising from the agreement of the 
recommendations to this report as the work described is being delivered within 
existing budgets. Planning for sustainability of the school improvement model is a 
key task for the Lewisham Learning partnership going forward. 
 

13. Legal Implications 
 

13.1. Section 13A of the Education Act 1996 requires that local authorities must ensure 

that their relevant education and training are exercised by the authority with a view 

to promoting high standards, ensuring fair access to opportunity for education and 

training and promoting the fulfilment of learning potential by persons under the age 

of 20 and in relation to persons aged 20 or over for whom an Education Care and 

Health Plan is maintained. 

 
14.  Equalities Implications 

 

14.1. The performance of pupils at all assessment points in their schooling is analysed by 
schools both by the whole cohort as well as by different groupings such as: 

 Gender 

 Disadvantaged 

 Ethnicity 

 Special Needs and Disabilities 

 English as an Additional Language 
These groups’ progress and attainment will be analysed in the full validated 

outcomes report that will be produced when the validated results are available after 

January 2018 and presented to the committee thereafter. 

15.  Environmental Implications 
 

15.1. There are no environmental implications arising from this report. 
 

16.  Crime and Disorder Implications 
 

16.1. There are no crime and disorder implications arising from this report 
 

Report Author 

Angela Scattergood, Director of Education. 

Page 40



1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1. Purpose of Report 

 

1.1.  This report provides an introduction to the development of the 2020-2023 strategy for 

 education in Lewisham. 

 

2. Summary 

 

2.1.  This report will give the CYP Select Committee: 

 

2.1.1 an overview of the Local Authority’s statutory duties with regard to the education of 

children and young people. 

2.1.2 an overview of the vision, priority areas and partnership approach to delivering 

education in Lewisham over the next three years. 

2.1.3 an opportunity to comment upon and contribute to the priority setting process 

 

3.  Background 

 

3.1.  Government policies have significantly altered how education is provided in 
 England, transferring more autonomy to schools with the aim of driving up educational 
 attainment. This has impacted directly on the leadership and delivery role of the local 
 authority (LA) in relation to education, for example in school improvement, admissions, 
 school place planning. However, LAs still maintain strategic and specific statutory duties 
 in the education and welfare of children and young people.  
 

3.2.  Lewisham Council is committed to improving educational outcomes for all its children 
 and young people, as laid out in the Corporate Strategy and the new Children and Young 
 People’s Plan 2019-2022.  The education of Lewisham’s children is a council-wide 
 endeavour. 

 
3.3.  In response to the changing educational landscape and the need to secure rapid 

 improvements in educational attainment, particularly at secondary, Lewisham adopted 
 a new approach to school improvement in 2018 with the establishment of Lewisham 
 Learning- the schools’ led partnership established by school leaders and the LA. 

 

Children and Young People’s  Select Committee 

Report Title The development of Lewisham’s Education Strategy 2020 

Key Decision No Item No. 5 

Ward All 

Contributors Director of Education 

Class Open Date: 5th December 2019 

Page 41

Agenda Item 5



2 

 

3.4. In response to these developments, Lewisham needs an education strategy that will 
support it to act more strategically in championing the interests of families, vulnerable 
pupils and educational excellence and in effectively and efficiently fulfilling its statutory 
and operational duties. This strategic role must take the form of influencing and 
collaborating across schools and settings (early years, Post 16 providers, alternative 
and specialist provision etc.) and their governors who are delivering education. 
Collaboration and influence must extend across the wider partnership of children’s 
services; Health; Early Help; Community Safety; voluntary and community services; 
business and employment. We also recognise within the strategy that the LA is best 
placed to ensure that the views of children and young people and parents/families from 
all our local communities are taken into account when determining the shape of 
education provision in the borough. 

 
3.5. Appendix 1 contains the draft Education Strategy document 

 

4. Recommendations 

 

4.1. The committee is recommended to: 

 

4.1.1. comment and contribute to the setting of the strategic education priorities for Lewisham; 

4.1.2. support the development of the new strategy and the ongoing implementation of the 

 new strategy. 

4.  Financial implications 
 

4.1. There are no current direct financial implications arising from this report. The work 
described in this report is being carried out within existing resources and the Education 
Strategic Development Plan will monitor and mitigate capacity to deliver on priorities in 
the context of budget pressures across education and children’s services. 

 
5.  Legal implications 

 

5.1. As set out in Section 13A of the Education Act 1996, local authorities have a legal duty 
to promote high standards and ensure that every child fulfils his or her educational 
potential. 

 
5.2. The Council as an education authority has school place planning duties (s13-14 

Education Act 1996), to promote high standards of education and fair access to 
education. It also has a general duty to secure sufficient schools in their area, and to 
consider the need to secure provision for children with SEN. This includes a duty to 
respond to parents’ representations about school provision. These are referred to as the 
school place planning duties 

 

5.3. Section 9 of the Education Act 1996 places a general duty on local authorities and 
funding authorities to have regard to the general principle that children are educated in 
accordance with their parents’ wishes, so far as that is compatible with the provision of 
efficient education and training and the avoidance of unreasonable public expenditure. 
 

Page 42



3 

 

5.4. The Council has duties in relation to school admissions both as local authority and as 
the admission authority for all community and voluntary controlled schools. These duties 
are include the provision of advice and assistance to parents when deciding on a school 
place and allow parents to express a preference (s86(1A) School Standards and 
Framework Act 1998). 
 

5.5. Section 19 of the Children and Families Act 2014 sets out the general principles that 
local authorities must have regard to when supporting disabled children and young 
people and those with SEN. 
 

5.6. Under section 436A Education Act 2006 (introduced by section 4 Education and Skills 
Act 2008), Local Authorities have a duty to identify children not receiving an education. 
Local Authorities must make arrangements to identify children of compulsory school age 
in their area who are not registered pupils at a school and are not receiving suitable 
education otherwise than at school.  
 

5.7. The local authority has a duty (s45 etc. School Standards and Framework Act 1998, 
School Finance Regulations 2008 and 2011) to determine school and PRU budget 
shares in accordance with the school finance regulations; establish a schools forum for 
the area; maintain a scheme for financing schools and provide accounting information 
to the DfE under the Consistent Financial Reporting Regulations 
 

5.8. The local authority has a duty to (s6,7,9 Childcare Act 2006) to secure sufficient 
childcare places, so far as is reasonably practicable, for working parents or parents who 
are studying or training for employment, for children aged 0-14 (or up to 18 for disabled 
children)  
 

5.9. The local authority has a duty to appoint parent governor representatives to local 
authority committees dealing with education (s499 Education Act 1996); to appoint local 
authority governors to all maintained school governing bodies (s19 School Standards 
and Framework Act 1998); and to provide training and information for school governors 
(s22 Education Act 2002) 
 

5.10. The local authority has a duty to produce an action plan if a school goes into special 
measures following an OFSTED inspection; to comply with statutory requirements if the 
authority decides to use its powers to intervene (s64-66 of the Education and 
Inspections Act 2006) and to comply with any direction of the Secretary of state to give 
a school a warning notice (s60A and 69B of the Education & Inspections Act 2006) 
 

5.11. The local authority is the employer of all staff in community, voluntary-controlled and 
special schools. In foundation, voluntary-aided and foundation special schools, the 
governing body is the employer. Under the school staffing regulations, the governing 
body and head teacher in all schools are responsible for the day-to-day management of 
staff with several LA duties largely devolved to schools. The LA retains the following 
duties:  

 To act as the Appropriate Body in the statutory induction process for maintained 
schools, jointly responsible with the head teacher for the supervision and training 
of Newly Qualified Teachers and deciding whether they have passed their 
induction (s19 Teaching and Higher Education Act 1998)  

Page 43



4 

 

 To establish a performance management policy for teachers (s21 Education Act 
2002)  

 Duties as employer for pension purposes of all teachers in maintained schools 
relating to service and contribution remittance (Teachers’ Pension Regulations 

 
6. Crime and Disorder Implications 

 
6.1. There are no specific crime and disorder implications 

 
7. Environmental Implication 

 
7.1. There are no environmental implications. 

 
8. Equalities Implications 

8.1. The Equality Act 2010 (the Act) introduced a public sector equality duty (the equality duty 

or the duty) which replaced, broadened and expanded upon similar duties which already 

existed in relation to race, disability and sex.  It covers the following nine protected 

characteristics: age, disability, gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, 

pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation. 

 

8.2. In summary, the Council must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to the 

need to: 

 eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other conduct 

prohibited by the Act. 

 advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected 

characteristic and those who do not. 

 foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and 

those who do not. 

 

8.3. The broad purpose of this duty is to integrate considerations of equality into day to day 

business and to keep them under review in decision making, the design of policies and 

the delivery of services. 

 

8.4. Ensuring a high quality education offer for all children and young, including those with 

SEND is a fundamental element in delivering the Council’s equalities duties. Equalities 

Impact Assessment is woven into the development of the education strategy and has 

informed the Identification of strategic priorities. The strategy will build on work to improve 

educational, health and wellbeing outcomes for all, with a focus protected characteristics: 

age, disability, gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and 

maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation.  

 

8.5.  The strategy recognises and promotes the role of the schools, settings and education in 

advancing equality of opportunity between people who share a protected characteristic 

and people who do not share it; by fostering good relations between people who share a 

protected characteristic and people who do not share it.  

Page 44



Lewisham Education 
Strategy

2020-2023
November 2019 draft for 

consultation

1

P
age 45



Education in Lewisham- a commitment to our children and young people.

Lewisham’s mission and ambition for the education and wellbeing of its children and young 

people is a council-wide endeavour which is driven by the key commitment within the 

Council’s Corporate Strategy for giving children and young people the best start in life:

Every child has access to an outstanding and inspiring education and is given the 

support they need to keep them safe, well and able to achieve their full potential

Lewisham’s Children and Young people’s Plan 2019-2022, which informs this Education 

Strategy, defines the key priorities the Council is adopting in order to fulfil this commitment; 

making it “everyone’s business to ensure we support our children to cope with the 

complexity of life and emerge from challenging experiences with a positive sense of 

themselves and their future.” 

Lewisham’s education service provides a range of statutory and traded services to support 

the education of children and young people, aged 0-19 and 0-25 for those young people 

with Special Education Needs and Disabilities, (SEND) and their families in the borough. It 

sits within the Children and Young People’s directorate of the London Borough of Lewisham 

and works with a range of Council departments to deliver its work.

2

P
age 46



Education in Lewisham- defining role of the Local Authority (LA)

In a shifting educational landscape, Local Authorities maintain a clear legal duty, as set out 

in Section 13A of the Education Act 1996, to promote high standards and ensure that 

every child fulfils his or her educational potential. 

We see our key role as championing all children and young people and particularly those 

who are vulnerable. We do this through a number of statutory functions (those we have a 

duty to provide) and functions that we choose to provide to support education in the 

Borough. We are committed to playing an innovative and wider brokering role between 

schools/settings and key partners in promoting high achievement and broadening 

opportunities for all. This partnership facilitation is also crucial to keeping children and 

young people safe and well- physically and mentally; developing their resilience and 

enabling them to enjoy, participate and contribute to their communities.

We must make sure that our first and foremost partners are parents/carers/families 

(including corporate parents) and, of course children and young people themselves. In all 

we do, we are committed to developing strategies to ensure that children, young people and 

their families can contribute to planning and design of their services, at school/setting and 

local level and to celebrating the successes of all our children and young people. 3

P
age 47



Lewisham Learning- the school improvement partnership for Lewisham

Lewisham Learning is the schools’ led partnership established by school leaders and the 

LA to deliver high quality school improvement to all Lewisham schools. It is rooted in 

successful collaboration which has underpinned education in the borough for some time. 

Our schools collaborate to support, challenge and encourage each other in their 

determination to do the very best for every child.

All of our schools are members of Lewisham Learning and have access to the school 

improvement offer. Working alongside the LA, it also works closely with Lewisham 

Partnership of Teaching School Alliances (LTSAP) and a range of other local organisations, 

who are determined to give our children and young people the best possible start in life.

We are committed to maintaining a ‘family’ of Lewisham schools and the LA works 

proactively with maintained, faith and community schools, academies, independent schools, 

early years providers, alternative provision providers, special schools, sixth form and further 

education colleges and adult education providers.  We do this with the understanding that 

we have a duty to champion a successful education for Lewisham children whichever type 

of school/setting they attend.

4

P
age 48



Delivering Lewisham LA Education role

5

Sufficiency Monitoring and planning to ensure sufficient, appropriate, high quality early

years, primary, secondary and post 16 places for all our children and young

people and the right specialist provision for those who need it, particularly for

vulnerable children and those with SEND.

Quality and

securing

improvement.

Commissioned through Lewisham Learning partnership, encouraging and

challenging all Lewisham schools/settings, individually and collectively, to

develop and sustain exceptional education provision that meets the needs

and improves outcomes of all children.

Promoting and supporting high standards of school governance.

Delivering a co-ordinated professional development and training offer.

Equitable

Access

Ensuring that all children, particularly those who are vulnerable have fair and

equitable access to schools and settings reflecting parental/carer preference

through our information for parents/carers; co-ordination and overview of

school admissions, Early Years free entitlements and ECHP processes.P
age 49



Delivering Lewisham LA Education role

6

Inclusion Making sure that all children are fully included in schools/settings through

robust SEND processes and work to challenge and support reducing

exclusions and meeting the needs of all learners, including those who are

vulnerable; those identifying within the Protected Characteristics by age;

disability; gender reassignment; marriage and civil partnership; pregnancy and

maternity; race; religion or belief; sex; sexual orientation.

Maintaining Lewisham’s Virtual school for children who are looked after (CLA)

and the Hospital Outreach Provision; and working with those who are

electively home educated.

Attainment &

Equalities

Maintaining oversight of the performance of all Lewisham children and young

people, including by vulnerability and characteristic (gender, ethnicity, free

school meals, SEND etc.) and developing and supporting a strategic,

partnership response to narrowing achievement gaps for identified groups.

Safeguarding Supporting schools and settings to adopt the highest standards to keep all

children and young people safe; LA processes for children missing from

education; brokering effective partnership between schools and Children’s

Social Care. Implementing priorities of Lewisham Safeguarding Children’s

Partnership.

P
age 50



Delivering Lewisham LA Education role:

7

Curriculum &

Assessment

Arrange for moderating of assessments for the Early Years Foundation 

Stage, Key Stages 1 and 2 and facilitate reporting on assessments to the 

DfE.

Facilitate the standing advisory council on religious education and make sure 

schools comply with their duties around religious education.

Early Years Secure sufficient childcare (as far as practicably possible) for working and

studying parents/carers; and places to deliver the early years free

entitlement.

Working in partnership with early years providers in Lewisham- child-minders;

private, voluntary and independent nursery settings and maintained

schools to help them improve outcomes, provide the early intervention and

support children and families need and meet safeguarding obligations.

Post 16 Secure sufficient suitable, quality education and training provision for 16-19

(25) year olds in Lewisham within the Borough and provide support that

encourages, enables or assists them to participate in it.

The Post 16 strategy is under revision to provide a strategic overview of the

provision available, identify and resolve gaps in provision and facilitate

partnership delivery of Post 16 provision.

P
age 51



Delivering Lewisham LA Education role:

8

Championing

parents/carers

and families

Encouraging and enabling parents/carers and corporate parents to participate in

their children’s education and learning at home and to support and challenge

their child’s school/setting to raise standards.

Develop mechanisms to share their views on local needs and solutions in terms

of educational outcomes, access, inclusion and preparation for adulthood.

SEND Leading the local area SEND partnership strategy.

Ensuring compliance of EHC assessment and plans and delivery of education,

social care and specific health services to meet the needs of children and young

people with SEND.

Informing children, young people, parents/carers and partners of local services

available, through our SEND local offer

Health &

Wellbeing

Working in partnership with wider council services, Children’s Social Care,

Health services, Public Health, Early help services, Community Safety, Voluntary

and Community organisations and a host of other partners so that schools and

other education provision and services can play their role in ensuring Lewisham

children, particularly those who are vulnerable are happy and healthy.

P
age 52



Delivering Lewisham LA Education role:

9

Services for

Schools

Providing a range of statutory (free), traded and procured services to

schools/settings to support them in the functions that contribute to improving the

education of children & young people and the working environment for staff.

Services include Human Resources & payroll; Health & Safety; catering; estates

management; legal and data protection; emergency planning and the Education

Business Partnership.

Schools

Finance

Statutory duty in determining school budget shares; supporting schools forum;

receiving information from schools to provide accounting information to the DfE.

Commitment to supporting schools to develop sound financial planning towards

sustainability and increasing leaders’ and governing bodies’ capacity and

effectiveness in financial management.

School

Governance

Appointing parent governor representatives to LA committees and LA governors to

all maintained school governing bodies.

Lewisham Governor Services and Lewisham Learning provide training and

information for school governors to enable them to offer the necessary support and

challenge to schools leaders and fulfil their statutory functions to a high standard.P
age 53



Delivering Lewisham LA Education role:

10

Facilitating

wider council

agenda foo

schools

Facilitating partnerships between schools and the Council, local and

regional/national bodies and amongst schools and settings themselves to

contribute to delivery of local agenda priorities (e.g. Climate Change

Emergency; cleaner air; sustainable communities; violence reduction; Open

Lewisham) and to incorporate learning for children and young people.

Brokering

regulatory

relationships

Acting as a conduit of information and brokering relationships between

schools/settings and Ofsted, the Regional Schools Commissioner and the

DfE.

Schools

causing

concern

Seeking to engage with all schools/settings (through the commissioned

Lewisham Learning partnership arrangements), recognising their autonomy,

but intervening directly in schools or contacting the Secretary of State,

Regional Schools Commissioner or Ofsted where there are serious concerns

in line with our statutory duty.

P
age 54



Education in Lewisham- measuring our performance

Each service area within Education Services reports regularly 

against a suite of key performance indicators (KPIs) allowing us 

to track and plan for progress towards achieving identified 

priorities. From these service KPIs we have identified critical 

success indicators (CSIs) which can be usefully benchmarked 

and reflect the essential areas of our work where we must 

succeed consistently to achieve our mission and priorities. They 

ultimately demonstrate how successfully we are performing as a 

service and as a whole rather than year to year priorities.

11

P
age 55



12

Area Critical Success Indicators

Early Years % of eligible 2 year olds accessing the free entitlement

% of 3&4 year olds accessing the universal free entitlement

% of pupils achieving Good Level of Development at the end of Reception- overall, CLA and specific groups

Primary % of Lewisham primary schools judged to be good or better by Ofsted

Key stage 2 % of pupils at KS2 reaching the expected standard in reading, writing and maths- overall, CLA and specific groups

Secondary % of Lewisham secondary schools judged to be good or better by Ofsted

Key stage 4 % of pupils achieving standard passes in both English and maths GCSEs (9-4 pass)- overall, CLA and specific groups

% of pupils achieving good passes in both English and maths GCSEs (9-5 pass)- overall, CLA and specific groups

Post 16 Proportion of 16-17 year olds recorded in education and training- overall, CLA and specific groups

Key stage 5 KS5 A Level Students – Average Point Score per entry – overall, CLA and specific groups

Additional

Needs

% of EHCP (with exception cases) completed within 20 weeks

% of EHCP (without exception cases) competed with 20 weeks

Admissions % of parents offered a place at one of their first three preferences for Reception entry

% of parents offered a place at one of their first three preferences at Secondary transfer,

Attendance The total absence from primary schools (unauthorised and authorised)

Attendance The total absence from secondary schools (authorised and unauthorised)

Exclusions The permanent exclusion rate for Lewisham secondary schools- overall and specific groupsP
age 56



Setting priorities

The CSIs help us set our priorities. Alongside these we have developed our 
evidence base for analysing by characteristics (ethnicity, gender, SEND, 
disadvantage and the combinations of these) against a range of outcomes 
for children and young people. This is crucial for predicating and preventing 
under achievement for groups and individuals. Equally important is the 
evidence and information we gather from talking to children and young 
people, parents/carers and working with schools, their governing bodies and 
our partners.

We have identified 15 key priorities to focus on over the next three years. 
They will be worked up in our Education Strategic Plan 2020-2023 and our 
annual service plans. In our strategic plan, we outline how we will engage 
and co-produce our plans with children and young people, parents/carers, 
corporate parents, schools/settings, governors, partners and the community 
and how we will communicate our plans and successes.

13

P
age 57



1. Early years  (EY)

We want more of our under fives to access high quality provision, which helps them get 

good outcomes at school and develop better social, emotional and cognitive abilities 

necessary for life-long learning.

We will continue to increase take up of the early years free entitlement through sufficiency 

assessments, with the work of our parent champions at the heart of marketing and 

communication, particularly amongst groups with low take-up, to address inequalities in 

outcomes for five year olds.

We will strengthen capacity in our settings for helping families in their role as parents, 

supporting home learning and healthy lifestyles, facilitating initiatives such as the integrated 

heath/education review for two year olds and an innovative EY mental health first aid 

programme.

14

P
age 58



2a. Improving the quality of education and raising attainment for learners

We want all Lewisham’s schools and settings to be good or outstanding so that all our 

children and young people have access to the education they deserve.

We will work as part of the Lewisham Learning partnership to develop the next stage of the 

school improvement framework, particularly at secondary. Supporting school leaders and 

governors in identifying the strengths and areas for development in their schools and 

planning for driving rapid improvement is a fundamental element for success. We will do 

this through brokering and commissioning high quality school to school and bought in 

support, developing robust monitoring and impact evaluations. We will support a 

progressive, rich and culturally relevant curriculum which prepares young people for 

adulthood as active members and contributors to their communities through sharing good 

practice, the new learning hubs, the Young Mayor’s team Curriculum for Life and promoting 

innovative action research in our schools.

Over the next two years we will work as part of Lewisham Learning Strategic Board to 

strengthen the partnership by clearly defining roles and responsibilities, accountability and 

reporting mechanisms for the key stakeholders and the LA.
15

P
age 59



2b. Improving the quality of education and raising attainment for learners- secondary 

focus

We want young people to achieve the qualifications at age 16 and 18, that they need to be 

successful in life. 

Whilst children in early years and primary are doing well and in 2018 outcomes at 

secondary school level improved at a greater rate than they did nationally, provisional data 

shows that this improvement has not been sustained and not enough of our young people 

are achieving good GCSE passes, particularly in Maths and English. Through Lewisham 

Learning partnership strategic plan, we will support our school leaders and governors in 

planning for the next phase of Lewisham Secondary challenge, delivering bespoke and 

impactful support to secure rapid improvements.  

16

P
age 60



3. Equalities- raising achievement for all

We want all children and young people to achieve their full potential and to reduce gaps and 

inequality in progress and achievement.

Whilst many children and young people achieve well in their education, we know that 

children from some groups are underachieving or at risk of doing so at all key stages of their 

education from their early years to adulthood, for example our children who receive free 

school meals and our young people of Black Caribbean heritage. Whilst this mirrors national 

and London pictures, it is unacceptable. 

Several initiatives are already underway and in 2020 we will bring together an innovative 

coalition of schools, governors, parents, young people and the resource and expertise from 

within our local community and the regional/national education community to maximise our 

creative potential to tackle this issue.  

17

P
age 61



4. Transition

We want all our 11 year olds to have easy transitions from primary to secondary school so 

that they can get on with learning as quickly as possible in their new school and be 

confident and resilient at this crucial stage in their development. 

Parents and schools and indeed young people themselves have expressed to us that 

greater support is needed for children at the point of secondary transition, particularly in 

terms of social and emotional support for vulnerable children and those with SEND. 

We will facilitate partnerships between primary and secondary schools to improve 

preparation at primary and secondary and make sure that children who are likely to find the 

transition challenging are identified early on and get the support they need. Initiatives such 

as the new Mental Health Teams in Schools will be galvanised to support transition. 

Lewisham Learning school improvement work will focus on curriculum progression which 

supports high aspirations for children at transition. We will support schools to help parents 

to understand the expectations of their children’s new schools and how they can contribute 

to school and home learning.

18

P
age 62



5. Reducing exclusions

We want all children and young people to be able to stay in school and participate in their 
education.

Permanent exclusions remain unacceptably high in Lewisham schools and exclusions for 
some groups of pupils are disproportionally high. This includes boys and particularly those 
of Caribbean heritage. The Reducing Exclusion strategy has seen positive results.

We will facilitate work by schools and partners, coming together to identify early intervention 
strategies for children at risk of exclusion including short-term intervention arrangements; 
mentoring and coaching with a range of mentors to be considered; work experience / 
shadowing opportunities; directory of external agency support and greater clarity around 
referrals; Lewisham Outreach Inclusion; speedy access to assessment of needs; CAHMs
support and Early Help programmes; enrichment and afterschool activity.

We will review the Fair Access Protocols to ensure that they are fair and equitable and meet 
the needs of all children and young people.

We will conduct a deep-dive into exclusions from Lewisham schools with a focus on 
disproportionality and inequality in order to understand the journey of the child/ young 
person; improving information, advocacy and guidance for parents; professional 
development needs in schools; support for governors. We will learn from good practice 
elsewhere.

19

P
age 63



6. Post 16

We want more young people to successfully access education, employment and training to 

enable them to achieve better outcomes which prepare them for like and work.

In recent years we have been successful in reducing the number of young people who are 

not in education, employment, or training (NEET) at ages 16-18 and up to 25 for those with 

SEND.

We will continue to bring together key partners and stakeholders within the Borough to 

facilitate stronger relationships between the 11-16 schools and post-16 providers to benefit 

students both at secondary and post-16. We will implement an ambitious strategy that will 

address the following priorities: 

• The rapid improvement of A Level outcomes for students in Lewisham 

• The effective promotion of a high quality, comprehensive and inclusive local post-16 offer 

• 14-19 progression routes that are clear, challenging, accessible and attractive to students 

in the Borough   

Progression needs of all students must be considered in the context of what is nationally 

becoming an increasingly selective post-16 offer. Those of vulnerable groups  (e.g. CLA, 

Pupil Premium, students with SEND, carers, etc.) need to be considered to ensure that the 

post-16 offer is inclusive, accessible and a motivator for pupils at the secondary stage. 20

P
age 64



7. Special Educational Needs and Disabilities

We want Lewisham to be an inclusive community that is welcoming of all and has the 

knowledge and skills to meet the needs of children and young people (0-25 years) with 

Special Educational Needs and/ or Disabilities to enable them to play, learn and work.

Lewisham is facing SEND budget pressures due to national funding levels and an increase 

in the age range children with EHCPs mean it is more difficult to allocate increased funding 

to schools to support these children. The local area SEND strategic plan (link) which links 

closely with our wider education plan addresses priorities in this area

21

P
age 65



8. Keeping children safe and well

We want all children and young people to be safe and in good physical and mental health. 
We also want then to learn how to stay safe and healthy (physically and mentally) and to 
develop positive, respectful relationships. We also want to support parents to help their 
children to be safe and healthy.

We play a key role in influencing and collaborating with partners in this area- in supporting 
schools to access services and initiatives to keep children safe and well; and enabling 
partners to influence the curriculum that supports children to learn about how to be safe and 
well.

In 2020, initiatives will include:

• Setting up the new schools safeguarding forum of the Lewisham Safeguarding Children 
Partnership

• Trailblazers Mental Health Teams in Schools, within the wider context of strengthening 
pathways to mental health early and targeted help for children and young people.

• Public health support for schools in meeting the new Health, Relation & Sex Education 
requirements

• Promoting Healthy Schools and support schools in working towards it

• Continued promotion of the Daily Mile 

• Lewisham Learning Mental Health and Wellbeing Hub

• Developing schools’ catering
22

P
age 66



9a. Sustainable schools- finance and place planning

We want all our schools to be sustainable, high quality settings to be in the best position to 

provide the best education for children and young people.

School finances are increasingly stretched and are set to reduce the capacity to deliver the 

desired outcomes. We have strengthened the school finance offer and will work collectively 

with schools forum to continue to do so, to support schools to face the known and unknown 

challenges ahead.  This involves maintaining our understanding of changes to education 

finance at national level and working with London Councils to make sure that there is a two-

way dialogue with the DfE. Through place planning we will continue working with schools to 

manage falling rolls in areas of the borough where there is significant decline in pupil 

population after several years of significant growth.

23

P
age 67



9b. Sustainable schools- schools of choice for secondary and post 16 in Lewisham

We want all our children and their families to make Lewisham schools their first choices for 

education.

In 2019, 3,299 Lewisham resident children applied for Lewisham secondary schools, an 

increase of 175 on the previous year. However, many Lewisham children are choosing out 

of borough provision at secondary and Post 16. Our priority is to work with school, parents 

and partners to build confidence in the system; develop our Post 16 provision and 

opportunities, such as apprenticeships (including for those with SEND) and celebrate the 

achievements of our schools and young people to make Lewisham schools the schools of 

choice.

We will continue with Lewisham Education Communications Strategy with particular focus 

on marketing Lewisham secondary and post 16 provision including the September 2020 

Secondary School Fayre.

24

P
age 68



10. Staff recruitment and retention

We want all our children and young people to be taught by good teachers and support staff 
in schools and settings where staff are happy, committed and able to work in fair, 
supportive, respectful environments that enable them to fulfil their commitments to learners. 

Recruitment and retention of high quality education and support staff is a national issue, 
with specific challenges in London and in Lewisham which impact on the quality of teaching 
and learning in our schools. To make our schools and education services attractive and 
fulfilling workplaces, we will ensure issues such as workload, professional development and 
working relationships remain key priorities. We will continue to work in collaboration with 
key stakeholders, including school leaders and trade unions to develop fair, equitable 
polices which support shared aims and objectives. We will co-ordinate high quality ongoing 
support to recruit and retain Newly Qualified Teachers.

25

P
age 69



11. School governance

We want all governing boards to be confident and effective in providing support and 
challenge on school improvement, outcomes for learners and narrowing achievement gaps, 
staff workload, finance and safeguarding in schools and to fulfil their statutory duties 
successfully so that they contribute to improved outcomes for all children and young people.

Lewisham Learning and LA governor services work in partnership to support governing 
boards to support and challenge their schools. Our key focus in this area will be:

• Working with governors to ensure the best channels of communication with governors at 
Borough and individual school level.

• Strengthen the offer of review of governance and support and challenge to governors to 
monitor the progress of the school, delivering bespoke training where appropriate.

• Ensure a comprehensive training offer to governing boards. 

• Continue our commitment to recruitment to increase diversity on governing boards to 
better reflect the local community, recruiting more BAME governors. 

26

P
age 70



12. Excellent services to schools:

We want all our schools to be successful in delivering all aspects of their work in educating 
our children and young people.

We understand that a range of services contribute to schools’ capacity to secure 
improvement, besides support for teaching and learning. Successfully trading a full range of 
high quality, responsive services to schools and settings needs a focus on customer 
service, making every contact count in its impact. Deploying innovative commercial 
development and quality assurance will contribute to the school improvement process and 
the sustainability of education services in these challenging times for LA service 
sustainability.

27

P
age 71



13. Schools, and children and young people at the heart of the local agenda

We want all children and young people to learn and make decisions about the important 
local, national and global issues that affect them today and will do so in the future. We want 
schools to be able to make informed decisions in contributing to the agendas for such 
issues.

Some examples of how we will do this:

Climate Change- sharing good practice of climate change in the curriculum; supporting 
schools to explore options for improving sustainability and contributing to the Council’s 
carbon reduction commitment in procurement and operational functions; supporting schools 
in their traffic reducing campaigns.

Open Lewisham- developing curriculum opportunities for children and young people to learn 
about democracy in action, including developing mechanisms for children and young people 
to ask questions and share views with local leaders.

Curriculum For Life- working with Lewisham Young Mayor’s team schools, the youth sector, 
voluntary sector and public health to consult implement a curriculum that they feel they 
need to learn to become active citizens.

Fair Trading- supporting schools to explore ethical, fair trading initiatives in their operations 
and achieve Fair Trade School Awards.

28

P
age 72



14. Good quality data informs us

We want to make sure that we set the most important and effective priorities in delivering 
services to children and families so that we can rapidly improve the quality of the education 
they receive.

A secure evidence base is fundamental to setting the right priorities, identifying where to 
focus resource, influencing partners and winning hearts and minds in securing 
improvements for children, young people and their families. We will develop a streamlined, 
effective data management and performance management framework which does not place 
unnecessary burden on schools and supports them and us on our improvement journey

29

P
age 73



15. The voices of children, young people and families.

We want children and young people and their parents/families from all our local 
communities to help shape education provision in the Borough. We want young people to 
participate and their parents/families to contribute to their own education as much as 
possible.

The next phase of the strategy planning is to work with children and young people and 
parents/carers to plan how we maximise every opportunity for their voices to be heard and 
their contributions to be made.

Each priority will be woven into the Education Strategic Plan which will outline the specific 
roles for children, young people and parents/carers and when and how we will continue to 
consult and update them. 

We will use existing forums for young people, such as the Young Mayor’s advisors and the 
children in care council and work with established parent/carer groups. We will also explore 
good practice in establishing new forums for consultation and collaboration.

30

P
age 74



Everything counts and 
impacts on children and 
young people

Seek genuine 

collaboration

Champion the 

vulnerable

Shared vision/ 

purpose

Value for money

Sustainability

Hold ourselves 

and others to 

account

Fair & 

equitable & 

inclusive

Reduce

inequalities

Respect & 

value diversity

Ambitious for 

ourselves, our 

service, our 

schools & CYP

Celebrate 

success

Foster resilience 

for ourselves, the 

system, our 

schools & CYP

Safeguarding 

paramount

Underpinning our work

P
age 75



Next steps

Dec 2019/ Jan 2020

• Consultation with Lewisham Young Mayor’s Advisors

• Parent/carer consultations

Consultation:

1. What would you add to the priorities?

2. How can you contribute to achieving them?

3. How can you let us know how things are going?

February 2019

• Final draft consultation with key stakeholders

• 24th Feb 2020- Education Strategy & Strategic Plan launch

32

P
age 76



1 

 

Children and Young People Select Committee 

Report Title Child and Adolescent Mental Health (CAMHS) Referral to 

Treatment Waiting Times  

Key Decision No Item No.    6   

Ward All 

Contributors Executive Director, Children and Young People's Services; Service 
Manager, CYP Joint Commissioning and LAC Placements; Joint 
Commissioner for CYP Mental Health and Emotional Wellbeing 

Class Part 1  Date: 5th December 2019 

 

1. PURPOSE 

1.1 This report provides the Children and Young People’s CYP Select Committee 

with an update on Community CAMHS waiting list performance, following 

concerns that arose in 2018/19 in relation to the number of children waiting for 

52 weeks or more for a CAMHS service in Lewisham.  

 

1.2 The term ’52 week wait’ refers to children that are eligible for a community 
CAMHS service but have waited 52 weeks or more for an assessment (also 
known as referral to assessment).   

 
2. SUMMARY 
 
2.1 In 2018, concerns were raised by both the Council, the local CAMHS provider 

(South London and Maudsley NHS Foundation Trust) and joint 

commissioners, regarding the high number of Lewisham children and young 

people waiting for more than 52 weeks for a CAMHS assessment.  This 

challenge was further highlighted, when it was evident that Lewisham 

performance was significantly poorer than the three other South London and 

Maudsley (SLaM) NHS Foundation Trust boroughs (Lambeth, Southwark and 

Croydon). 

 

2.2 Earlier reports have been presented to CYP Select Committee in both 

January and April 2019.  The latest report provides the committee with an 

updated position on key challenges previously raised. 

 
3. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
3.1 The CYP Select Committee is asked to note and comment on this report, 

recognising progress made and acknowledging risks and mitigations. 
 

Page 77

Agenda Item 6



2 

 

4.        NATIONAL POLICY CONTEXT 
 
4.1     In March 2015, NHS England (NHSE) published ‘Future In Mind’ (FIM)1 as 

part of a national drive to improve capacity and capability in the delivery of 
mental health services for children & young people. This report provides a 
broad set of recommendations across five key themes: 

 

 Promoting resilience, prevention and early intervention 

 Improving access to effective support – a system without tiers 

 Care for the most vulnerable (including children looked after, youth offending 
and SEND) 

 Accountability and transparency 

 Developing the workforce 
 
4.2 Since 2015, the children’s mental health agenda has continued to be a 

national area of focus. Additionally, the 2015 government committed to 
implementing the recommendations made in the ‘Five Year Forward View for 
Mental Health’2 (February 2016), which includes specific objectives to improve 
access to ‘evidence based’ treatment for children and young people by 
2020/21. Five Year Forward View sets out an indicative trajectory to achieve 
the ambition that by 2020/21, 70,000 additional children and young people 
(CYP) will access community mental health services each year (increasing the 
percentage from 25% to 35%).   
 

4.3 ‘Transforming children and young people’s mental health provision: A ‘Green 
Paper’, published in 2017, also focuses on mental health and emotional 
wellbeing in the context of schools. The provider should be aware of the national 
agenda and political emphasis on parental mental health, wellbeing and 
resilience, particularly in schools as that is where they will deliver3. 

 
4.4 The NHS Long Term Plan 2019 (January 2019) contains a set of expectations 

regarding children and young people’s mental health services. There is an 
ongoing requirement to increase access to evidence based support. 
Nationally, there is a focus on increased work with schools, parents and local 
authorities to reveal whether more upstream preventative support, including 
better information sharing and the use of digital interventions, helps moderate 
the need for specialist mental health support.  Nationally approaches are 
being tested to deliver four week waiting times for access to NHS support, 
ahead of the introduction of new national waiting time standards for CYP who 
need specialist mental health support. 

4.5    Since 2015/16, there has been an NHSE requirement for CCGs to submit an 
annual local CAMHS Transformation Plans (LTP), to indicate how local areas 
would work together when delivering against the national agenda. Plans are 
assured against a set of key lines of enquiry which include but are not limited 

                                            
1 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/41
4024/Childrens_Mental_Health.pdf 
2 https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/02/Mental-Health-Taskforce-FYFV-final.pdf 
3 https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/transforming-children-and-young-peoples-mental-
health-provision-a-green-paper 

Page 78

https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/02/Mental-Health-Taskforce-FYFV-final.pdf


3 

 

to: crisis care; eating disorders; and access to evidence based mental health 
provision.  Key priorities within the current plan include: 

 

 Increase participation and co-production  

 Promote fair, timely and equitable services for Black, Asian, Minority, Ethnic 
and Refugee (BAMER) CYP  

 Promote universal prevention and more targeted interventions that support a 
Public Health Approach to reducing violence in Lewisham, including 
psychological approaches within the community  

 Strengthening our work in schools and responding to the 2017 Green Paper  

 Prioritise access to ‘evidence based’ mental health interventions and reduced 
CAMHS waiting times  

 Strengthen and streamline mental health and emotional wellbeing provision 
for Looked After CYP  

 Implement the CYP Mental Health and Emotional Wellbeing Improvement 
Plan  

 Strengthen the graduated response to CY with Special Educational Needs 
and Disabilities and mental health difficulties  

 Enhancing preventative and integrated support for Perinatal Mental Health  
 

The latest plan, published in November 2019, can be found here:  
https://www.lewishamccg.nhs.uk/about-us/our-plans/Pages/default.aspx 

 
Local Policy Context 

 
4.5 Lewisham’s Children and Young People’s Mental Health & Emotional 

Wellbeing Strategy / Lewisham CAMHS Transformation Plan 2015-204 sets 
out our shared vision which has been developed in partnership with key 
stakeholders including children, young people and their families: -  

 
“Our children and young people will be emotionally resilient, knowing 
when and where to go for help and support when faced with challenges 
and adversities as they arise. Those that require mental health support 
are able to access this, where and when they need it.  

 
Our parents/carers and young people’s workforce will be equipped to 
identify and respond to low levels of emotional well-being amongst our 
young people.”  
 

4.7 The key priorities of our strategy are: -  
 

 Create better, clearer and more responsive care pathways to enable 
improved access to appropriate services 

 Invest in evidence-based training and practice to ensure earlier 
identification and improved support 

                                            
4https://www.lewisham.gov.uk/mayorandcouncil/aboutthecouncil/strategies/Documents/Mental%20Health%20and%20Emotiona
l%20Wellbeing%20Strategy%20for%20Children%20and%20Young%20People.pdf  

Page 79

https://urldefense.proofpoint.com/v2/url?u=https-3A__www.lewishamccg.nhs.uk_about-2Dus_our-2Dplans_Pages_default.aspx&d=DwMGaQ&c=OMjwGp47Ad5otWI0__lpOg&r=3ncF63Gonh9qTqHhizRe7yz61mAl8i4wSn9vFiytD8k&m=vbFssNJEEUc1TTxrC9xusKKli0sfbRKy9OgF4pjIYBs&s=fXhkU5iuNMp461eUz7MpG9kYi9u1UoaDptC7HNv5Tpw&e=
https://www.lewisham.gov.uk/mayorandcouncil/aboutthecouncil/strategies/Documents/Mental%20Health%20and%20Emotional%20Wellbeing%20Strategy%20for%20Children%20and%20Young%20People.pdf
https://www.lewisham.gov.uk/mayorandcouncil/aboutthecouncil/strategies/Documents/Mental%20Health%20and%20Emotional%20Wellbeing%20Strategy%20for%20Children%20and%20Young%20People.pdf


4 

 

 Embed resilient practice in community settings, where we will create a 
young person population that is better able to cope when faced with 
adversity 

 Increase awareness of mental health and emotional wellbeing and 
provide guidance regarding where to go for support 

 
4.8 Lewisham’s Children and Young People Plan (CYPP) 2019-22 establishes how 

partner agencies will continue to work together to improve those outcomes that 

will make significant improvements to the life-chances of our children and young 

people. The provision of CYP mental health services contribute towards the 

following priorities:  

 Build resilience - we want our children and young people to be resilient, 

knowing when and where to go for help and support when faced with 

challenges and adversities as they arise. 

 Be healthy and active – we want our children, young people and their 

families to be healthy and active, confident and able to make healthy 

lifestyle choices and to have an understanding of how this can improve 

their development and wellbeing 

 Stay safe – as a partnership, we will support the right of every child to 

live in a safe and secure environment, free from abuse, neglect and 

harm 

 
4.9 The South-East London Sustainability & Transformation Plan (‘Our Healthier 

South-East London’) was developed collaboratively by local authorities, CCGs 
and providers5. It identifies five priorities to make the sub-regional health and 
care system sustainable in the short, medium and long-term: 

 
 Developing consistent and high-quality community-based care (CBC) 

and prevention 
 Improving quality and reducing variation across both physical & mental 

health 
 Reducing cost through provider collaboration 
 Developing sustainable specialised services 
 Changing how we work together to deliver the transformation required 

 
4.10 Improved children’s mental health is a key priority for the STP, which has an 

associated work programme in place. 
 
5 BACKGROUND 
 

CAMHS Provision 
 
5.1. Lewisham CAMHS (excluding inpatient and some outpatient services) is 

commissioned by the CYP Joint Commissioning team on behalf of both NHS 
                                            
5 Local authorities/CCGs (Bexley, Bromley, Greenwich, Lambeth, Lewisham, Southwark); providers (Guys & St 

Thomas’ NHS Foundation Trust, King’s College Hospital Foundation Trust, Lewisham & Greenwich NHS Trust, 
South London & Maudsley NHS Foundation Trust, Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust, Bromley Healthcare CIC and 
primary care organisations) 

Page 80



5 

 

Lewisham CCG and Lewisham Council. Services are delivered by South 
London & Maudsley (SLAM) NHS Foundation Trust.  

 
5.2. Specialist community CAMHS support is available to all children and young 

people up to the age of 18 (21 for care leavers) where significant mental 
health concerns have been identified. It is delivered through five core teams, 
in addition to the crisis care team, which was formed in spring 2016 and the 
Children’s Wellbeing Practitioner Programme which was formed in 2017. 

 
Core CAMHS Teams: 
 
 Horizon – generic team covering the whole borough which supports 

young people who have significant mental health problems (providing a 
‘front door’ for the wider CAMHS service) 

 Adolescent Resource & Therapy Service (ARTS) – supporting young 
people who have offended or are at risk of offending and have mental 
health problems.  This service has been woven into the YOS to create 
the Lewisham YOS Wellbeing HUB 

 Symbol – supporting young people who have been in care or will 
remain in care for the foreseeable future 

 Neurodevelopmental Team (NDT) – supporting young people with a 
diagnosed moderate to severe learning disability and/or a complex 
neuro-developmental disorder e.g. autistic spectrum disorders 

 Lewisham Young People’s Service (LYPS) – supporting young 
people with severe mental illness or acute problems, including 
psychosis, repeated self-harm, personality disorder and acute 
depression 
 

More recent developments: 
 
 Crisis Care – supporting children and young people experiencing 

crisis, including emotional, behavioral and mental health difficulties 
requiring urgent support.   

 Children’s Wellbeing Practitioner (CWP) Programme - as part of the 
national CYP IAPT programme, trained wellbeing practitioners provide 
brief, focused and evidence-based interventions to young people 
affected by anxiety and low mood/depression. 

 School specific CAMHS posts to support Lewisham schools with 
issues associated with Social Emotional and Mental Health (SEMH), 
with the aim to prevent school exclusions. 

 Alchemy – CAMHS co-produced and co-delivered recovery college 
provides evidence based interventions for CYP across a range of 
themes including emotional regulation, LGBTQ+, neuro-development 
and cultural competency    

 
5.3 In addition to SLaM CAMHS services, the list below provides an overview of 

‘evidence based’ mental health and wellbeing support that are also available 
to Lewisham children and families: 

 

Page 81



6 

 

 The Young People’s Health and Wellbeing Service is operating 
across Lewisham for CYP aged 10-19 (up to 25 for children with 
additional needs), the online counselling element (Kooth.com) has 
been embedded within this offer, alongside substance misuse and 
sexual health support, offering a much more holistic offer to young 
people 

 CAMHS provision embedded in the Virtual School for Children 
Looked After, to improve educational outcomes of this cohort of CYP. 

 Liaison and Diversion provision in police custody suites, to identify 
health inequalities and divert young people away from the Youth Justice 
System 

 Trauma informed approach to training and supervision embedded 
within the Youth Offending Service 

 Perinatal Mental Health Support through a specialist midwife post and 
‘Mindful Mums’ parenting programme for new parents, to support those 
with low level concerns 

 Conduct and Behaviour Support for Parents of children aged 5-11 
years, through one of Lewisham’s Children and Family Centres 

 Youth Mental Health First Aid Training to support schools when 
working with children with emotional health needs 

 Suicide Prevention Training to support members of the children’s 
workforce, including schools and youth workers, when working with 
children with emotional health needs 

 
6. PERFORMANCE CONCERNS 
 
6.1 In late 2018, concerns were raised by both the local CAMHS provider (South 

London and Maudsley NHS Foundation Trust) and joint commissioners, 

regarding the high number of Lewisham children and young people waiting for 

more than 52 weeks for a CAMHS assessment.  This challenge was further 

highlighted, when it was evident that Lewisham performance was significantly 

poorer than the three other South London and Maudsley (SLaM) NHS 

Foundation Trust boroughs. 

6.2 Figure 1 indicates the position for ’52 week waits’ in SLaM CAMHS services in 
South London reported for Q2 2018 (the period relates to July-Sept and was 
reported in Oct 2018). 
 
Figure 1 - SLaM CAMHS Services 52 Week Waits from Referral to 
Assessment (October 2018) 

 

SLaM Boroughs 
           Numbers of CYP waiting more than 
          52 weeks for the first appointment 

Croydon         5 

Lambeth         11 

Lewisham         96 

Southwark         1 

 
 

Page 82



7 

 

7. STEPS TAKEN TO ADDRESS PERFORMANCE CONCERNS  
 
7.1 In October 2018, an Interim Service Manager was appointed in Lewisham 

CAMHS. Interim arrangements were then superseded by a permanent 
appointment of a Lewisham CAMHS Service Manager in August 2019. A key 
priority of this work is to work closely with colleagues to understand and 
address the concerns associated with waiting times.  

 
7.2      Between October 2018 and April 2019, a number of steps were taken to 

address performance concerns including the following: 
 

 In December’18, Children Wellbeing Practitioners (CWPs) made contact 
with children on the ’52 week wait’ list.  Since then, every child on that list 
has been contacted and assessed for risk.   

 Evening and Saturday clinics and evidence based group sessions were 
implemented throughout January, February and March in order to extend 
clinicians’ reach and work across the waiting list spectrum. 

 SLaM committed to bringing the Lewisham CAMHS ‘52 week wait’ list in 
line with our neighbouring boroughs by 31 March 2019.  Figure 2 confirms 
that position: 

 
Figure 2 – SLaM CAMHS Services 52 Week Waits from Referral to 
Assessment (March 2019) 

 

SLaM Boroughs 

           Numbers of CYP waiting more 
than 

          52 weeks for the first 
appointment 

Croydon         22 

Lambeth         13 

Lewisham         10 

Southwark         1 

 
Note: these numbers include a small number of young people who are 
registered as waiting to be seen by the local community CAMHS team but are, 
in fact, receiving active intervention and treatment from National CAMHS 
services (also delivered by SLaM). 

 
7.3  Between April 2019 and November 2019, key steps have been taken to 

address wider performance concerns: 
 

A response to member-led/NHSI recommendations  
 

o A new governance structure was implemented for CYP mental health and 
emotional wellbeing in line with the NHSI recommendations.  The Director of 
Education began chairing the Mental Health and Emotional Wellbeing 
Programme Board (MHEWPB) and a GP lead was identified for CYP mental 
health and emotional wellbeing.   

Page 83



8 

 

o A lead GP has been identified as the CYP mental lead and is responsible for 
chairing a newly established Delivery Group.  This group oversees the 
implementation of the Improvement Plan and reports into the MHEWPB, it remit 
it to develop more streamlined pathways alongside more efficient consent and 
referral mechanisms.  This programme of work has promoted closer partnership 
work between the NHS and non-NHS providers, which is hoped to ease the 
pressure on community CAMHS in the future. 

o In line with the NHSI recommendations, Lewisham hosted a large scale, cross-
sector, launch event in October for the conceptual framework, i-THRIVE6.  This 
was part one of an extensive implementation plan, to reduce fragmentation of 
services and improve cohesion and access to mental health provision.  i-
THRIVE was designed by the Tavistock and Portman NHS Foundation Trust, 
and the Anna Freud National Centre, in 2014.  The National i-THRIVE 
Community of Practice now covers over half (62%) of all children and young 
people in England.  Lewisham colleagues from a cross sector of agencies are 
enthusiastic about the framework’s capacity to strengthen and simplify the CYP 
mental health and emotional wellbeing system in Lewisham, thus promoting 
greater efficiencies.  

 
Collaborative commissioning initiatives  
 

o Findings from the two NHSE funded waiting list initiatives, delivered through 
collaborative commissioning arrangements between SLaM and one of our non-
NHS commissioned services Core Assets, from January 2019, proved positive, 
by impacting directly on reduced CAMHS waiting times.  This learning has 
resulted in Lewisham being awarded additional non-recurrent funding to deliver 
the same waiting list initiative in 2019/20. 
 
Workforce development  
 

o In 2019, Lewisham was successful in securing funding to implement two Mental 
Health Support Trailblazer Teams (MHST), as set out in the Transforming 
Children and Young People’s Mental Health: A Green Paper.  Much like 
Children Wellbeing Practitioners, Education Wellbeing Practitioners (EWP),  will 
deliver evidence based interventions to CYP with mild to moderate mental 
health difficulties with a particular focus on low mood and anxiety.  This initiative 
promotes collaboration between health and education, and increases the 
provision of psychological support within the community, somethng highlighted 
in Councillor Holland’s review.  MHSTs may well see an initial increase in 
demand on community CAMHS, as there will be additional opportunities for the 
identification of CYP with mental health difficulties in schools.  However, it is 
hoped that EWPs will reduce the pressure on community CAMHS over time.  

o In response to workforce concerns and high pressure vacancies, the Deputy 
Director for CAMHS has developed a ‘four borough’ workforce plan.  The 
workforce plan has resulted in the establishment of two additional, qualified, 
Children Wellbeing Practitioners and has  prompted the recruitment of a 
dedicated Transformation Manager for Lewisham CAMHS, whose objectives 
link to waiting list management alongside demand and capacity mapping.  A 

                                            
6 http://implementingthrive.org/  

Page 84

http://implementingthrive.org/


9 

 

newly established prescribing nurse has created additional capacity in the 
Neuro-Development pathway and recruitment is underway for Mental Health 
Support Teams, as outlined above. 

o In order to better manage waiting lists, CAMHS have recruited new referral 
coordinators.  This will result in better decision making and signposting from the 
point of entry into CAMHS and will further enhance the interface between 
CAMHS and non-NHS mental health and wellbeing providers.  
 
Demand, capacity and performance management  
 

o SLaM are working across the wider six borough, SE London Sustainability 
Transformation Programme (STP) to implement a nationally recognised 
demand and capacity approach, the System Dynamic Modelling Tool.  This 
work will complement SLaM’s internal demand and capacity programme, which 
will ensure that service leads are able to better manage and respond to demand 
and throughput within CAMHS.  

o Lewisham CAMHS are engaged in an internal quality improvement programme 
which aims to improve on referral to treatment targets. 

o SLaM have increased the capacity within the local crisis team, which means 
that community teams no longer need to respond to crisis cases on a rota 
system.  Practitioners are therefore able to increase the number of assessment 
and treatment appointments that they can offer. 

o Whist data quality is an ongoing challenge for SLaM CAMHS, SLaM launched 
a new ‘four borough’ performance dashboard in September 2019/20.  This 
dashboard will be updated on a monthly basis, as opposed to the previous 
quarterly approach and allows more effective data comparisons and 
benchmarking across the four boroughs.  As part of this development, NHS 
Improvement are working with SLaM and commissioners to develop a set of 
Key Performance Indicators, against which performance will be measured.  
Waiting list targets will be an area of focus within this work stream. The 
dashboard is under development.  In the interest of transparency and 
performance management, commissioners are eager to progress this work 
programme.  

o CAMHS are working to provide Saturday clinics, which are proven to achieve 
better attendance rates than weekday clinics.  

 
7.4      SLaM have sustained improvements in relation to 52 week waiters.  Figure 3 

confirms the position in September 2019.   
 

Figure 3 – SLaM CAMHS Services 52 Week Waits from Referral to 
Assessment (September 2019) 

 

SLaM Boroughs 

           Numbers of CYP waiting 
more than 

          52 weeks for the first 
appointment 

Croydon 59 

Lambeth 9 

Lewisham 11 

Southwark 6 

Page 85



10 

 

 
 
7.5  Figure 4 depicts the numbers of CYP that have been waiting for 39 weeks or 

more between April 2018 and September 2019.  Whilst improvements have 
been achieved, an upward trend in relation to 39 week waiters has been 
evident since June 2019.  If this is not effectively managed, then the number 
of 39 week waiters will increase the number of 52 week waiters through the 
effluxion of time. 

 
 Figure 4 – Lewisham Patients Waiting Over 39 weeks 

 

 
Note: 2019/20/06 refers to the sixth month in the current financial year, 2019/20 
(i.e. 20/09/19). 

 
8. AREAS FOR IMMINENT ACTION 
 

 Newly established monthly commissioning meetings will enhance 
transparency and drive data quality. 

 Performance will be assured through the delivery of a detailed and holistic, 
monthly dashboard, including a waiting list target. 

 SLaM will work with Joint Commissioners to ensure that the monthly 
dashboard provides the requisite levels of information with a particular focus 
on newly established Key Performance Indicators. 

 SLaM will provide assurance that the progress made to date against waiting 
times is sustained longer term. 

 SLaM remain committed to effectively meeting the needs of a growing number 
of CYP that have been waiting for 39 weeks or more for their first 
appointment. 

 Assurance is given that SLaM will maintain an ongoing commitment to 
implementing the recommendations within the Improvement Plan, which 
includes proactive engagement in demand and capacity activity. 

 SLaM will provide regular and detailed updates on the workforce development 
plan. 

 SLaM will continue to work with non-NHS providers to develop seamless 
pathways for CYP.  

 In order to implement the Improvement Plan and enhance effective cross-
sector working, the CYP Joint Commissioners will prioritise the smooth 
running of the re-focused mental health and emotional wellbeing governance 
structure.  

Page 86



11 

 

 The CCG and the LA will continue to work together to ensure funding levels 
are sustained to enable sufficient delivery against national children’s mental 
health targets and requirements.  

 
9. CONCLUSION   
 
9.1 Joint Commissioners continue to work closely with SLaM and other agencies 

when delivering against recommendations 
o The peer-on-peer element of the member-led review has been incorporated 

into the specification for a new participation and co-production approach, 
known as the Alchemy project  

o In line with the NHSI recommendations, Lewisham hosted a large scale, cross-
sector, launch event in October for the conceptual framework, i-THRIVE.  This 
was part one of an extensive implementation plan.  Lewisham colleagues from 
a cross sector of agencies are enthusiastic about the framework’s capacity to 
increase the coherence of the CYP mental health and emotional wellbeing offer 
in Lewisham.  

o Joint commissioners are working closely with SLaM in order to develop the 
CAMHS performance dashboard and associated KPIs in order to increase 
transparency and oversight with a particular focus on waiting lists. 

 
10.  FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
10.1 Given their statutory duty, NHS Lewisham CCG is the main funder to 

Lewisham CAMHS. 
 
10.2 As outlined in previous reports commissioners have increased overall funding 

to CAMHS year on year between 2015/16 and 2020/21 for clinical staff based 
in community settings.  A full breakdown of CYP mental health budgets are 
contained in section 7 of the refreshed CAMHS Transformation Plan 20197.   

 
10.3   The table below shows the funding available for this service in the financial 

year 2019/20.  It should be noted that in 2018/19 the LA gross budget was 
slightly lower at £1.072m.   

 

 2019/20 £m 

Gross Budget £1.075 

  

Funded by :  

NHS Lewisham CCG £0.072 

Dedicated Schools Grant £0.100 

General Fund £0.903 

 
 
10.4 Current service improvements are being achieved within this funding 

envelope.  
  

                                            
7 https://www.lewishamccg.nhs.uk/about-us/our-
plans/Documents/NHS%20Lewisham%20CCG%20CAMHS%20Transformation%20Plan%202019.pdf  

Page 87

https://www.lewishamccg.nhs.uk/about-us/our-plans/Documents/NHS%20Lewisham%20CCG%20CAMHS%20Transformation%20Plan%202019.pdf
https://www.lewishamccg.nhs.uk/about-us/our-plans/Documents/NHS%20Lewisham%20CCG%20CAMHS%20Transformation%20Plan%202019.pdf


12 

 

11.  LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
11.1 It is a CCG’s statutory responsibility to provide adequate access to children’s 

mental health services. 
 
11.2 Decisions about changes in service and any impacts on delivery to service 

users must be made in accordance with the Council’s legal duties.  Those 
duties include those under the Equality Act 2010 (the Act) which introduced a 
new public sector equality duty (the equality duty or the duty).  This covers the 
following nine protected characteristics: age, disability, gender reassignment, 
marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or 
belief, sex and sexual orientation. 

 
11.3 In summary, the Council must, in the exercise of its functions, have due 

regard to the need to: 

 eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other 
conduct prohibited by the Act. 

 advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected 
characteristic and those who do not. 

 foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic 
and those who do not. 
 

11.4 The duty is a “have regard duty”, and the weight to be attached to it is a 
matter for the Mayor, bearing in mind the issues of relevance and 
proportionality. It is not an absolute requirement to eliminate unlawful 
discrimination, advance equality of opportunity or foster good relations. 

 
11.5 The Equality and Human Rights Commission has issued Technical 

Guidance on the Public Sector Equality Duty and statutory guidance entitled 
“Equality Act 2010 Services, Public Functions & Associations Statutory Code 
of Practice”.  The Council must have regard to the statutory code in so far as 
it relates to the duty and attention is drawn to Chapter 11 which deals 
particularly with the equality duty. The Technical Guidance also covers what 
public authorities should do to meet the duty. This includes steps that are 
legally required, as well as recommended actions. The guidance does not 
have statutory force but nonetheless regard should be had to it, as failure to 
do so without compelling reason would be of evidential value. The statutory 
code and the technical guidance can be found at:  
http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/legal-and-policy/equality-act/equality-
act-codes-of-practice-and-technical-guidance/ 

 
11.6 The Equality and Human Rights Commission (EHRC) has previously issued 

five guides for public authorities in England giving advice on the equality 
duty:  

 
 1. The essential guide to the public sector equality duty 
 2. Meeting the equality duty in policy and decision-making  
 3. Engagement and the equality duty 
 4. Equality objectives and the equality duty 
   5. Equality information and the equality duty 

Page 88

http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/legal-and-policy/equality-act/equality-act-codes-of-practice-and-technical-guidance/
http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/legal-and-policy/equality-act/equality-act-codes-of-practice-and-technical-guidance/


13 

 

 
11.7 The ‘Essential guide’ provides an overview of the equality duty requirements 

including the general equality duty, the specific duties and who they apply to. 
It covers what public authorities should do to meet the duty including steps 
that are legally required, as well as recommended actions. The other four 
documents provide more detailed guidance on key areas and advice on 
good practice. Further information and resources are available at: 
http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/advice-and-guidance/public-sector-
equality-duty/guidance-on-the-equality-duty/ 

 
  
12.  EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
12.1 Equality implications are significant for this cohort of young people and have 

been fully considered when developing and refreshing the local CAMHS 
Transformation Plan. Implications have also been considered when 
implementing wider mental health developments, specific actions relating to 
equalities have been incorporated into the broader work plan. 

 
13. ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
13.1 There are no specific environmental implications arising from this report. 
 
 
14.  CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS 
 
14.1 There are no specific crime and disorder implications arising from this report. 
 
 
If there are any queries about this report, please contact:  
 
Jessica Juon 
Joint Commissioner, CYP Mental Health and Emotional Wellbeing, CYP Joint 
Commissioning 
Jessica.juon@lewisham.gov.uk  
 
Caroline Hirst  
Service Manager, CYP Joint Commissioning & LAC Placements Team 
Caroline.hirst@lewisham.gov.uk  

  
 

Page 89

http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/advice-and-guidance/public-sector-equality-duty/guidance-on-the-equality-duty/
http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/advice-and-guidance/public-sector-equality-duty/guidance-on-the-equality-duty/


This page is intentionally left blank



1 

 

 

CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE SELECT COMMITTEE 
 

Report Title 
 

Review of Recruitment and Retention of School Staff: 6 month 
update 

Key Decision 
 

No Item No. 7 

Ward All 

Contributors 
 

Angela Scattergood, Director of Education  

Class Open 
 

Date 5th December 2019 

 

1. Purpose of the paper 

1.1. As part of its work programme the CYP Select Committee undertook an in-depth 
review into issues relating to the recruitment and retention of school staff between 
June 2017 and December 2017. In June 2018 the committee reported on its findings 
and made a series of recommendations. 
 

1.2. An update was provided to the committee in February 2019, six months on from the 
publication of the report, on action taken and planned towards each of the 
recommendations, mainly from the Children and Young People Directorate. The 
committee have asked for a brief update o0n the ongoing work towards the 
recommendations.  
 

1.3. The committee is recommended to comment on progress and note the report. 

2.  Update on progress on action taken/ planned towards recommendations 

 

2.1. Please see Appendix One below for November 2019 updates for each of the 21 

recommendations made by CYP Select Committee. 

 

2.2. Some key points to note: 

 

2.2.1. After extensive consultation with stakeholders, ‘Lewisham’s commitment to 
managing teaching staff and support staff workload’ (recommendation 7) was 
circulated to schools on 9th October 2019. It sets the context, identifies key 
principles and good practice, and proposes a commitment for headteachers 
and governors to consider. It coincided with a stronger focus on workload and 
staff wellbeing in the new Ofsted inspection framework, launched in 
September 2019. The Commitment can be found in Appendix 2. 
 

2.2.2. The three Lewisham Learning hubs were launched on 31st October at The 
Horniman Museum. The hubs will provide opportunities for cross-phase 
professional collaboration and development within the areas of Humanities, 
the Arts and Mental Health and Wellbeing, in line with several of the 
recommendations, particularly 3 and 9. 

Page 91

Agenda Item 7



2 

 

 

 
 

2.2.3. The school Human Resources (HR) service has been working successfully in 
partnership with colleagues across the council to promote apprenticeships in 
schools to support professional development for a range of school staff. 
 

3.  Financial implications  
 

3.1. There are no specific financial implications arising from this report.  
 

4.  Legal implications  
 

4.1. The legislative provisions relating to the appointment and dismissal of school staff is 
contained in sections 35 and 36 of the Education Act 2002 and the School Staffing 
Regulations 2009 (as amended). Local authorities with responsibility for education 
employ the staff working at community schools. The governing body is the employer 
of staff working at voluntary aided and foundation schools. Notwithstanding the local 
authority being the employer in community schools it is the governing body who has 
responsibility for all staffing matters including the appointment and dismissal of all 
staff and accordingly the local authority must generally follow the instructions given 
to it by the governing body in respect of appointments and dismissals.  
 

4.2. The officer actions set out in the report appear consistent with the limitations on the 
local authority’s powers in relation to staffing matters within maintained schools.  

5.   Equalities implications 

5.1. In summary, the Council must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to the 
need to:  

 eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other 
conduct prohibited by the Act.  

 advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected 
characteristic and those who do not.  

 foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic 
and those who do not.  

 
5.2. It is not an absolute requirement to eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment, 

victimisation or other prohibited conduct, or to promote equality of opportunity or 
foster good relations between persons who share a protected characteristic and 
those who do not. It is a duty to have due regard to the need to achieve the goals 
listed at 5.2. above. 
 

5.3. The weight to be attached to the duty will be dependent on the nature of the decision 
and the circumstances in which it is made. This is a matter for the Mayor, bearing in 
mind the issues of relevance and proportionality. The Mayor must understand the 
impact or likely impact of the decision on those with protected characteristics who are 
potentially affected by the decision. The extent of the duty will necessarily vary from 
case to case and due regard is such regard as is appropriate in all the circumstances. 

 

Page 92



3 

 

5.4. The Equality and Human Rights Commission has issued Technical Guidance on the 
Public Sector Equality Duty and statutory guidance entitled “Equality Act 2010 
Services, Public Functions & Associations Statutory Code of Practice”. The Council 
must have regard to the statutory code in so far as it relates to the duty and attention 
is drawn to Chapter 11 which deals particularly with the equality duty. The Technical 
Guidance also covers what public authorities should do to meet the duty. This 
includes steps that are legally required, as well as recommended actions. The 
guidance does not have statutory force but nonetheless regard should be had to it, 
as failure to do so without compelling reason would be of evidential value. The 
statutory code and the technical guidance can be found at:  

https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/equality-act-codes-practice 
  
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/equality-act-technical-
guidance 
  
5.5. The Equality and Human Rights Commission (EHRC) has previously issued five 

guides for public authorities in England giving advice on the equality duty:  

 The essential guide to the public sector equality duty  

 Meeting the equality duty in policy and decision-making  

 Engagement and the equality duty: A guide for public authorities  

 Objectives and the equality duty. A guide for public authorities  

 Equality Information and the Equality Duty: A Guide for Public Authorities  
 
5.6. The essential guide provides an overview of the equality duty requirements including 

the general equality duty, the specific duties and who they apply to. It covers what 
public authorities should do to meet the duty including steps that are legally required, 
as well as recommended actions. The other four documents provide more detailed 
guidance on key areas and advice on good practice. Further information and 
resources are available at:  

https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/public-sector-equality-duty-
guidance 
 
5.7. The council and schools have to balance the need to support staff recruitment and 

retention in shortage areas with the need to be fair to all staff and to promote 
equalities and all times. Of course the sufficiency and quality of education is an 
equalities issue for our wider population. 
 

6.  Crime and Disorder Implications  
 

6.1. There are no specific crime and disorder implications arising from this report.  
 

7. Environmental Implications  

7.1. There are no specific environmental implications arising from this 

 

Page 93

https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/equality-act-codes-practice
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/equality-act-technical-guidance
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/equality-act-technical-guidance
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/public-sector-equality-duty-guidance
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/public-sector-equality-duty-guidance


4 

 

APPENDIX 1- CYP Select Committee Review of Recruitment and Retention of School Staff: 6 month update on 

recommendations  

  
Recommendations Executive response Agreed actions June 2018 Feb 2019 update November 2019 update 

1 That, where 
appropriate, teaching 
assistants are 
actively encouraged 
to qualify as teachers 
and given 
appropriate 
mentoring to facilitate 
this. 

Many schools have already supported 
teaching assistants to qualify as teachers 
as ‘growing your own’ is a recognised 
strategy by senior leaders and governing 
bodies. This is an approach that we 
should welcome and encourage. 
Providing appropriate support and 
training for teaching assistants is the 
responsibility of each school. Non-
teaching staff are entitled to an annual 
performance appraisal at which their 
learning and development should be 
discussed. Schools regularly include 
teaching assistants in their whole school 
training plan and often support individuals 
to progress in their learning by identifying 
additional training/ support they need to 
progress and succeed. Mentoring, may 
be important for some TAs but for others 
different help may be required. There will 
be some financial and equality 
implications which will need to be 
considered on an individual basis by each 
school.  
 

Officers will remind 
headteachers of the value in 
actively encouraging teaching 
assistants to qualify as teachers 
and remind them of the need to 
make available appropriate 
advice and support to enable 
such individuals to select the 
best possible pathway and 
access the help they may need to 
achieve this.  
 

This work is done by 
officers and members of 
the School Improvement 
Board from Lewisham 
Learning during school 
visits. Schools in the 
borough already do this 
and have done for some 
time. Lewisham Partnership 
of Teaching School 
Alliances (LTSAP) are also 
promoting this model to 
school leaders on an 
annual basis. This includes 
promoting the Schools 
Direct Training route to 
schools. 
 
This will also be addressed 
as part of the Education 
Communication Strategy 
which is being developed, 
Spring 2019. 
 
 

Officers are promoting 
use of the Apprenticeship 
Levy and the Mayor’s 
Apprenticeship 
Programme to upskill 
teaching assistants, 
school business 
managers and senior 
leaders.  
There are in excess of 15 
members of schools staff 
undertaking 
apprenticeships. 

2 That financial 

incentives to 

encourage teachers 

to join struggling 

schools be 

considered. 

Financial incentives – while not the only 
consideration – can be an important 
element in attracting good staff. The 
School Teachers’ Pay and Conditions1 
Document 2017 already covers the ability 
for schools to do this under section 27 
recruitment and retention incentives, but 

Officers will remind governing 
bodies and headteachers to 
carefully consider the 
mechanisms identified within the 
School Teachers’ Pay and 
Conditions document 2017 (or 
any future documentation) which 

Schools HR and school 
improvement officers are 
advising schools to consult 
the School Teachers’ Pay 
and Conditions document 
regarding mechanisms 
which can support schools 

Schools HR continue to 
advise schools as 
outlined. 

P
age 94



5 

 

  
Recommendations Executive response Agreed actions June 2018 Feb 2019 update November 2019 update 

not all headteachers / Governing Bodies 
may be familiar with this. Each Governing 
Body will need to be clear about the pros 
and cons of this approach and make 
decisions based on need and 
circumstance. There may be financial and 
equalities implications for schools if this 
approach is taken which will need to be 
considered by each Governing Body. Any 
incentives agreed would need to form 
part of the school’s pay policy. 
 

can support schools who are 
struggling to recruit and retain 
quality staff.  

 

who are struggling to recruit 
and retain quality staff. This 
advice is given to governing 
bodies and senior leaders 
at the point of individual 
recruitment and when 
revising pay policies to 
ensure such measures are 
fair and equitable. 
 
. 

3 That schools support 

the development of 

professional 

networks (both online 

and ‘in person’) for 

their teachers, where 

ideas, concerns and 

solutions can be 

shared. An informal 

mentoring scheme 

could be a useful 

element of such 

networks. 

Most schools have a variety of support 

available to all staff (teachers and non-

teachers). This may include social 

networks (which need to be properly 

regulated) as well as staff forums and 

informal support networks/ mentors. 

Schools use a range of mechanisms to 

share ideas and solutions including 

through a range of networks and 

professional development opportunities. 

Some schools also have Health and 

Safety Committees which can provide a 

helpful forum for staff to share concerns 

which are impacting on health and safety 

in the workplace – including workload.  

 

Officers will ask Lewisham 
Learning to identify good 
practice in schools ensuring that 
teaching and non-teaching staff 
have the support they need 
through social media and other 
channels and ensure that all 
schools are active participants in 
Lewisham Learning, sharing 
ideas and best practice with 
other schools in Lewisham and 
beyond.  
 

Lewisham Learning is 
launching (March 2019) the 
introduction of Learning 
Hubs that will address this 
point. The hubs will 
facilitate sharing ideas and 
best practice among 
Lewisham schools on key 
issues. The first hubs will 
cover: 

• humanities 
• the creative arts 

(music, art and 
dance) 

• mental health and 
well-being 

 

LTSAP are facilitating a 
range of professional 
networking forums: 

 Subject Leader 
Networks 

 Deputy 
Headteacher 
Forum 

 Early Years 
Foundation Stage 
Network 

 STEEP meet- 
research & 
practice sharing 

 

The three Lewisham 
Learning hubs were 
launched on 31st October 
The hubs will provide 
opportunities for cross-
phase professional 
collaboration and P

age 95



6 

 

  
Recommendations Executive response Agreed actions June 2018 Feb 2019 update November 2019 update 

development within the 
areas of Humanities, the 
Arts and Mental Health 
and Wellbeing. The focus 
will be on sharing good 
practice, action research 
and developing 
professional partnerships 
across schools. 

4 That schools 

consider increasing 

Continuous 

Professional 

Development from 

the usual five days 

per year to seven or 

more. 

It is important that schools consider 
whether additional CPD could improve 
performance and impact on recruitment 
and retention.  
Maintained schools do however need to 
abide by the Teacher terms and 
conditions which are set within the School 
Teachers’ Pay and Conditions Document 
2017 and cannot be amended. This sets 
the number of inset days staff can be 
expected to work as 5. These days are in 
addition to the 190 days of education, 
which maintained schools are required to 
provide for children as a minimum. Again 
this is a statutory requirement on 
maintained schools. Academies have 
much greater flexibility. 

That Lewisham Learning look for 
models of good practice in 
organisation of CPD in ways that 
fits with teachers’ terms and 
conditions and other statutory 
requirements. 

This is ongoing and 

Lewisham Learning is 

working in conjunction with 

LTSAP. Our current model 

of delivery is in line with 

both local and national 

approaches but we looking 

at models which allow 

schools greater flexibility. 

The LA and the partnership 

are working hard to ensure 

that our CPD offer is 

relevant (through our 

knowledge base from 

working in many schools 

and identifying key areas 

for CPD, such as 

unconscious bias); and 

efficient in terms of time 

and accessibility- 

condensing full day courses 

to half day, for example 

 

This remains ongoing with 

Lewisham Learning 

working in conjunction 

with LTSAP. Examples 

include CPD through staff 

meetings/ use of planning, 

preparation and 

assessment (PPA) time 

and programmes that are 

not INSET. 

 

P
age 96



7 

 

  
Recommendations Executive response Agreed actions June 2018 Feb 2019 update November 2019 update 

5 (A) That schools 

supply the following 

data to the Council 

on an annual basis: 

- teacher numbers 

per school 

- any vacancies 

lasting longer than 3 

months 

- turnover rates 

- NQT numbers 

- a summary of 

reasons given by 

teachers for leaving 

[see (C) below]. 

The Council will 

share this 

information with the 

Schools Forum. 

(B) That schools 

keep a record of 

NQT pathways 

(recording whether 

they stay in the 

borough and for how 

long). 

The LA is required to collect some data 
every November as part of the annual 
School Workforce Data Census. Teacher 
numbers per school are already collected 
as part of this data capture. However, the 
other data listed in A) and B) above is not 
collected as part of this census. 
Collecting data on this scale would be 
both time consuming for schools and the 
LA. There would also be potentially 
significant financial implications of 
undertaking this activity for both schools 
and the LA which would need to be 
considered. 
 
LtsaP would want this to include ITT 
placements across LBL schools and the 
ITT partnerships they caome from. Eg. 
Goldsmiths, STEEP, ETAL, Bromley 
Schools Collegiate, IOU etc…. 

Officers will work with Lewisham 
Learning and with LTSAP to 
consider the data regarding staff 
retention and recruitment which 
could be useful to collect and 
analyse across the borough, and 
agree which body would be best 
placed to lead this activity and 
how this could be resourced. 

Schools HR and Lewisham 

Learning are working on 

developing a standardised 

exit interview proforma for 

use in schools- collecting 

examples of god practice 

from other Local 

Authorities.  

As noted in June 2018, 

expanding data collection 

requirements for schools 

would be both time 

consuming for schools and 

the LA. There would also 

be potentially significant 

financial implications of 

undertaking this activity for 

both schools and the LA. 

 

The standardised exit 

interview proforma has 

been agreed and is now 

available for schools to 

use. 

P
age 97



8 

 

  
Recommendations Executive response Agreed actions June 2018 Feb 2019 update November 2019 update 

(C) That schools 

conduct online 

anonymised entry 

and exit interviews 

and provide the 

information collected 

to the council on an 

annual basis, in 

addition to using it to 

inform their 

recruitment and 

retention policies. 

6 That the Council 

works with schools to 

enlist Lewisham’s 

Teach First Alumni 

as advocates for the 

borough’s schools, 

as good places to 

work, as part of a 

formal advocate 

programme. 

LTSAP (Lewisham Teaching School 
Alliance Partnership) is the partnership 
which is responsible for supporting 
schools to find and recruit NQTs (newly 
qualified teachers). There are 4 Teaching 
School Alliances in Lewisham and these 
are the organisations which are 
responsible for the provision of 
continuous professional development for 
schools.  
This partnership already undertakes an 
annual ‘Teach in Lewisham’ event which 
is co-ordinated across the 4 Teaching 
Schools in addition to supporting 
individuals through the training and 
support offered to NQTs.  
 

Officers will work with LTSAP to 
develop a mechanism to ensure 
that all NQTs who train and then 
secure employment in Lewisham 
(including Teach First Alumni) 
are encouraged to become 
advocates for the borough’s 
schools, and actively use these 
advocates where appropriate and 
possible to support the 
recruitment of trainee teachers 
and NQTs to the borough. 

Lewisham’s four Teaching 

Schools all recruit School 

Direct trainees. The LA will 

work with the Teaching 

Schools to produce case 

studies from trainees who 

are still teaching in the 

borough. 

 

LTSAP has also hosted 3 

‘Teach in Lewisham’ events 

on Saturday mornings to 

promote teaching in 

Lewisham. 

There continues to be a 

range of Initial Teacher 

Training in Lewisham with 

Schools Direct provided 

by Teaching Schools and 

Provider Led courses on 

placement in Lewisham 

schools. 

Work will begin in Spring 
2010 to develop a 
Recruitment & Retention 
Policy focused on raising 
the profile of attracting 
teachers to Lewisham. 

 

P
age 98



9 

 

  
Recommendations Executive response Agreed actions June 2018 Feb 2019 update November 2019 update 

7 That the Council, in 

partnership with 

schools and unions, 

creates a fair 

workload charter and 

promotes the 

concept across all 

Lewisham schools. 

We recognise and applaud the hard work 
and dedication of our school leaders and 
their teaching and non-teaching staff. It is 
obviously in the interests of everyone 
involved in our schools that they are as 
far as possible places of work in which all 
staff are able to lead healthy and 
productive working lives. That will benefit 
the adults who work there, but also 
contribute to a learning environment in 
which our children are most likely to 
thrive. That is why the new Mayor has 
signalled his strong support for the idea of 
our schools developing a Fair Workload 
Charter. 
This kind of initiative appears to have 
been welcomed in other authorities and 
the Council will work with partners, 
including teachers, to consider the best 
approach for our schools. The creation 
and agreement of a ‘Charter’ may of 
course take time and effort to develop, 
and it will be of benefit only in proportion 
to the extent that school governing bodies 
choose to adopt it. The LA could not 
require this. Any local initiative would also 
have to take account of the legislative 
background: the School Teachers’ Pay 
and Conditions Document 2017 includes 
a great deal of information which must be 
followed by all schools including work/ life 
balance, working hours and planning and 
preparation time, among other things. 
The LA Schools’ HR team is funded 
entirely from schools purchasing of the 
Service Level Agreement packages which 

Officers will organise a task and 
finish group with Headteachers 
and Chairs of Governors, 
working with trades unions to 
explore the process of 
developing and agreeing a Fair 
Workload Charter to support the 
recruitment and retention of 
teachers in Lewisham. 

Lewisham schools through 

their Headteachers and 

Governors and Trustees 

are determined to address 

issues relating to workload 

of teaching and support 

staff. This is to meet 

reasonable needs of staff to 

work effectively for the 

benefit of children and 

young people. It is also a 

fundamental part of 

securing school 

improvement. By doing so 

standards of achievement 

and attainment will further 

improve in Lewisham 

schools and contribute to 

strengthening communities. 

A Working Group of 

Headteachers and officers 

has prepared a draft 

document   ‘Lewisham’s 

commitment to managing 

teaching staff and support 

staff workload’. That 

document sets the context, 

identifies key principles and 

good practice, and 

proposes a commitment for 

Headteachers and 

Governors to consider. 

The Lewisham Workload 

Commitment has been 

circulated to schools. 

The Ofsted September 

2019 school inspection 

framework acknowledges 

the importance a 

reasonable workload for 

staff and how this impacts 

on outcomes for pupils. It 

outlines how school 

leaders and governors 

need take into account 

the workload and well-

being of their staff, while 

also developing and 

strengthening the quality 

of the workforce.  

Lewisham Learning held a 

number events to support 

schools and governors to 

consider how they will 

meet these requirements. 

P
age 99



10 

 

  
Recommendations Executive response Agreed actions June 2018 Feb 2019 update November 2019 update 

are provided to them. As this would be 
the team who would need to lead the 
development of a Fair Workload Charter, 
this would need to be agreed with schools 
in the first instance. It would be important 
to ensure that schools leaders and 
governors explore this concept and are 
fully on board before committing 
resources to the process. 

Officers have consulted the 

School Teachers’ Joint 

Committee. 

Lewisham schools 

recognise the importance of 

recruiting and retaining 

good staff.   

It is for each Lewisham 

school to determine its 

response to issues relating 

to the workload of teaching 

staff and support staff since 

responsibility sits with 

Governors/Trustees but 

schools have welcomed the 

recent work in this area. 

 

 

 

8 That schools are 

allowed to advertise 

vacancies on the 

Council website free 

of charge if they are 

experiencing acute 

staffing problems. 

All schools currently have a very good 
deal on advertising costs, paying only 
£265 per year for unlimited advertising 
across the Council website and other 
publications as part of a deal arranged by 
the Schools’ HR team. Without this deal it 
would cost schools £710 per advert for 
the same cover. Schools with acute 
staffing problems and high numbers of 
posts to advertise do not have to pay any 

It is proposed not to change the 
current policy as it represents 
good value for money for 
schools. 

We are developing our use 

of social media to support 

schools advertising 

positions. Lewisham 

Learning tweets Headship 

and other Senior Leader 

adverts from its twitter feed. 

No further update, the 

ongoing arrangement 

outlined in the Executive 

response represents 

value for money. 

P
age 100



11 

 

  
Recommendations Executive response Agreed actions June 2018 Feb 2019 update November 2019 update 

additional money to cover the costs of 
additional adverts, paying only the flat 
fee. 

These are frequently then 

retweeted by others. 

. 

9 That schools co-

ordinate recruitment 

across more than 

one school in subject 

areas where there is 

a shortage of 

teachers. 

 

A number of schools have discussed this 
strategy already and schools do refer 
good candidates onto other schools 
where they have more than one good 
candidate, but there are potential 
contractual issues relating to more formal 
arrangements such as ‘joint 
appointments’. Whilst schools could 
jointly advertise for similar positions, this 
could generate an increase in interest to 
the roles available, but does risk a 
‘bidding war’ to recruit and retain the best 
candidates. Alternatively, one school 
could appoint a skilled member of staff to 
support other schools (this has been 
done within Lewisham Learning and the 
ATLAS teaching school as part of the 
Secondary Challenge work) but this can 
have contractual issues too and there are 
aspects of financial and reputational risk 
which individual schools would need to 
consider. 
4.9.2 However, working together across a 
number of schools to recruit highly skilled 
staff can be highly successful – but this is 
most easily achieved when schools are in 
a formal hard federation as contractual 
issues are many fewer if staff are 
appointed to the federation. There are 
already 7 hard federations within the 
borough comprising a total of 16 schools 

The local authority and 
Lewisham Learning will continue 
to promote collaborative models 
of working including hard 
federation and/ or amalgamation 
and other collaborative solutions 
to ensure that governing bodies 
are well placed to recruit and 
retain staff. 

We have continued to 

promote collaborative 

models such as supporting 

the ongoing e.g. 

Partnership work between 

Stillness Infant and Junior 

Schools, the new Learning 

Hubs (see 3, above). 

Several schools have 

created arrangements to 

give staff opportunities to 

work in other schools 

where there are subject 

shortages, or a need for 

admin/finance capacity and 

reports of these 

arrangements are very 

positive (from heads and 

staff) 

 

Work continues as 
outlined in February 2019. 

 

P
age 101



12 

 

  
Recommendations Executive response Agreed actions June 2018 Feb 2019 update November 2019 update 

along with the Haberdashers academy 
chain (which enjoys the same benefits) 
and 3 Infant and Junior schools which 
have realised that amalgamation into 
primary schools is a pragmatic and 
positive solution so more and more 
schools in Lewisham are realising the 
benefits of partnership working to address 
the issues of staff recruitment and 
retention. 

10 That schools provide 

travel subsidy as an 

incentive to those 

teachers who move 

out of borough to 

remain in 

employment in 

Lewisham. 

School Teachers’ Pay and Conditions 
Document 2017 already covers the ability 
for schools to do this under section 27 
recruitment and retention incentives, but 
not all headteachers / Governing Bodies 
may be familiar with this. If schools use 
this provision they will need to consider 
the financial and equalities implications of 
any such decision. Any incentives agreed 
would need to form part of the school’s 
pay policy. 

Officers will remind governing 
bodies and headteachers to 
carefully consider the 
mechanisms identified within the 
School Teachers’ Pay and 
Conditions Document 2017 (or 
any future documentation) which 
can support schools who are 
struggling to recruit and retain 
quality staff. 

Schools HR and school 
improvement officers are 
advising schools to consult 
the School Teachers’ Pay 
and Conditions document 
regarding mechanisms 
which can support schools 
who are struggling to recruit 
and retain quality staff. This 
advice is given to governing 
bodies and senior leaders 
at the point of individual 
recruitment and when 
revising pay policies to 
ensure such measures are 
fair and equitable.  

 

HR continue to advise 
schools as outlined in 
February 2019. 

11 A) That the Council 

explores the ways 

that new 

intermediate housing 

supply can best 

support key workers, 

Lewisham like the rest of London is facing 
a housing crisis. 70% of the nation’s 
homeless households are in temporary 
accommodation in London. In Lewisham 
the number of social/affordable rented 
homes that become available for families 
to rent each year is around 1,200 while 

The Council’s Housing Team will 
explore with its housing delivery 
partners the ways that new 
intermediate housing supply that 
best support key workers, 
including teachers is marketed 
and opportunities are brought to 

The Council now works 

with the GLA to promote 

intermediate affordable 

homes that are delivered 

within Lewisham through 

the Homes for London 

No further update to the 

arrangement outlined in 

February 2019. 

P
age 102



13 

 

  
Recommendations Executive response Agreed actions June 2018 Feb 2019 update November 2019 update 

including teachers. 

This will include 

schemes where the 

Council partners with 

a commercial sector 

organisation. 

Consideration should 

be given, for 

example, to ring-

fencing London 

Living Rent housing 

for teachers, tied to a 

contract requiring 

employment in a 

Lewisham School for 

a fixed period or for 

the whole length of a 

tenancy. 

B) When granting 

planning permission 

for large scale 

private housing 

developments, the 

Council should 

consider the 

feasibility of requiring 

a percentage of the 

homes available for 

rent to be let at the 

‘London Living Rent’ 

level and ring fenced 

for key workers, 

including teachers, 

Lewisham has over 10,000 households in 
need registered for housing and 2,000 
homeless households in temporary 
accommodation. The supply of affordable 
rented homes has reduced by almost 
50% over the last 10 years while the 
number of homeless households has 
increased by 90%. There is therefore a 
chronic shortage of good quality 
affordable housing. In this context it is 
almost impossible to ring fence any 
housing that becomes available to 
specific groups of key workers. 
Nevertheless there are schemes 
available to help teachers and other key 
workers access intermediate housing 
properties. These schemes already have 
criteria attached such as lower income 
levels and residential and/or employment 
periods of time in the borough. 

the attention of teachers and 
other keyworkers as they 
become available. This will 
include the Besson Street 
scheme and other similar 
innovative schemes where the 
Council partners with a 
commercial sector organisation 
for affordable and London Living 
rented as well as low cost home 
ownership properties. 

property search tool. This 

pooling of resources means 

that the marketing of the 

homes has a wider reach, 

while scheme specific 

location eligibility criteria 

means that Lewisham 

residents are prioritised for 

intermediate housing built 

within the borough. 

 

P
age 103



14 

 

  
Recommendations Executive response Agreed actions June 2018 Feb 2019 update November 2019 update 

who do not qualify for 

social housing and 

are not currently in a 

position to enter into 

home ownership. 

12 That the practice of 

allowing teachers in 

secondary schools 

without a sixth form 

to teach part time in 

neighbouring schools 

which do, is 

encouraged. 

The issues relating to this 
recommendation are very similar to the 
response provided for recommendation 9 
as the ability for teachers to work in 
different schools does have some 
contractual and equalities issues. 

Officers will remind schools with 
sixth forms to consider 
partnering with nearby 11 to 16 
schools, especially for shortage 
or niche subjects where sharing 
staff is feasible and does not cut 
across employment rules and 
policies. 

Lewisham’s new Post 16 
strategy has identified three 
key areas for development 
with regards to sharing and 
developing teaching 
expertise:  
 Teacher exchanges  
 Subject specialism  
 Support networks for 

middle leaders    
Part of this work will 
include developing a 
borough wide network of 
subject leads, building on 
existing 11-16 
partnerships. 

A programme of subject 

teacher visits are being 

planned, with priorities 

identified by schools and 

Lewisham and out of 

borough exchanges to 

enable teacher access to 

exemplar A Level practice.     

Post 16 strategy group is 
currently undertaking 
individual visits to post 16 
providers to identify 
strengths and 
opportunities for sharing 
practice around: 

 Subject 
specialism 

 Teaching and 
learning 

 Exam techniques. 

13 That systematic 

additional support is 

put in place for NQTs 

Teaching School Alliances (TSA) are 
responsible for the continuing 
professional development programme for 
all school staff.  

Officers will request that LTSAP 
creates a strategic map of all 
courses and support offers 
which are available through the 

LTSAP has produced a 

Visual Pathway which 

includes the Improving 

In addition to update 

provided in February 

2019, LTSAP is delivering P
age 104



15 

 

  
Recommendations Executive response Agreed actions June 2018 Feb 2019 update November 2019 update 

in their third year 

post qualification 

when “wobbles” can 

occur. 

We are fortunate in Lewisham to have 
LTSAP which is the partnership between 
all 4 TSAs in the borough. Individual 
schools are responsible for the support 
and professional development of all their 
staff and must have an appropriate 
performance management policy in place 
for all staff. If staff such as NQTs in their 
third year require additional help and 
support, this should be identified by their 
school and provided as appropriate and 
in line with existing policies and 
procedures. There may be financial 
implications for individual schools who 
may need to provide additional support 
which will need to be taken into account 
by schools. 
In general schools should have 
arrangements to support all teachers, not 
just those in their third year of teaching, 
who experience difficulties and require 
additional help and support. 

partnership to teaching staff who 
need additional support as well 
as to those staff who want to 
advance and further their careers 
and communicate this 
throughout Lewisham. 

Teacher Programme and 

Recently Qualified Teacher 

Programme. 

LTSAP provides CPD 

opportunities and support 

for early career teachers 

and their mentors.  The 

support is detailed on TSAs 

4 individual websites and 

on the LTSAP page on 

Lewisham, Services for 

Schools website. 

 

mentoring support to 

teachers in their third year 

post qualification. 

14 That additional 

responsibility 

allowances are given 

to non-teaching staff 

who agree to take on 

duties beyond their 

core function, such 

as enrichment 

activities 

This practice would contradict the Single 
Status Agreement which the Council and 
schools have signed up to. The 
agreement advocates ‘clean pay’ with job 
descriptions that are properly evaluated. 
There would be significant legal, financial 
and equalities implications if this 
recommendation were implemented. 
 
 
 
 

Proposed action: It is not 
proposed to take this proposal 
further given the terms and 
conditions of non-teaching staff. 

No action taken No action taken 

P
age 105



16 

 

  
Recommendations Executive response Agreed actions June 2018 Feb 2019 update November 2019 update 

15 

That the provision of 
bespoke courses for 
teachers who are 
struggling or who are 
ready for promotion 
is explored. 

 

Teaching School Alliances (TSA) are 
responsible for the continuing 
professional development programme for 
all school staff. Many courses are already 
provided by the partnership including 
bespoke courses for struggling teachers 
as well as leadership development 
courses. However, not all schools may be 
aware of these opportunities. There may 
be financial and equalities implications for 
individual schools which identify staff who 
need further training which will need to be 
considered. 
Where teachers have been identified as 
struggling, there are clearly set out 
contractual obligations which schools 
must follow which include providing a 
clearly defined bespoke package of 
support, which may include access to 
additional training, for teachers in need. 
The need to provide additional 
professional development for teaching 
staff is very similar to the previous 
recommendation 13 which related to the 
specific needs of NQTs in their third year 
of teaching. 
. 

Officers will request that LTSAP 
creates a strategic map of all 
courses which are available 
through the partnership to 
teaching staff who need 
additional support as well as to 
those staff who want to advance 
and further their careers and 
communicate this throughout 
Lewisham 

This is covered by LTSAP’s 

Visual Pathway which 

includes the Improving 

Teacher Programme and 

Recently Qualified Teacher 

Programme. 

LTSAP CPD opportunities 

and support for early career 

teachers and their mentors 

is detailed on TSAs 4 

individual websites and on 

the LTSAP page on 

Lewisham, Services for 

Schools website.   

The pathway forms part of 

the Coordinated Offer and 

details were sent to all 

schools in Sept 2018 

 

Following consideration of 
the 2018-19 offer, work is 
underway to ensure a 
more co-ordinated offer to 
avoid duplication. 

 

16 That schools clearly 

define their 

complaints 

procedures and 

provide parents with 

a copy when their 

children start school. 

This should state that 

Government guidance was provided to all 
schools in January 2016 regarding school 
complaints policies and procedures (see: 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/g
overnment/uploads/system/uploads/attac
hment_data/file/489056/Best_Practice_A
dvice_for_School_Complaints_2016.pdf 
The LA’s advice is always, where 
appropriate and relevant, to follow DfE 

Officers will remind schools that 
they must use the DfE guidance 
‘Best Practice Advice for School 
Complaints Procedures 2016’ (or 
any further updates of this 
guidance) when writing their own 
complaints procedures and 
ensure that their own school 
policy is easily accessible and 

In the past six months, best 

practice regarding 

complaints has been 

promoted to schools and 

their governing bodies 

through a variety of forums- 

schools mailing, chairs 

Schools HR and 

education Safeguarding 

teams are preparing to 

deliver leadership training 

around dealing with 

vexatious complaints 

(Summer 2019). This will 

draw on the expertise P
age 106

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/489056/Best_Practice_Advice_for_School_Complaints_2016.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/489056/Best_Practice_Advice_for_School_Complaints_2016.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/489056/Best_Practice_Advice_for_School_Complaints_2016.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/489056/Best_Practice_Advice_for_School_Complaints_2016.pdf


17 

 

  
Recommendations Executive response Agreed actions June 2018 Feb 2019 update November 2019 update 

parents should 

refrain from posting 

the details of any 

individual complaint 

online. 

guidance. This document provides 
comprehensive advice to schools 
regarding their complaints procedures 
including recommending that their 
complaints procedure should be easily 
accessible and published. 
This guidance also provides a sample 
policy for how to deal with unreasonable 
complaints. This includes the following 
guidance: 
“A complaint may also be considered 
unreasonable if the person making the 
complaint does so either face-to-face, by 
telephone or in writing or electronically:- 
• maliciously; 
• aggressively; 
• using threats, intimidation or violence; 
• using abusive, offensive or 
discriminatory language; 
• knowing it to be false; 
• using falsified information; 
• publishing unacceptable information in a 
variety of media such as in social media 
websites and newspapers “ 
The LA has undertaken a lot of work 
recently to highlight the importance of 
school complaints policies and 
procedures including providing training to 
governors and school leaders as well as 
addressing this matter regularly at termly 
Designated Safeguarding Leads 
Meetings and in e-newsletter items. The 
emphasis has been on the importance of 
ensuring the policies are accessible to 
their parent community and the process 

publicised to all parents as soon 
as their child starts school and, 
as part of that, parents are 
informed of the school’s policy 
on use of social media. 

briefing and the schools 

consultative group.  

Guidance was sent to 

schools in Summer term 

2018 to support schools 

specifically on parent/carer 

use of social media so that 

is clearly communicated to 

all parents the potential 

safeguarding and legal 

ramifications of 

inappropriate posts about 

school children and/or staff 

on an online platform. 

Leadership  

Vexatious complaints. 

within the Council’s 

Complaints and Access to 

Records team. 

P
age 107



18 

 

  
Recommendations Executive response Agreed actions June 2018 Feb 2019 update November 2019 update 

for raising a concern is made transparent 
and simple for those who wish to do so. 
Guidance about the content of a robust 
procedure has been provided through a 
checklist and there has also been 
signposting to other existing exemplars of 
good practice upon which schools could 
model their own. We have also been 
working separately on guidance to 
support schools specifically on 
parent/carer use of social media so that is 
clearly communicated to all parents the 
potential safeguarding and legal 
ramifications of inappropriate posts about 
school children and/or staff on an online 
platform. This guidance is being released 
to schools this term. 

17 That the Church of 

England and Catholic 

dioceses consider 

making all teaching 

positions available to 

non-faith teachers. 

The Church of England and Catholic 
dioceses are fully aware of the 
recruitment and retention challenges 
within their schools in Lewisham and are 
responsible for their own policies and 
procedures. 

The Executive Director for CYP 
will raise the issue of recruitment 
and retention with the CofE and 
Catholic Dioceses at her regular 
meeting with them. 

Informal discussions have 

taken place with the 

relevant representatives. It 

must be reiterated that both 

dioceses are aware of the 

challenges within their 

schools in Lewisham (and 

across London) and are 

responsible for their own 

policies and procedures. 

No further update to 

February 2019 note. 

18 That those schools 

that control their own 

admissions policy 

consider giving 

priority to the 

Between 2014 and 2016 five schools 
within Lewisham have consulted on and 
amended their admissions policy to give 
priority to children of staff members. This 
includes the governors of The 
Leathersellers’ Federation of school 
(Prendergast School, Prendergast 

Officers will continue to explore 
the equalities and legal 
implications of introduction get 
priority for children of staff in 
school admissions and pursue 
the following actions: 

Research is underway to 

explore such admission 

arrangements in other LAs. 

The question of priority 

admissions for children of 

school staff is an agenda 

Six of Lewisham’s own 

admission authority 

schools give priority to 

children of staff. 

P
age 108



19 

 

  
Recommendations Executive response Agreed actions June 2018 Feb 2019 update November 2019 update 

children of staff 

members. 

Ladywell School and Prendergast Vale 
School), St Stephen’s CE Primary School 
and Tidemill Academy. 
Lewisham, as the admissions authority for 
all community mainstream schools, 
administer the admissions arrangements 
for those schools. Voluntary Aided 
Schools, Foundation Schools, Free 
Schools and Academies are responsible 
for consulting and determining their own 
admissions policy. Any amendments to 
an existing admissions policy must be 
consulted on and determined following a 
statutory timetable. The School 
Admissions Code sets out the statutory 
basis for maintained school admissions 
arrangements (see: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publicatio
ns/school-admissions-code--2 ) 
Admissions policies for the admission 
year 2019/20 have now been determined. 
Consultation for the 2020/21 admissions 
year may not start until October 2018. 
The provision to give priority to ‘children 
of staff’ within an admissions policy must 
be agreed by the Governing Body or, in 
the case of Lewisham’s admissions 
policy, by the Mayor and Cabinet. There 
may be equalities and legal implications 
(as per the School Admissions Code) 
which will need to be considered by any 
admissions authority who consider 
consulting on introducing a policy to give 
priority to ‘children of staff’. 

(A) Lewisham School Place 
Planning and Admissions Forum 
will approach the five schools 
who have recently amended their 
admissions code to understand 
the impact of this change in 
policy in their schools. 
(B) Officers will write to 
governing bodies of those 
mainstream schools in 
Lewisham that are responsible 
for their own admissions policy 
(admission authority schools) to 
request that they consider giving 
priority to the ‘children of staff 
members’ as defined in 
paragraph 1.39 of the School 
Admissions Code with effect 
from the 2020/21 admissions 
year, and that they therefore 
consult on this during the 
autumn of 2018. 
(C) That Lewisham as the 
Admission Authority for 
community mainstream schools 
via the Place Planning and 
Admissions Forum, undertakes a 
soft consultation with 
headteachers to establish 
whether there is an appetite for 
introducing a priority for children 
of staff in its admissions 
arrangements before formally 
consulting on amendments to 
the arrangements during the 
autumn of 2018. 

for the School Place 

Planning and Admission 

Forum on 14 March, which 

gives time for a soft 

consultation over the 

summer term prior to any 

more formal action around 

consultation and/or advice 

to schools as part of the 

determined admissions 

arrangements. 

 

Trinity School is currently 

consulting on this for 

21/22 admissions. 

The overall demand for 

places in Lewisham 

community schools has 

declined recently, 

therefore the consultation 

has not taken place as it 

would not be justifiable. 

However we continue to 

monitor this situation and 

take a steer from 

headteachers. 

P
age 109



20 

 

  
Recommendations Executive response Agreed actions June 2018 Feb 2019 update November 2019 update 

It should be noted that there are 
conditions attached to the definition of 
‘children of staff’. These are: 
a) Where the member of staff has been 
employed at the school for two or more 
years at the time at which the application 
for admission to the school is made 
and/or 
b) The member of staff is recruited to fill a 
vacant post for which there is a 
demonstrable skill shortage. 
Lewisham Local Authority previously 
consulted on the introduction of ‘children 
of staff’ criterion for the 2015/16 policy. 
Following this Lewisham decided not to 
introduce priority for children of staff but 
did indicate that this should be reviewed 
with modelling carried out to determine its 
possible impact (see: 
http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/ie
ListDocuments.aspx?CId=139&MID=285
5 
) 

19 

(A) That the Council 
lobbies the 
government to make 
the application 
process for Pupil 
Premium automatic 
for eligible pupils, 
and not reliant on 
parental action. 
(B) That schools 
consider ways in 
which they might ‘sell 
the benefits’ of the 

Currently parents have to apply to see if 
their child qualifies for free school meals. 
Parents cannot apply for the pupil 
premium – this is automatically given to 
schools for: 
• Children who have qualified for free 
school meals at any point in the past six 
years. The school receives £1320 for 
each of these children. 
• Children who are or have been looked 
after under local authority care for more 
than one day. These children are 
awarded a premium of £2300. 

A) The Lead Member will lobby 
the government to make the 
application process for Free 
School Meals automatic for 
eligible pupils, and not reliant on 
parental action. 
B) Schools will be recommended 
to consider ways in which they 
might ‘sell the benefits’ and 
incentivise parents to apply for 
Free School Meals if appropriate 
and potentially eligible. 

 

 

 

B) We are currently working 

with schools to support 

them to promote free 

school meal applications in 

a variety of ways, such as 

We continue to work with 

schools and to support 

them in promoting free 

school meals applications. 

Work is underway to look 

at trends over time in 

applications to inform this 

work going forward.  

P
age 110

http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=139&MID=2855
http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=139&MID=2855
http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=139&MID=2855


21 

 

  
Recommendations Executive response Agreed actions June 2018 Feb 2019 update November 2019 update 

pupil premium to 
parents and 
incentivise parents to 
register their children 
for the pupil 
premium. 

 

• Children from service families who 
receive a child pension from the Ministry 
of Defence. They are awarded £300 

There would be positive financial 
implications for schools if they could 
ensure that all pupils who are entitled to 
Free School Meals apply and receive this. 

ensuring the link is easily 

spotted on their websites.  

20 

That schools 
streamline marking, 
lesson planning and 
data management 
requirements to 
reduce teacher 
workload. 

 

As this recommendation related to the 
issues identified within the report 
concerning workload and the ability to 
share ideas/ share the ‘load’, with the 
associated potential legal, financial and 
equalities implications, this lines up with 
the previous recommendations about 
sharing of good practice between 
schools.  

Officers will remind governing 
bodies and headteachers that 
they must ensure that there are 
adequate and appropriate 
mechanisms within their school 
to ensure that teaching and non-
teaching staff have the support 
they need and that their school is 
an active participant in 
Lewisham Learning sharing 
ideas and best practice with 
other schools in Lewisham and 
beyond. 

This work is done by 
officers and members of 
the School Improvement 
Board from Lewisham 
Learning during school 
visits. The work outlined in 
7, above has prompted 
discussion during school 
visits and at leadership and 
governance forums, which 
has provided opportunities 
to convey this message 
about managing workloads. 
 
 

Lewisham Learning is 
working with schools to 
identify how they will meet 
new Ofsted 
recommendations around 
data management and 
the impact on workload 
(see 7 above) 

21 (A) That the Council 

assists schools in 

developing a 

“Lewisham Brand” 

that promotes and 

celebrates the public 

duty ethos to 

prospective and 

existing teachers and 

The Council is working in partnership with 
both LTSAP and Lewisham Learning to 
promote and celebrate the opportunities 
to work in Lewisham schools. Developing 
and promoting a ‘Lewisham Brand’ will 
continue to be an important part of our 
work this year. There are likely to be 
financial and resource implications which 
will need to be considered to undertake 
this work effectively. 
The Council is currently reviewing 
advertising in council publications, 

Officers will continue the work 
with LTSAP, Lewisham Learning 
and the council communications 
team to ensure the development 
of a ‘Lewisham Brand’ and will 
feed the results of the CYP 
Select Committee review into the 
work on the new advertising 
policy for Lewisham. 

Lewisham Learning and the 

LA have been working in 

partnership to develop 

Lewisham’s Education 

Communications Strategy 

and Plan - April 

2019/August 2020. The 

draft plan will be developed 

in collaboration with the 

education community and 

Lewisham’s Education 

Communications Strategy 

and Plan - April 

2019/August 2020 is 

being implemented. 

Key activities since the 

last update have included 

the revision of the 

Secondary Admissions 

booklet and the P
age 111



22 

 

  
Recommendations Executive response Agreed actions June 2018 Feb 2019 update November 2019 update 

promotes local 

loyalty. 

(B) That the Council 

considers banning 

advertisements for 

non-Lewisham 

schools in Council 

publications and 

council controlled 

advertising spaces. 

including Lewisham Life magazine. While 
the review is taking place we have 
decided not to include any advertising 
from schools outside of Lewisham in our 
publications. When the review is 
complete we will introduce a new 
advertising policy. 

focuses on three key 

messages: 

 Choose Lewisham 

schools for your 

children 

 Work in Lewisham 

schools as a 

teacher or support 

staff 

 Join our group of 

dedicated 

Governors 

representing all our 

communities 

 

Secondary School 

transition event/ advice 

session for parents and 

carers on Saturday 7th 

September 2019, both of 

which elicited very 

positive feedback. The 

event was a scaled, trial 

event but plans are 

underway to hold a bigger 

event in September 2020. 

 

 

P
age 112



 

1 
 

           
APPENDIX 2 
 
Lewisham’s commitment to managing teaching staff and support 
staff workload 
 

1. Context  
 

1.1. Headteachers and governors/trustees of Lewisham schools are determined to 
address issues relating to workload of teaching and support staff. This is to meet 
reasonable needs of staff in order to enable them to work effectively for the benefit 
of children and young people. Getting this right not only improves work/life balance 
for staff but also contributes to school improvement; raising achievement and 
attainment and strengthening communities. 
 

1.2. The Department of Education (DfE) has prepared advice and tools to help school 
leaders and teaching staff to review and reduce workload. Ofsted, the Association 
of School and College Leaders (ASCL), the NAHT, the NASUWT, the National 
Education Union (NEU) and Voice continue to work with the DfE to reduce workload 
in schools and to address the drivers of any excessive workload at a national level. 
This will affect deliberations locally in Local Authorities and in individual schools. 
For some areas a Fair Workload Charter may be an option to pursue. For others 
the local commitment to managing workload based on agreed principles and with 
examples of local good practice personalised to individual or groups of schools may 
be a preferred option. 

 

1.3. The Ofsted September 2019 school inspection framework acknowledges the 
importance a reasonable workload for staff and how this impacts on outcomes for 
pupils. It outlines how school leaders and governors need take into account the 
workload and well-being of their staff, while also developing and strengthening the 
quality of the workforce.  The inspection framework states that in good and 
outstanding schools leaders ‘…engage with their staff and are aware and take 
account of the main pressures on them. They are realistic and constructive in the 

way they manage staff, including their workload’; and  ‘When issues are identified, 
in particular about workload, they are consistently dealt with appropriately and 
quickly.’ 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/school-inspection-handbook-eif  

 
2. The Lewisham commitment to managing teaching staff and support staff 

workload 
 

2.1. Key Principles: 
a) Commitments to managing workload will be supported by governors/trustees 

and implemented by headteachers. 
b) Effective management of teaching staff and support staff workload underpins 

school improvement, better outcomes for children/young people, reasonable 

Page 113

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/school-inspection-handbook-eif


 

2 
 

compliance with the School Teachers Pay and Conditions document and 
well-being. 

c) The effective use of management tools can support a reduction in workload.  
d) A personalised approach will be developed by each school. 
e) Managing teaching staff and support staff workload and work/life balance 

should be an integral part of the recruitment and retention policy. 
f) Local Authority services will be supportive, effective, efficient, not 

unnecessarily bureaucratic, and will consider workload issues when 
engaging with schools. 

g) Central government should recognise its role in ensuring adequately funded 
inclusion provision. 

h) School based initiatives recognise the importance of local triggers and local 
solutions to reducing workload. 

i) The joint letter of 5 November 2018 from the Secretary of State, Ofsted, 
ASCL, NAHT, NGA, CST to all school leaders including Headteachers, 
leaders of Academy Trusts and Governing Boards highlighted the 
importance of reducing unnecessary work to enable all staff to devote their 
energies to improving outcomes for all pupils. 

j) Recognition of professional autonomy and accountability, effective use of 
time, good meeting structures and positive relationships will all support the 
development of local initiatives to reduce workload and improve outcomes. 

 
2.2.  Good Practice 
2.2.1. Teacher-led workload review groups: 

a) Marking to be meaningful, manageable, motivating – supporting pupil 
progress 

b) Delivery of quality feedback to pupils 
c) Proportionate lesson planning 
d) Time for collaborative planning 
e) Discussion focus on pupil outcomes 
f) High quality resources and schemes of work available 
g) Effective and efficient use of data 
h) Awareness of workload issues 

 
2.2.2. Lewisham School initiatives 

 School leaders engage with the DfE guidance published on 21 July 2018 
 ‘Reducing workload in your school. Practical advice and tools to help school 
 leaders and teachers review and reduce workload’. The toolkit is designed to 
 help schools assess and address workload issues. The following suggestions 
 may be helpful and are not intended to be prescriptive: 
 
 Review and be compliant with the DfE toolkit using the three stages – identify 
 the workload issues in your school(s); address the issues in your school(s) 
 evaluate the impact. Resources are grouped as follows: 
 

 communications 

 curriculum planning and resources 

 data management 

 feedback and marking 

 managing change 

 supporting teachers in the early years 
of their career 

 

Page 114



 

3 
 

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/reducing-workload-in-your-school 
 

a) Review the Health & Safety Executive document ‘Talking Toolkit – Preventing 
work-relating stress in schools’ and its emphasis on managing workload to 
reduce stress. 

http://www.hse.gov.uk/gohomehealthy/assets/docs/EducationTalkingToolkit.pdf 
 

b) Ensure governors and headteachers complete an annual review of staffing 
structures to ensure best fit for the school needs. 

c) Review and clarify all job descriptions to ensure effectiveness and clear 
definitions of staff responsibilities. Share knowledge of job descriptions. 

d) Review the role of support staff ensuring appropriate planning and preparation 
time; facilitate upskilling and professional development as part of a commitment 
to all staff for Continuing Professional Development. 

e) Complete an annual review of meeting structures, reporting and calendars 
including the number and effectiveness of parental events so there is a focus 
on pupil progress. 

f) Review the impact and effectiveness of governance including by use of the DfE 
document ‘A Competency Framework for Governance’ and the ‘Clerking 
Competency Framework’. 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attach
ment_data/file/583733/Competency_framework_for_governance_.pdf 

 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attach
ment_data/file/609971/Clerking_competency_framework.pdf 

 
g) Develop a communications strategy including an email protocol. 
h) Review assessment procedures annually. 
i) Review the school’s marking policy annually. 
j) Introduce new technology solutions to curriculum planning. 
k) Introduce new technology solutions to assessment. 
l) Ensure effective use of data including timely and purposeful data drops. 
m) Ensure appropriate support for all teachers in the early stages of career paths. 

 
3. Lewisham schools’ commitment  

 
 Lewisham schools recognise the importance of recruiting and retaining good 
 staff. By doing so, outcomes for children and young people will improve, 
 aspirations in families/communities will be enhanced and colleagues will enjoy 
 greater professional satisfaction. 
 
 Key strands for schools include:   

a) ensuring staff have a fair and reasonable workload  
b) providing high quality training and professional training and developing 
 opportunities that meet the needs of staff 

 
 It is for each Lewisham school to determine its response to issues relating to 
 the workload of teaching staff and support staff since responsibility sits with 
 governors/trustees. 

Page 115

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/reducing-workload-in-your-school
http://www.hse.gov.uk/gohomehealthy/assets/docs/EducationTalkingToolkit.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/583733/Competency_framework_for_governance_.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/583733/Competency_framework_for_governance_.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/609971/Clerking_competency_framework.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/609971/Clerking_competency_framework.pdf


This page is intentionally left blank



Children and Young People Select Committee 
 

Title Lewisham Alternative Provision and 
unregistered schools 

Item No 8 

Contributors Ruth Griffiths, Service Manager – Access Inclusion and 
Participation 

Class Part 1 Date 5th December 2019 

 

1. Purpose of report  
 
1.1       As part of its work programme the Committee has requested a briefing on how the    

 local authority oversees the quality of alternative provision within Lewisham.    
 

1.2 This report sets out the context, legal framework and position in relation to 
Alternative Provision in Lewisham.   

 
2.  Recommendations   

 
2.1 The Select Committee is asked to note this briefing. 

 
3. Legal Context - Alternative Provision Statutory guidance (January 2013) 
 
3.1 Good alternative provision is that which appropriately meets the needs of children 

which require its use and enables them to achieve good educational attainment on 
par with their mainstream peers. All children must receive a good education, 
regardless of their circumstances or the settings in which they find themselves. 
Provision will differ from child to child, but there are some common elements that 
alternative provision should aim to achieve, including:  
 good academic attainment on par with mainstream schools – particularly in 

English, maths and science (including IT) – with appropriate accreditation and 
qualifications;  

 that the specific personal, social and academic needs of children are properly 
identified and met in order to help them to overcome any barriers to attainment;  

 work to improve a child’s motivation and self-confidence, attendance and 
engagement with education; and  

 clearly defined objectives, including the next steps following the placement such 
as reintegration into mainstream education.  

 
3.2 Alternative provision should be good quality, registered with Ofsted and the 

Department for Education where appropriate1, and delivered by high quality staff with 
suitable training, experience and safeguarding checks. It should have clearly defined 
objectives relating to personal and academic attainment. Where an intervention is 
part-time or temporary, to help minimise disruption to a child’s education, it should 
complement and keep up with the child’s current curriculum, timetable and 

                                                
1 An AP provider should be registered as an independent school if it meets the criteria for registration (that it 
provides full-time education to five or more full-time pupils of compulsory school age, or one such pupil who is 
looked-after or has a statement of SEN). All AP Academies and AP Free Schools must be registered as 
independent schools whether or not they are full-time or part-time.   

Page 117

Agenda Item 8



qualification route. If a child is referred to off-site provision on a part-time basis, they 
should attend school as usual on the days on which they are not in the alternative 
provision.  

 

4. Context 
 
4.1 Lewisham local authority takes its on-going responsibility towards pupils placed in 

Alternative Provision from Key Stage 1 to 4 very seriously and has mechanisms in 
place, such as regular site visits. These are carried out by the Service Manager 
Access, Inclusion and Participation, the Safeguarding and Inclusion Manager, and a 
representative from Lewisham SEND Team, who assure the quality of provision 
delivered through external providers.  

 

4.2 Since 2012, Lewisham has published an Alternative Provision Directory, which has 
evolved over time.  It is updated annually or when new provision becomes available; 
and presents a short synopsis of each approved provider, along with an overview of 
the main guidance on quality assurance requirements.  

 
The process involves the Self Evaluation Quality Assurance Framework and a visit to 
the provision which is based on the Ofsted requirement for independent school 
status and focuses on the Alternative Provider producing evidence in relation to: 
1. Quality of education provided 
2. Spiritual, moral, social and cultural development of pupils 
3. Welfare, health and safety of pupils 
4. Suitability of staff, supply staff, and proprietors 
5. Premises of and accommodation at the provision 
6. Provision of information 
7. Manner in which complaints are handled  
8. Quality of Leadership and Management 
 
This framework is applied with discretion based on the type of the provision, for 
example, full or part time, academic or vocational offer. 
 

4.3 Within the Directory, a number of Alternative Providers are quality assured by the 
local authority and have also been inspected by Ofsted. The providers that are 
included in the directory are: 

 

Abbey Manor College:  Lewisham’s Pupil Referral Unit for secondary age learners 
provides educational programmes for 11-19 year olds who do not conform to conventional 
education.  The College offers constructive learning based on vocational programmes at 
KS4 - 5 (14-19) and National Curriculum subjects at KS3 (11-13).   
 

ADO Alternative Provision: Bexley based brings together expertise in Healthcare and 
Education services. ADO provide both indoor and outdoor locations for students and are a 
registered training centre.  The centre in Welling offers semi woodland and open space 
area, is home to many animals and provides for specialised subjects including Animal 
Care, Equine Studies, Countryside & Environment, Sport (Including Outdoor Adventurous 
Activities) and many more.  The provision offers full school education age range (5-18). 
   

Page 118



Arco Academy: A Southwark based specialist sports provision (14-16) designed to instil 
positive social, academic and sporting impacts. The provision offers GCSEs, Functional 
Skills and vocational qualifications.  

Flowerskills:  A Greenwich based provider which trains young people (aged 14-16) to gain 
skills and knowledge in construction trades, providing practical (including carpentry, 
painting & decorating, plumbing, tiling, etc) training with information and advice about 
working in the construction industry and the progression routes available. Courses are 
accredited and unaccredited.  

South Quay College (former City Gateway):  A Tower Hamlets based Free School - 
Alternative provision.  South Quay College is an alternative provision for 14-19 year olds. 
South Quay provides statutory education for young people in Key Stage 4 who would 
benefit from an alternative to mainstream education. 

Ilderton Motors:  A Lewisham based Motor vehicle training (cars and motorcycles) and 
personal development. 

Lewisham College: is a Further Education College with a focus on vocational learning 
pathways. The college offers a range of provision for KS4 learners through part time 
Vocational Courses, entry level link courses and a Year 11 ESOL Programme (Full time).  

Millwall Community Trust: a Lewisham based Key Stage 4 one to two day part-time 
alternative education provision which provides opportunities to study towards a BTEC 
Sports qualification, whilst partaking in practical, sport-related activities and learning.  The 
programme provides students real life experiences of working within the sport sector with 
clear and direct post-16 routes. 

NEW Rockbourne Park: Lewisham based offers discrete provision for Lewisham Primary 
Alternative Provision learners (Key Stage 1-2). This is delivered as a satellite centre 
arrangement with Kennington Park Academy which was last inspected as Good with 
Outstanding features in May 2017. 

StreetVibes Academy:  A Greenwich based  Ofsted inspected Alternative Education 
(Independent School) which educates Key Stage 4 learners who require additional support 
to achieve in a mainstream school setting and could benefit from a vocational option in 
creative music and digital media. 

The Complete Works:  A Tower Hamlets based provision registered as an Independent 
School which operates in a number of venues throughout London and the surrounding 
areas, such as Youth Clubs, Community Centres and Libraries.  All courses are age 
appropriate and we can accommodate students in Key Stages 1 - 4.  Students are able to 
study with us for up to 30 hours a week. 

The Tutorial Foundation:  A Bromley Based Independent Alternative On and Offsite 
Provision for Key Stages 1-5.   

The Write Time: A Croydon based Ofsted approved Independent Special School. 
 

TLG Lewisham: An Ofsted approved Independent Special School offer Key Stage 3 - 4. 
 

Wize Up:  A Greenwich based Ofsted approved alternative provider for young people with 
emotional and behavioural support needs. Wize Up provides long and short term 
placements. 

Young Lewisham Project: Youth provision for learners aged 13-19 offering life skills, 
fashion, bicycle safety training sessions, motor bike maintenance, gardening/allotment 
horticulture and young women’s group. 

Page 119



Young Women’s Hub: A Lewisham based Ofsted approved specialist alternative 
education provision offering academic and vocational courses for young women 11-16 and 
offering a therapeutic, nurturing and safe learning environment. 

Your Beauty School: A Lewisham based Beauty Therapy school offering vocational 
courses from level 1 to level 3 for Key Stage 4. Courses will equip learners with the skills 
and knowledge required to provide a range of Beauty treatments and qualifications 

           
5. Challenges 

 
5.1 Identifying and eliminating ‘unregistered’ or ‘illegal’ provision 
 Since 2012 all known Alternative Providers have been quality assured on an 

annual basis as a minimum.  Where providers need additional support to 
maintain quality standards the local authority, schools and Alternative 
Provision network provide assistance.   

 
 The challenge is identifying the Alternative Provision in the first place and 

this often relies on intelligence from children, young people and their families 
from the Elective Home Education community or media attention.   

 
 Where Alternative Provision is identified as ‘unregistered’ with Ofsted and 

possibly operating ‘illegally’ the local authority works intensively to assess 
the concerns. Over the past few years a small number of Alternative 
Providers have been identified as illegal provision.  In these instances the 
local authority has worked with Ofsted, the Department for Education and 
other local authorities to eliminate the risks resulting in closure of those 
Alternative Provisions.  Currently two Tuition Centres within Lewisham have 
been identified and are being closely monitored to ensure their quality 
standards. Both are registered with Ofsted.    

 
5.2 A focus of the current quality assurance system is to improve the safety and 

quality of settings levels of progress, achievement and attendance.  
 
 The team also works with schools to ensure appropriate procedures to 

check that children and young people arrive at the Alternative Provision 
placement and to follow up any non-attendance. This is a safeguarding issue 
and part of schools’ statutory duties.  Some schools in Lewisham have 
shown good improvements in fulfilling this duty, however, this needs to be 
consistent across all Alternative Provision and all schools.  Ofsted will 
continue to pay close attention to Alternative Provision as part of the 
inspection of schools. 

 

5.4 There are gaps in the provision available 

There is a demand for provision which is still not available locally across our PRU, 
Special Schools and Alternative Provision.  There is a shortage of suitable provision 
for primary aged learners, some of our most vulnerable Secondary age children who 
have been permanently excluded and in particular a shortage of provision for girls. 
The local authority works tirelessly to address these gaps.  

 
 
 

Page 120



6. Financial implications 

 

6.1 There are no financial implications arising as a result of this briefing. 

 

7. Legal implications 

 

7.1  There are no legal implications arising as a result of this briefing. The legal frame 

 work is set out in 3 above. 

 

8. Crime and Disorder Implications 

 

8.1 There are no crime and disorder implications. 

 

9. Environmental Implication 

 

9.1   There are no environmental implications. 

 
10.  Equalities implications 
 
10.1 The 2010 Equality Act outlines the provisions of the Public Sector Equalities Duty 
 which requires Public Bodies to have due regard to the need to: eliminate unlawful 
 discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other conduct prohibited by the 
 Equality Act 2010; advance equality of opportunity between people from different 
 groups; foster good relations between people from different groups. 
 
10.2 The broad purpose of this duty is to integrate considerations of equality into day to 
 day business and to keep them under review in decision making, the design of 
 policies and the delivery of services. 
 
10.3 The Council as an education authority has a duty to promote high standards of 
 education and fair access to education for all children and young people and to 
 consider any equality implication in decisions and recommendations about use of 
 Alternative Provision. Ensuring a high quality education offer for children and young 
 people accessing Alternative Provision supports the educational progress of those 
 children and young people. Equalities Impact Assessment is woven into the 
 Councils’ work around reducing exclusions and delivering services for children and 
 young people with Special Education Needs and Disabilities which impact on many 
 children accessing Alternative Provision. It is vital to ensure that children who for are 
 educated in alternative provision are offered equal opportunities to make the most of 
 their talents and achieve positive outcomes. 

 

Page 121



This page is intentionally left blank



Children and Young People Select Committee 

Title 
Lewisham Safeguarding Children Board annual 
report 2018-19 

Item 
No. 

5 

Contributors Scrutiny Manager 

Class Part 1 Date 5 December 2019 

 
1. Purpose of paper  
 
1.1 To present to the Committee the annual report of the Lewisham 

Safeguarding Children Board for 2018/19. 

2.  Recommendations 
 
2.1 Members of the Select Committee are asked to note the report. 

3.  Legal implications 
 
3.1 There are no direct legal implications arising out of this report.  

4.  Financial implications 
 
4.1 There are no direct financial implications arising out of this report.  

5.  Equalities implications 
 
5.1 There are no direct equalities implications arising from the 

implementation of the recommendations set out in this report. The 
Council works to eliminate unlawful discrimination and harassment, 
promote equality of opportunity and good relations between different 
groups in the community and to recognise and to take account of 
people’s differences.  

 
For more information on this report please contact Mick Brims, Lewisham 
Safeguarding Partnership Strategic Lead, on 020 8314 3391.  

Page 123

Agenda Item 9



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Annual 

Report 

2018/19 

 

www.safeguardinglewisham.gov.uk 

P
age 125



 

2 | P a g e  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Foreword from the Chair 3 

Overview of the Board 4 

What is the Lewisham Safeguarding Children Board? 4 

The LSCB Main Board 5 

 Effectiveness of the Board 6 

Summary of Our Key Achievements for 2018 - 2019 6 

 LSCB Task Groups 8 

Monitoring, Evaluation and Service Improvement (MESI) 8 

Policies, Procedures and Training (PPT) 11 

Case Review Panel (CRP) 13 

Child Death Overview Panel (CDOP) 15 

Missing, Exploited and Trafficked (MET)/Concern Hub 16 

 LSCB Statutory Functions 18 

Children’s Social Care 18 

Lewisham Early Help, Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub 
(MASH) & Children at risk of Missing, Exploitation & 
Trafficking 

19 

Looked After Children (LAC)  20 

Private Fostering 20 

Local Authority Designated Officer (LADO) 20 

 Partner Activity to Safeguard Children  22 

Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust (LGT) 22 

Safer Lewisham Partnership 24 

Children and Adolescent Mental Health Service (CAMHS) 27 

London Ambulance Service (LAS) 28 

London Community Rehabilitation Company 29 

Phoenix Community Housing 30 

Metropolitan Police Service - South East Basic Command 
Unit 

32 

NHS Lewisham Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) 37 

Lay Members 39 

National Probation Service  40 

Youth First  41 

 Appendices 43 

LSCB Board Structure 43 

LSCB Financial Arrangements for 2018-2019 44 

Training Summary 2018-2019 45 

LSCB Task Groups - Diagram 59 

P
age 126



 

 

As the Independent Chair of the Lewisham Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) I 

am pleased to present the Annual Report for the period April 2018 to March 2019. 

This will be my last Annual report as I intend to step down from the role in 

September 2019 and a new role of Independent Scrutineer will be recruited.   

Local Safeguarding Children Boards (LSCBs) were established with the purpose of 

ensuring that agencies keep local children and young people safe and that where 

they have intervened they have made a positive difference in children’s lives. The 

LSCB has a really important role in coordinating and ensuring the effectiveness of 

what is done by each and every person involved in protecting children and it 

carries statutory responsibilities for safeguarding children in Lewisham. It is made 

up of senior managers within organisations in Lewisham who hold responsibility 

for safeguarding children in their agencies, such as children's social care, police, 

health, schools and other services including voluntary bodies. The LSCB monitors 

how they all work together to provide services for children and ensure children 

are protected.  

The last year has seen the development of the new Multi-agency Safeguarding 

Arrangements which will replace LSCBs. The Partnership Plan for Lewisham will 

be published by the end of June 2019 and the new arrangements will be in place 

by September 2019. There has been careful planning and consultation over the 

last year to develop this plan. Where possible the plan focusses on reducing 

duplication, joining up with other partnership groups and across boundaries as 

much as possible, with a real focus on making a difference to front line practice 

to safeguard children and builds on what we know works well. The challenge over 

the next year will be to ensure that replacing the LSCB with the new arrangements 

is done carefully and the transition is carefully monitored and reviewed. It is 

recognised that the  next year will be challenging for all agencies, with 

considerable change within their own organisations and we will need to ensure 

the focus and delivery of services to vulnerable children, young people and 

families is not adversely affected. 

Lastly, I would like to thank the Board staff, for their continued support in the 

functioning and promotion of the LSCB.  I would also like to thank members of the 

Board, from across the partnership of our voluntary, community and statutory 

services and all the frontline practitioners and managers for their commitment, 

hard work and effort in keeping children and young people safer in Lewisham. 

 

  

Nicky Pace 

LSCB Independent Chair

Foreword from the Independent Chair, Nicky Pace 

P
age 127



 

4 | P a g e  
 

Overview of the Board 
 

What is a Local Safeguarding Children Board? 

Local Safeguarding Children Boards (LSCBs) were established by the Children Act 

2004. 

 

The LSCB is a statutory body and was established in 2006 in accordance with the 

statutory duties set out in the ‘Children Act 2004’. The activities undertaken by the 

LSCB reflect the requirements of the Act, and are based upon the objectives set out 

in Chapter 3 of ‘Working Together to Safeguard Children 2015: 

 

(a) To coordinate what is done by each person or body represented on the 

Board for the purposes of safeguarding and promoting the welfare of 

children in the area, and  

(b) To ensure the effectiveness of what is done by each such person or body 

for those purposes.  

 

About the Lewisham Safeguarding Children Board 

The LSCB is the statutory mechanism for agreeing how the relevant agencies in 

each local area will co-operate to safeguard and promote the welfare of children in 

that locality, and for ensuring the effectiveness of what they do.  Governed by the 

statutory guidance in Working Together to Safeguard Children 2015 and the Local 

Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) Regulations 2016, Members of the Lewisham 

Safeguarding Children board (LSCB) are senior managers from a range of different 

organisations who hold strategic roles in relation to safeguarding / child protection. 

They are expected to be able to speak for their organisations with authority, 

commit their organisations on policy and practice issues, and hold their 

organisations to account on their safeguarding/child protection practice. 

 

The LSCB has a responsibility to ensure that organisations are fully meeting their 

safeguarding obligations effectively, and can hold them to account if they are not. 

 

The LSCB works to achieve this by: 

 

 Leading collaboration across all agencies in the community  

 Developing and setting policies and procedures  

 Monitoring and auditing the implementation of these policies and 

procedures 

 Conducting audits to ensure the effectiveness of what is done by agencies 

individually and collectively to safeguard and promote the welfare of 

children 

 Conducting Serious Case Reviews when a child dies or is seriously harmed 

and abuse or neglect is suspected  to improve practice across agencies 

 Conducting Child Death Reviews to better understand how and why 

children in the locality die and use these findings to take action to prevent 

other deaths  

 Ensuring appropriate multi-agency training is available and effective 

 Promoting awareness and action in the wider community

P
age 128



 

5 | P a g e  
 

The LSCB Main Board  
This is made up of representatives of the member's agencies. Board members must 

be sufficiently senior so as to ensure they are able to speak confidently and sign up 

to agreements on behalf of their agency, and make sure that their agency abides 

by the policies, procedures and recommendations of the LSCB.  Please see the 

Appendices to see our attendance in 2018/2019.  

 

The Executive Board  
The Executive Board manages the business and operations of the LSCB, ensuring 

there are clear governance arrangements in place and drives forward the strategic 

priorities as outlined in the Business Plan.  

 

Independent Chair  
The LSCB has an Independent Chair who is subject to an annual appraisal to ensure 

the role is undertaken competently and that the post holder retains the confidence 

of the LSCB members. The Chief Executive of Lewisham Borough Council and 

Executive Director for Children & Young People appoints the Chair.  

 
Lewisham Borough Council  
Whilst the Chair and the LSCB Board itself is independent, Lewisham Council is 

responsible for establishing and maintaining the Local Safeguarding Children Board 

(LSCB) on behalf of all agencies.  

 

The Executive Director of Children & Young People and the Director of Children's 

Social Care are required to sit on the Main Board of the LSCB, as this is a pivotal 

role in the provision of children’s social care within the local authority.  

 

 
 

Lead Member for Children's Services  
The Lead Elected Member holds responsibility for making sure that the local 

authority fulfils its legal responsibilities to safeguard children and young people. 

The Lead Member contributes to the LSCB as a participating observer and is not 

part of the decision-making process.  

 

Partner Agencies  
All partner agencies responsible for safeguarding children in Lewisham are 

committed to ensuring the effective operation of the LSCB as a multi-agency 

safeguarding group. This is supported by the LSCB governance document and 

partnership protocol, which sets out the governance and accountability 

arrangements. 

 
Designated Professionals  
Health commissioners should have a Designated Doctor and Designated Nurse to 

take a strategic, professional lead on all aspects of the health service contribution 

to safeguarding children across the local area. Designated professionals are a vital 

source of professional advice on safeguarding children matters to partner agencies 

and the LSCB. There is a Designated Doctor and a Designated Nurse in post in 

Lewisham, who play an active role in the LSCB and its task groups. 

 

Lay Members  
Lewisham LSCB has two local residents acting as Lay Members who support 

stronger public engagement in local child protection and safeguarding issues and 

contribute to an improved understanding of the LSCB’s work in the community. 

Both Lay Members play an active role in the work of the LSCB and its task groups. 

 

 

P
age 129



 

6 | P a g e  
 

 

 

 

 

The Board is required to report on progress against the priorities set for the previous year and plan any changes to local safeguarding priorities for the next year, taking into 

account national priorities and local needs, and any issues arising from SCRs and multi-agency audits. When deciding our priorities, we acknowledge that our core business 

of safeguarding children is on-going, including identifying, assessing and providing services and help to those children who need protection. In deciding the Board’s 

improvement priorities, we consider how well we have delivered our priorities from the previous year and if further work is needed.  S

Summary of our Key Priorities  
for 2018-2019 

Summary of our Key Achievements for 2018-2019 

Priority 1:  
Neglect 
Improve the effectiveness of agencies and the 
community in identifying and addressing 
neglect. 
 

 The LSCB continued to provide a comprehensive rolling programme of safeguarding training to inform practitioner’s 
knowledge and skills in order to appropriately identify and address matters of neglect. 

 The Neglect Task & Finish Group concluded its work in January 2018 reviewing the Neglect Toolkit and Strategy.  The strategy 
and toolkit will be reviewed in in January 2021, with the review process to commence in the summer of 2020. .  Neglect 
remains a LSCB Priority and further initiatives to improve practice and outcomes for children at risk of or suffering neglect will 
be explored in the 2019-20 year going forward. 

 

Priority 2:  
Governance and Performance 
Increasing the effectiveness of the LSCB as a 
truly effective agent in securing positive 
outcomes for children, in protecting them from 
abuse and exploitation. 

 LSCB Performance Framework reviewed in 2018 was implemented via the MESI Sub-Group. Key indicators from across the 
partnership were captured and scrutinised within the MESI Task Group. 

 Consistent audit schedule ensured the monitoring of single and multi-agency audits. A MESI Audit Subgroup was created and 

multi-agency audits were completed to understand the scope of Contextual Safeguarding issues and the multi-agency 

response to this issue in Lewisham. A multi-agency audit was also completed to understand the scope of Child Mental Health 

concerns within Lewisham, including a direct survey of a cohort of children and questionnaire responses from parents 

alongside agency data and case audits.  

 Regular scrutiny and challenge of partnership agency data.  

 Regular meeting of Chairs of Partnership Boards, ensuring consistent safeguarding messages. Further developing these 
relationships is a priority for 2019-20. Audit outcomes were shared with some partnership boards.  

 

Priority 3: 
Self-harm and suicide prevention  
To ensure that parents and professionals are 
aware of the risks associated with self-harm 
behaviour and suicide ideation so children and 
young people can be better supported from 
harming themselves  

 The LSCB continues to offer training packages on self-harm, on the LSCB training programme. 

 The LSCB also provided a Safeguarding Briefing in September 2018 regarding ‘Self-harm & Suicidal Ideation & Young People’. 

This was sent to a wide network of safeguarding professionals across Lewisham and was made publicly available on the LSCB 

website.  

 LSCB Development Officer also provided information and resources to raise awareness amongst safeguarding professionals 

regarding children’s mental health and supported an awareness-raising event in conjunction with Children’s Social Care.  

 

Effectiveness of the Board  

P
age 130



 

7 | P a g e  
 

 

 

 

 

Summary of our Key Priorities  
for 2018 -2019 

Summary of our Key Achievements for 2018-2019 

Priority 4:   
Voice of the child and community 
Ensuring that the voices of children and young 
people influence learning, best practice and the 
work of the LSCB. 

 Continuing, regular interface with Young Mayor’s Forum. 

 LSCB facilitated two events to bring together a number of young person-led school advisory councils and youth advisory groups 
alongside the Young Mayor’s group and the Children in Care Council to share the safeguarding priorities they had been 
developing in their respective groups. The purpose of these events was to share ideas across a range of children within the 
borough and understand the work that these advisory groups were under-taking to inform safeguarding priorities going 
forward.  

 Development of the LSCB website to use as an interactive tool with children and young people continues. LSCB Development 
Officer is planning to update all ‘Children & Young People’ pages on the website with the direct input of young people.  

 LSCB Introductory Presentations for professionals, young people and community have continued. 

 LSCB website has continued to improve communication with professionals, parents and carers and the community – web data 
suggests that the website is frequently viewed for information, signposting and resources. The website has also raised the 
profile of various safeguarding issues and the work of the LSCB via publication of Serious Case Reviews and provision of guidance 
for children, parents and professionals around safeguarding in Lewisham.  

 Monthly themed Safeguarding Briefings have continued, ensuring that key safeguarding messages reach professionals across 
the partnership and providing links onward to specialist or more detailed safeguarding information. These are also available on 
the LSCB website. 
 

Priority 5:  
Missing, Exploited & Trafficked 
Increasing the effectiveness of agencies and the 
community in identifying and addressing Child 
Sexual Exploitation, children going missing and 
trafficked.  

 Weekly MET operational meetings have continued to discuss individual cases, whilst monthly MET tactical meetings have 
continued to look at trends/hotspots of concern and borough-wide intelligence from operational work around MET issues. A 
quarterly LSCB Strategic MET Task group has continued to guide the wider strategic response to MET concerns within Lewisham.  

 LSCB MET Strategy reviewed in January 2019 to re-define and the purpose of MET groups within Lewisham and their role in 
combating Missing, Exploitation & trafficking concerns in the borough. From the refreshing of the MET Strategy and further 
development of a model of working with MET concerns rooted in Contextual Safeguarding principles, the outline 
documentation for the LSCB ‘Concern Hub’ was developed, with implementation of the Concern Hub to replace the MET 
Strategic Task group in the 2019-20 year.  

 Contextual Safeguarding Multi-agency Audit addendum conducted in December 2018, following on from a previous MET audit 
in May 2018, developing an understanding of partnership thresholds for working with young people where there were 
contextual safeguarding concerns.  

 The LSCB continues to offer multi-agency CSE, Missing & Trafficking training and will look to develop its training offer alongside 
the developing Concern Hub.  
 

P
age 131



 

8 | P a g e  
 

LSCB Task Groups 
 

Monitoring, Evaluation and Service Improvement Task Group 
(MESI) 

Chaired by Agency Representative: Nicky Pace, LSCB Independent Chair  

 

What did we do?  

Last year we developed a new meeting structure to provide greater capacity for 

challenge and scrutiny of safeguarding issues across the partnership by refocusing 

the Monitoring, Evaluation & Service Improvement (MESI) group. An operational 

Audit group was set up, separate from and reporting to MESI to provide greater 

focus on multi-agency audit function.  

 

The aim of this work group is to support multi-agency engagement and monitor 

partners’ contribution to safeguarding children and young people. It will do this by 

effectively monitoring, scrutinising and evaluating safeguarding practice 

undertaken by agencies within Lewisham. It will focus on the quality assurance of 

multi-agency arrangements, practice and service delivery and identify areas of 

development and barriers to learning, improvement and change.  It will also 

monitor the LSCB Business Plan and dataset. 

 

What was the impact? 

It was anticipated that the MESI group would be able to focus on wider 

safeguarding issues whilst providing scrutiny of multi-agency operational practice  

issues, particularly where there may not be the opportunity to do so in LSCB Main 

Board meetings. 

 

 

Development of a multiagency dataset – considerable work has been undertaken 

this year to finalise the multiagency data set, those proxy indicators required to 

monitor performance of safeguarding across the partnership. However, there has  

been some difficulties this year in the Children’s Social Care data, which has slowly 

evolved so that some safeguarding areas can now be reported upon, but there is 

more still to be done. The Lewisham and Greenwich Trust has identified and 

provided a robust performance dashboard. It has continued to prove difficult to 

receive data from other agencies, which has meant that the analysis of the data 

and understanding the impact of this upon multi-agency safeguarding 

arrangements for children continues to be a challenge.  

 

Multi-Agency Audits Sub Group - Audits for 2018-19  
Chaired by Amanda Harris, Quality Assurance Manager, Children’s Social Care  

During 2018-2019, we planned and completed a Child Mental Health (CMH) multi-

agency audit in conjunction with Greenwich Local Safeguarding Children Board. We 

also completed a ‘live audit’ in December 2018 regarding cases where there were 

contextual safeguarding concerns for young people living in the community (as an 

addendum audit from a previous MET audit, which was submitted to main MESI 

subgroup in May 2018). We planned a ‘Thresholds’ audit, which will be finalised by 

August 2019.  These audits all supported the named LCSB priorities and had been 

set by the LSCB Main Board.  

 

 

 

 P
age 132



 

9 | P a g e  
 

Child Mental Health (CMH) Audit 

 

The CMH Audit will be taken to the LSCB Main Board on 26.06.2019, having already 

been agreed by main MESI; this audit took place over a number of months and 

highlighted several types of audit activity which shone a light on partner processes 

and practice locally in responding to concerns about young people’s mental health. 

The analysis of the main themes from the audit activity (multi-agency file audit, 

practice events, questionnaires, feedback from parents and young people) 

evidenced the need to consider: 

 

 improvement work across the partnership, 

 the further development of joint CMH protocol across agencies (previously 

recommended from SCR work), 

 a review of the CAMHS waiting list,  

 development of a way of responding to families and young people which is 

more immediate and remains in touch with them where they are referred to 

CAMHS,  

 consideration of longer interventions than are currently commissioned 

locally,  

 the development of clear multi-agency ‘step down’ processes and services 

for young people to access for post CAMHS work.  

 

When considering any changes needing to be recommended as a result of previous 

learning or priorities, the CMH Audit identified a need for improved care planning 

across agencies when considering work with child mental health issues. This is a 

theme that has been identified in previous audit and serious case reviews and will 

benefit from MESI scrutiny going forward to share learning and support improved 

multi-agency care planning for children with mental health issues.   

 

 

Missing, Exploited, Trafficking Contextual Safeguarding Audit & Addendum 

 

A previous MET audit (missing, exploited and trafficked children) which was 

completed in May 2018 was presented and agreed by main MESI subgroup, but 

was not then finalised by the LSCB Main Board. It was agreed that more work was 

to be undertaken. This report with the subsequent addendum work, the ‘Live’ 

contextual safeguarding audit, from December 2018, will be put to the LSCB Main 

Board on 26.06.2019. This report will provide a fuller picture of work across the 

partnership with children at risk of going missing, being exploited or trafficked.  The 

first MET report was shared with the MET Task group and Youth Offending Service 

(YOS) in September 2018 to assist consideration of future strategic development 

of work with such young people, as was also reported on last year in the LSCB 2017-

18 Annual Report. 

 

The latest addendum audit report will also consider partnership thresholds for 

working with contextual safeguarding risks for older young people on the cusp of 

adulthood will recommended that a piece of outstanding practice be shared more 

widely across the partnership.  

 

Changes made as a result of this previous learning and in working toward LSCB 

priorities are hard to measure at this stage whilst resultant actions are being 

completed to complement wider strategy across the partnership. In CSC, there is 

considerable work being undertaken in relation to intervening in contextual 

safeguarding issues, including a service re-design, refresh of the hub arrangements 

for sharing information, assessing risk and immediate responses and the 

establishment of a dedicated service for this cohort of children in the Early Help 

offer. This has included strengthening partnership arrangements. All of the above 

work fits with the current priorities of the LCSB. 

 P
age 133



 

10 | P a g e  
 

The third audit regarding thresholds in MASH is being collated and will be reported 

on in August 2019.   

 

Impact of audit 

 

The impact of the CMH audit and the MET and ‘Live audit’ will be clearer in time as 

actions are implemented as noted above. The participation events were well 

attended by partners regarding CMH, a subject most professionals are aware of 

and interested in. Education and Health partners report that the impact of 

undertaking multi-agency audit activity alongside other demands for audit in their 

agencies is at times very challenging. GPs historically and currently are not able to 

complete case file audits or attend audit events easily, and the GP Designated Lead 

has had to find ways to support other health professionals to complete case file 

audits.  

 

Where there were tasks to follow up from audit activity this has happened, 

particularly on contextual safeguarding cases; respective CSC Service Managers 

have ensured they have tracked actions. Learning from multi-agency audits needs 

to become more widely disseminated into partner agencies and routes and 

opportunities for this to happen developed; this could be linked to learning from 

Serious Case Reviews (SCRs), given the new proposed LSCB/LSCP partnership 

arrangements.        

 

Views of parents/carers/children/young people were included in the CMH audit 

work. Surveys of young people during other LCSB events were helpful and 

highlighted the need to think more creatively across the range of LSCB activities. In 

audit work, we need to develop the understanding of consent and information 

sharing across the partnership especially when older children’s consents are 

needed, to improve audit planning and improve best practice. Some designated 

leads and partners required some support when considering safeguarding issues 

within the principles of audit under safeguarding board activity, consent 

dispensation and when to seek consent from parents and young people to support 

practice and support audit. Audit tools regarding consent need to be further 

developed; a subgroup of partners could lead on this work. 

 

What we plan to do next?  

Audit themes need to be set and discussed by partners in relation to the new 

partnership priorities. The voices of children and feedback from service users 

should be planned for in audit work as this was previously under-developed. 

Improvements in the CMH Audit along with practice events and the use of SCIE 

methodology should be further supported.  

 

Consistent partner participation in audit work would improve audit activity across 

the partnership and further exploration is needed to understand how best to 

engage partners in multi-agency audit activity alongside their daily safeguarding 

roles. Use of a strengths-based and appreciative style in audit work has been well-

received and should continue.  

 

Thresholds regarding MASH and partnership working from the early analysis of the 

current Threshold Audit require ongoing audit. Information sharing between 

partners and how confident partners are about this needs to be considered further. 

Contextual safeguarding, neglect and domestic abuse remain local key areas of 

enquiry, along with the involvement of fathers and family networks in multi-agency 

work to safeguard children.  

 

Audit tools need further development aligning these to the Signs of Safety practice 

model. Tasks arising from audit need to be tracked, actioned and reported on by 

partners, with this being less developed in the work to date and the MESI group 

needs to consider how to most effectively support audit work via contextual P
age 134



 

11 | P a g e  
 

information analysis and liaison with the audit chair to increase audit capacity and 

timeliness.   

 

Example of effective practice 

 

There were examples of good practice throughout the audit work, but one case in 

particular, the live audit demonstrated good multi-agency partnership working; the 

questionnaires for young people used at an education summit represented a good 

use of forums to gain feedback and should be further developed (see above); 

practice events were well received and were a useful way of engaging safeguarding 

partners.     

 

What do we plan to do next?  

The MESI will continue in a different form under the new arrangements and the 

next year. The partnership aims to have a clear and shared understanding of the 

data so that we have a shared language to articulate the challenges and the impact 

we want to make. It also aims to have performance measures that are based on a 

shared understanding of what success should look like from the perspective of 

children, young people and their families. 

 

The purpose of this group will focus on monitoring and evaluating the effectiveness 

of what is being achieved the partners, individually and collectively. Multi-agency 

audits help to measure the quality, effectiveness and outcomes of safeguarding 

work across the partnership. Members of this group participate in audit activities 

including case audits, interviews with children, young people and parents, surveys, 

consultations and discussions with practitioners and triangulate this information to 

establish the quality of safeguarding delivery, identify areas that require further 

improvement and influence system change. 

 

It will ensure plans are delivered including the actions arising from the SCRs 

currently being undertaken. It will hold partners to account for their safeguarding 

practice during the transition to the new safeguarding arrangements and any 

changes to partnerships structures. It will also hold the LSCB Board partners to 

account for the delivery against the identified safeguarding priorities for 2019-20. 

 

  Policies Procedures & Training Task Group (PPT) 

Chaired by Belinda Chideme, Trust Lead Named Nurse – Lewisham and Greenwich 

NHS Trust and Dr Sian Morgan Named Doctor University Hospital Lewisham  

 

What did we do since the last year? (in relation to safeguarding 
children or to support the LSCB priorities 2018/19) 

 Polices and guidelines which have a multiagency interface have been 

reviewed and updated in line with changes in national legislation : 

- Protocol for the Management of actual or suspected bruising in 

immobile infants  

- Information & Referral to LADO Process 

- Domestic Abuse Policy  

 Learning from Serious Case Reviews is reflected in the Training programme 

– 4 sessions specifically about the recently published SCR’s have been 

advertised. 

 £800 saving by moving Safeguarding Level 2 to online, and offering more 

Safeguarding Level 3 classes. 

 New courses added to the training programme as a result of learning from 

serious case reviews. 

 For the first time LSCB afternoon briefings being delivered at Lewisham 

Hospital to ensure clinical staff have the opportunity to attend. P
age 135



 

12 | P a g e  
 

 The first Early Help Champions ‘train-the-trainer’ training session was held.  

The objective is for all partner agencies to identify professionals who can 

attend the session – so they can train more professionals within their 

respective agency. 

 

What do we hope to achieve in the next year?  

 Training course on Male Victims of Domestic Violence to be added to the 

MARAC training programme. 

 Specific action to increase enrolment to LSCB courses by practitioners 

working in voluntary and faith organisations.  

 Discussions to be held with Greenwich in light of the anticipated changes 

from LSCBs to Safeguarding Partnerships.  

 To have Early Help Champions from all LSCB partner agencies trained and 

delivering training in their respective agency.  

 To have the LSCB website act as a first point of contact or directory in regard 

to available safeguarding training and resource from various organisations, 

voluntary and statutory. 

 Partner agencies to continue to offer relevant training courses, their service 

can deliver via the LSCB Training Programme.  

 There will be an increased focus on including sessions that will enable 

practitioners to formulate strategies to listen to the voice of the child – 

including those with complex health and social needs.  

 The LSCB currently has Female Genital Mutilation (FGM) sessions delivered 

by the African Advocacy Foundation this is a West African organisation which 

focuses on West African practices.  In the next year the LSCB will include 

ECRO – they focus on the Kurdish Pakistani community.  Changes are being 

made in recognition to the different challenges and client groups the 

respective organisations work with.  

 Policies and guidelines which have a multiagency interface will continue to 

be reviewed and updated to ensure they are in line with national legislation, 

including:   

- Children not brought an appointment 

- Parental Mental Health & Child Welfare Protocol 

- Forced Marriages 

- Working with Parents who Misuse Substances 

 

Challenges/risks?  

 A relatively high number of PPT members have not attended meetings, 

which has an impact on the completion or closure of actions. 

 A number of training courses are under-subscribed, which can result in the 

sessions being re-arranged or if necessary, cancelled. A wider issue across 

the training program is non-attendance by professionals who have booked a 

training course, thus reserving training places that are not always utilised. 

 The matter regarding whether private nursery staff are expected to pay to 

attend sessions needs to be resolved – as private nurseries do not 

contribute to the LSCB – yet they are one of the agencies with a high 

number of subscribers.  

 
Example of effective practice? 

 The lunchtime briefings covering serious case reviews will be facilitated 

jointly between Health and Children’s Social Care professionals. 

 P
age 136



 

13 | P a g e  
 

 

How has the voice of the child been considered? 

 A good number of the training sessions provide an opportunity for 

practitioners to formulate strategies to listen to the voice of the child – 

including those deemed to have mental capacity but are vulnerable and 

those with complex health and social needs i.e. diminished mental capacity.  

 

Case Review Panel (CRP) 

Chaired by: Nathan Glew Service Manager, Quality Assurance, Lewisham Council 

Children Social Care  

 

Case Review Panel (CRP)  

Chaired by: Karen Neill, Interim Service Manager, Quality Assurance, Lewisham 

Council Children’s Social Care, until May 2018 and then by Nathan Glew, Head of 

Quality Improvement, Lewisham Council Children’s Social Care, from June 2018.  

What did we do? 

In 2018/2019 the group met on five occasions and undertook the functions of: 

 Determining whether cases met the Working Together 2015 criteria for a 

Serious Case Review (SCR) or a Learning Review. 

 Managing the transitional arrangements towards Child Safeguarding 

Practice Reviews following the introduction of Working Together 2018, 

including convening Rapid Reviews within timescales set by the new National 

Child Safeguarding Practice Review Panel from 29.06.2018. 

 Making a recommendation to the Chair of the LSCB in relation to the type of 

reviews to undertake. 

 Commissioning Learning Reviews and/or SCRs. 

 Managing the process of completing Review reports. 

 Overseeing that actions and recommendations were implemented and 

learning was embedded within agencies. 

 

This work enabled the LSCB to undertake its statutory functions in relation to SCRs. 

The process has been to review what is known about a case, gather initial 

information from agencies (such as chronologies) and then make a  

recommendation about whether the criteria for a SCR is met. If a SCR was 

commissioned, the group managed the production of the SCR report and 

considered any potential media interest. 

When the criteria for a SCR was not met but there were possible learning/key issues 

arising from the case, the Panel might then recommend a multi-agency case 

Learning Review to ensure actions were taken and learning implemented to 

improve safeguarding practice. 

What was the impact? 

In 2018/2019 the group met five times to consider ten serious incidents and make 

recommendations to the LSCB Independent Chair. Through the transitional 

arrangements between Working Together 2015 and 2018, the National Panel 

began to introduce a requirement for Rapid Reviews following notification, four of 

which have now been undertaken.  

One case met the criteria for a SCR and was commissioned to have an independent 

reviewer with considerable relevant experience. This SCR is currently in the final 

stages of report writing.  

Four other cases were identified as requiring multi-agency Learning Reviews and in 

three of these cases, independent reviewers were commissioned. All three are 

currently near completion. For the most recent Learning Review, a decision was P
age 137



 

14 | P a g e  
 

taken to pilot the use of an Appreciative Inquiry model of reviewing, led by an 

interim Head of Service in Children’s Social Care, using a single multi-agency 

practitioner event which has yet to take place. The aim of this is to increase 

opportunities for multi-agency collaborative learning and strengthening partner 

working relationships, as well as reducing bureaucracy.    

One other case, whilst not meeting the criteria for either a SCR or Learning Review, 

was identified for a Serious Incident Review undertaken by Health Services and an 

Internal Management Review undertaken by Children’s Social Care. The learning 

from both reviews will be collated and shared across the new Lewisham 

Safeguarding Children Partnership (LSCP) which replaces the LSCB in response to 

the Children and Social Work Act 2017. 

LSCB partners are also currently contributing to a SCR being undertaken by 

Wandsworth Safeguarding Children Board under Working Together 2015.  

A decision was also taken to undertake a Domestic Homicide Review (DHR) rather 

than a SCR or Learning Review, in relation to a young person, particularly as she 

had not long been resident in Lewisham at the time of her death and was therefore 

not known to LSCB partner agencies.  

At the beginning of 2018/19, three SCRs were current which have all now been 

concluded and are awaiting publication in August 2019. In addition to the LSCB 

website, all SCRs are published on the NSPCC website. The repository provides a 

single place for published case reviews to make it easier to access and share 

learning at a local, regional and national level. 

An issue of national significance has been the rise in serious incidents relating 

primarily to contextual safeguarding issues, such as “county lines,” gang related 

activities and criminal and sexual exploitation. The above Domestic Homicide 

Review has been included in the National Panel’s first thematic review, which has 

a focus on criminal exploitation. In this context, the CRP has been involved in an 

ongoing discussion involving Ofsted, the National Child Safeguarding Practice 

Review Panel, and the Department for Education in relation to the criteria for 

notification and local or national Child Safeguarding Practice Reviews. Where the 

CRP has recommended such incidents have not met the criteria for SCRs/Learning 

Reviews/Practice Reviews, the National Panel has accepted its recommendations 

for their inclusion in a local thematic review of homicides and attempted homicides 

in Lewisham from January 2017 to December 2018, overseen by the Safer 

Lewisham Partnership and supported equally by the Lewisham Safeguarding 

Children Partnership and the Lewisham Safeguarding Adults Board.   

The CRP has overseen the learning from SCRs, Learning Reviews, and Child 

Safeguarding Practice Reviews, to support partner agencies to implement 

recommendation and learning.  

What we plan to do next? 

The CRP will be developed into the “Learning from Practice Group” in the LSCP and 

will work closely with MESI and the other sub groups of the partnership to develop 

a broad culture as a learning organisation and a dynamic self-improving system. 

This will include giving consideration to: the development of a Learning Hub 

approach; more appreciative and collaborative learning models of undertaking 

reviews; and how we better learn and improve from good practice, for example via 

Serious Success Reviews.  

We will be working to create combined key messages from practice reviews, 

delivering consolidated learning and promoting improvement across the 

partnership.  

We will work with the coming Concern Hub and national partners to further clarify 

the most effective criteria and processes for notification and review in relation to 

serious incidents concerning contextual safeguarding issues.    

P
age 138



 

15 | P a g e  
 

We will further develop and embed our processes for ensuring effective Rapid 

Reviews, (including their relationship with Child Death Overview Panel “Rapid 

Response” meetings) following notification to the National Child Safeguarding 

Practice Review Panel. 

 

Child Death Overview Panel (CDOP) 

Chaired: Pauline Cross, Consultant Midwife in Public Health and Senior Public 

Health Strategist, Public Health team, London Borough of Lewisham. 

What did we do? (In relation to safeguarding children or to 
support the LSCB priorities 2018/2019) 

Chapter 5 of Working Together to Safeguard Children 2015 places duties on Local 

Safeguarding Children Boards to review deaths of all children who normally reside 

in the area.  This has been a statutory duty since April 2008.The new statutory 

guidance published in July 2018 will see changes to this process in the coming year. 

Currently, Child Death Overview Panels (CDOPs) are the means by which local 

LSCBs discharge this responsibility. Babies who are stillborn and planned 

terminations carried out within the law are excluded from the review.   

Panel members decide what, if any, actions could be taken to prevent such future 

deaths and make recommendations to the LSCB or other relevant bodies so that 

action can be taken. CDOP referred 3 deaths to the SCR panel during 2018-19, 1 of 

which was taken forward by the SCR panel, 1 was taken forward for a domestic 

homicide review and 1 was not taken forward. 

Lewisham CDOP received 27 child death notifications from 1st April 2018 to 31st 

March 2019 of which 13 were unexpected deaths.  This was the same figure as the 

previous year. The complexity of the deaths reviewed has continued to be of 

concern this year and included deaths in which there were significant concerns 

about the wider family and in particular the siblings of the child that died.  

More detailed analysis on all deaths of Lewisham children will be contained within 

the CDOP annual report which will be completed later this year. 

A total of 25 deaths were reviewed by Lewisham CDOP over the course of 

2018/19 though some of these deaths occurred before 1st April 2018. 17 of the 

deaths reviewed (68%) had modifiable factors.  7 (28%) of the 25 deaths were 

related to perinatal/neonatal events, extreme prematurity being the leading 

cause of death in Lewisham and nationally. 5 (20%) of deaths were due to sudden 

unexpected death in infancy and 4 (16%) to chromosomal, genetic or congenital 

abnormality. 

 

Example of effective practice  

In line with one of the main purposes of CDOP, i.e. to learn from the tragic deaths 

of children in order to prevent future deaths, Lewisham CDOP has initiated a 

number of work programmes to ensure learning is disseminated among partner 

agencies.  

 

These include: 

• Continuation of a Safer Sleep/Prevention of SIDS training programme to 

health professionals, foster carers and children’s centre staff in Lewisham 

• Prevention of Prematurity research trial (POPPIE trial) at LGT supported by 

academic partners, which commenced in May 2017 has now completed 

and is due to report in July 2019 

• CDOP Newsletter sent out 3 times a year to Lewisham and Greenwich 

Hospital (LGT) staff, GPs and other partners to share learning from our 

reviews  P
age 139



 

16 | P a g e  
 

• Audit of support given to children, young people and parents when 

children present to A&E with self-harm or a suicide attempt.  This identified 

gaps in information giving. The audit lead, under the supervision of CDOP 

has produced information packs which will be given to young people and 

parents aiming to promote good mental health and enable young people 

and their parents to be informed about support available when they are 

discharged 

• CDOP has continued to facilitate the discussions between LGT and the 

Mayor’s Office for Policing and Crime (MOPAC) and these discussions have 

secured agreement that MOPAC funding will enable the siting of a youth 

service in the A&E departments in Lewisham and Greenwich in order to 

reduce youth violence and better support young people attending A&E. 

 

Missing, Exploited and Trafficked (MET) Subgroup (to be re-
named as ‘Concern Hub’) 

Chaired by Geeta Subramaniam-Mooney Director Public Protection and Safety, 

Andy Furphy Detective Superintendent Police, Lucie Heyes Director Children 

Social Care.   

 

What did we do?  

The Borough developed a forward-thinking model in 2016 which did not focus on 

‘labels’ of types of risks such as youth offender/ CSE;  but took an approach which 

recognised the drivers and multiple complex issues that affect children and young 

people as well as focussing on preventative aspects and earlier support. The 

Missing, Exploited and Trafficked strategy was developed alongside a Serious Youth 

Violence Prevention Panel.    

 

Following on from this, the LSCB is planning to move to a ‘Concern Hub’ model.  

This model came from current structures being reviewed, taking into account a 

number of changes in our understanding and focus on a public health/whole 

systems approach to violence as well as rationalising multi agency actions for 

exploited children. 

 

The Concern Hub model will work with children and young people up to the age of 

25 primarily, includes missing, Child sexual exploitation, child exploitation, harmful 

sexual behaviour, county lines, serious youth violence and gangs.   

 

The focus of the change is to:  

 Provide a preventative offer of support for the client and family with earlier 

identification of risk 

 Provide a multi-agency forum to jointly risk assess/ safety plan and agreed 

joint actions and lead agency  

 Use a contextual safeguarding approach to make short/ medium and longer 

term change 

 Join up resources across a cohort of children and young people to avoid 

duplication  

 

The focus will remain on: 

 Under 25 year old young people  

 Using the Violence Reduction Hub Model as a basis 

 Including Missing, Exploited and Trafficked cases 

 Including the current Serious Youth Violence cohort of Red, Amber 

 Including Habitual Knife Crime subjects 

 Including the green cases from the Met Police Gangs Matrix P
age 140



 

17 | P a g e  
 

 

Outcomes from the Concern Hub:  

These will be reviewed quarterly, but initially the performance framework will 

include:  

 

Borough wide:  

 Reduction In Violence with Injury  

 Reduction In Knife crime  

 Reduction in violence with injury knife crime  

 Improved response to CSE and Child exploitation  

 

For those on the cohort of the Concern Hub: 

 Reduction in Concern  

 Positive change in involvement in education, training or employment  

 Stable accommodation  

 Progress regarding wellbeing  

 

Safeguarding outcomes: 

 Understand and better co-ordinate the risks of exploitation (link to Rescue 

and Response) 

 Mapping peers and creating plans that address safeguarding needs including 

siblings and parents 

 Focus on perpetrators to prevent repeated victimisation and break cycle of 

exploitation 

 Trauma-informed and strength based approaches to reduce fear, increase 

hub staff wellbeing and capacity to manage stress and Vicarious Trauma. 

 

What is the anticipated impact? 

It is anticipated that the Concern Hub’s multi-agency response within a 

contextual safeguarding approach will have a significant impact impact for 

children and young people at risk of  going missing and/or at risk of 

exploitation or violence.  

Impact will be  measured through the Concern Hub dashboard, which will 

provide detailed information which will support analysis of: 

 Trends  

 Key concerns  

 Interventions used and impact in reducing concern  

 

The impact of the Concern Hub will be monitored through the quarterly SLCB 

Concern Hub Strategic Meeting. 

 

What we plan to do next?  

 Review the Concern Hub’s impact and explore opportunities for evaluation 

once this intiative goes live 

 Increase partners to support the interventions and work  of the Concern 

Hub 

 Use findings from the work of the Concern Hub to inform commissioning 

decisions 

 

 

P
age 141



 

18 | P a g e  
 

LSCB Statutory Functions  
 

 

 

 

Children’s Social Care 
 

Lewisham Children’s Social Care experienced a number of changes through 

2018/19, prompted by a programme of reviews during spring and summer 2018, 

which identified the 2016–18 programme of improvement was not having 

sufficient impact. The improvement plan was refreshed through the summer of 

2018 following the appointment of a new permanent Director of Children’s Social 

Care (Lucie Heyes) and the establishment of an Improvement Board, chaired by the 

Lead Member for Children’s Services (Cllr Chris Barnham). With renewed energy 

and council support the improvement programme has picked up the pace of 

change and started to improve safeguarding and looked after services for children 

and families.  

Compared to other London Boroughs, Lewisham has higher than average numbers 

of children subject to child protection plans, court proceedings and coming into 

care (becoming looked after). Part of the improvement programme is to bring 

these numbers down to be comparable with others. The way we are doing this is 

by working differently with families and taking a more proportionate approach to 

managing risk. In early 2019 Children’s Social Care began implementing a new Signs 

of Safety social work practice framework, which is aimed developing a more 

collaborative style of practice putting the child, young person and their naturally 

occurring network of support at the very centre of creating safety. The key areas 

of improvement are: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 To strengthen the Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH), which is the 

referral route for all children for whom people may have safety or welfare 

concerns. In July 2018 a focused visit from Ofsted recommended a number 

of improvements to the MASH. These recommendations are being followed 

up, to improve the service provided at the front door. 

 To increase management oversight has been to support newly qualified 

social workers and help ensure children and families are receiving the right 

services at the right time. 

 In January 2019 Children’s Social Care introduced a new performance and 

quality assurance framework to help improve standards of practice, they are 

also in the process of re-designing their ICT systems, reduce bureaucracy to 

enable social workers to spend more time with families. 

 A new workforce development programme is in development to reduce the 

number of changes that children and families experience and to ensure 

social workers have the skills and knowledge to work with some of the most 

challenging situations. 

 Young people at risk of exploitation and violence in the community is a 

growing area of concern and plans are underway to develop a specialist team 

to work closely with partners in youth offending services and police to find 

effective ways to keep young people safe in the community 

 For children with disabilities a number of improvements have been made, 

such as training for social workers on different communication methods, a 

new care package team has been developed to better support families with 

complex care packages. A new transition team is being established to better P
age 142



 

19 | P a g e  
 

486

437

309277

478

344

47 Being assessed or receiving short term
services
CIN receiving medium/long term services
CIN plans
CIN receiving disability services

Subject to Child Protection Plan

Looked After Chidlren

Care Leavers 18-21 yrs

Care Leavers 22-25 yrs

help young people transitioning to adults care services when they reach 

adulthood. 

 A new foster carer recruitment strategy to attract more local residents to 

become foster carers for our looked after children. This is to help our most 

vulnerable children in care to remain local and connected to their families, 

schools and communities.  

 To develop a new Early Help Strategy to ensure that families below the 

children’s social care threshold receive support to avoid escalation.   

The improvement plan sets out a three year programme, with further changes 

to be made through 2019 – 2021. Lewisham is expecting a full Ofsted 

inspection in 2019, where services and the improvement plan will be 

comprehensively reviewed by the regulator. 

Details of Lewisham Children’s Social Care Children in Need and performance 

benchmarked against other Local Authorities can be found at: 

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/characteristics-of-children-in-

need-2018-to-2019 

 

As at 31/12/18 Lewisham Children’s Social Care was working with 2,378 

children. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Lewisham Early Help, Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH) 
& Children at risk of Missing, Exploitation & Trafficking 

 

Lewisham’s Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH) continues to build upon the 

strong multi-agency membership developed since its inception. After a refresh in 

January, the MASH has been refining its multi-agency response to notifications 

from professionals and members of the public, on the welfare of children. The 

MASH is a ‘single front door’ triage system, which makes a swift initial assessment 

of the child’s needs against the LSCB Continuum of Need (CON).   

 

The MASH aims to identify which children can be supported either by universal 

services in the community or via the local Early Help offer (CON Level 1 and 2) and 

which require a statutory social work assessment (CON Level 3 or 4) in a 24 hour 

period. Through 2018-19 the MASH received 18,706 contacts, on average 1,559 per 

month.  Of these 22.2% (4170) met the threshold for a Children’s Social Care 

statutory social work assessment of need and in some cases, for a s.47 Child  

Protection Enquiry, which may also involve the police. 

 

At the time of writing, a review of services for children at risk of going Missing or 

being Exploited or Trafficked (MET) is underway in conjunction with the LSCB. A 

new operational and LSCB strategic group (the ‘Concern Hub’) is in the process of 

being developed to provide support to safeguarding professionals working with 

children who may be at risk of going missing from home or care, being exploited or 

trafficked. It is anticipated that the Concern Hub will meet quarterly to look at 

strategic safeguarding issues and initiatives in these safeguarding areas, including 

developing an enhanced dataset that will support auditing going forward. The 

review of Children’s Services work around missing, children at risk of exploitation 

and trafficking is also considering re-organisation of some service areas to provide 

a dedicated staffing resource to enhance practice and support the introduction of 

a contextual safeguarding approach with these children and young people.  

P
age 143



 

20 | P a g e  
 

Looked After Children (LAC) 

 

The were 491 Looked After Children in Lewisham at the end of March 2019. Looked 

After Children and 18–25 year old young people who have formerly been in care 

combined comprise over 35% of all children and young people that Children’s 

Social Care are working to safeguard, support and care for at any given time. 

Services for Looked After Children receive separate council scrutiny via the 

Corporate Parenting Board. The LSCB and its successor safeguarding body in 

Lewisham will maintain a close relationship with the Corporate Parenting Board. 

The LSCB will also work with Children’s Services as the review of services to oversee 

and scrutinise multi-agency arrangements to safeguarding Looked After Children 

who go missing and are at risk of exploitation, trafficking and abuse. 

 

Children’s Services continues to work towards improving the physical, emotional 

health and education outcomes for Looked After Children and retains a focus on 

ensuring placement stability for children in care to provide a solid, supportive base 

for Looked After Children to thrive and achieve.  

 

Designated Officer (LADO) 
 

The Local Authority Designated Officer (LADO) in Lewisham fulfils the local 

authority duty outlined in Working Together 2018 “to be involved in the 

management and oversight of allegations against people who work with children.” 

The LADO receives contacts relating to allegations of this type for oversight and for 

direct investigation where required.  

 

In 2018-19, the LADO received 342 contacts, an increase of 10 since the previous 

year. Many of these contacts were initially resolved by providing advice, whilst 40% 

were taken forward for further investigation. Of the 137 LADO contacts that 

became investigations, 129 were concluded at the end of 2018-19, of these the 

allegations were found to be substantiated in 18 cases (14%). In the majority of 

situations the circumstances can be managed through advice and consultation; 

68% of cases are resolved within 7 days, 90% in 31 days. 

 

 

 
 

Private Fostering 
 

Private fostering is defined as ‘a child who is under the age of 16 (18 if disabled) 

and who is cared for, and provided with accommodation, by someone other than 

the parent a person who is not the parent but who has parental responsibility, or 

a close relative defined in this context as a brother, sister, aunt, uncle, grandparent 

or step-parent.  

 

Children in private fostering arrangements are potentially vulnerable and the Local 

Authority must be notified. During 2018/19 Children’s Social Care received 25 

notifications of new possible arrangements in Lewisham, a decrease from 2017/18 

(No.43).  The decrease is due to one of the main agencies for a private language 

school ceasing to host international students. Lewisham continues to have a 

number of international students staying with host families. There has also been 

an increase in the number of young people whose relationship with their parents 

has broken down and they are staying in Private Fostering arrangements.  We also 

89

9 8
18 13

0
20
40
60
80

100

Advice &
Consultation

NFA Outcome
pending

Substantiated Unsubstantiated

Outcomes of LADO referrals 2018/2019

P
age 144



 

21 | P a g e  
 

have a number of children who have been sent to the UK to stay with family 

members for a ‘better life’.  

 

Notifications are received from the Home Office, Schools, Host agencies, CAFCASS 

and with the Council or from other Councils. 14 of the 25 notifications received 

were assessed as new Private Fostering arrangements, this combined with 10 

known existing arrangements means there are 24 Private Fostering arrangements 

being monitored by Children’s Social Care. The vast majority of arrangements are 

assessed as providing safe care for the children. 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 145



 

22 | P a g e  
 

Partnership Activity to Safeguard Children  
 
 
 

Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust (LGT) 

Chaired by/Agency Representative: Belinda Chideme, trust lead named nurse for 

safeguarding children, Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust 

What did we do? (In relation to safeguarding children or to 
support the LSCB priorities 2018/2019) 

Evidence for and evaluation of effectiveness 

 

Key performance indicators are monitored and reported on a quarterly basis to the 

Lewisham Safeguarding Children Board and monthly to the Lewisham Clinical 

Commissioning Group.  

 

Due to active involvement with three safeguarding children boards, the 

Safeguarding Children Team undertook a range of audits this past year including 

audits into the effectiveness of supervision and training, the quality of record 

keeping across community and acute sites and the appropriate management and 

risk assessment (RAG rating) of paediatric ED attendances.  

 

The Safeguarding Children Team contributed to a Lewisham Safeguarding Children 

Board (LSCB) Multi Agency Deep Dive Audit: Child Mental Health and Well-being. 

This was also a joint audit with the Greenwich Safeguarding Children Board (GSCB).  

The results and recommendations were shared with all partners. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

As of 01.04.2018, the data collected for Emergency Department (ED) attendances 

has been extended to include themes around child sexual exploitation, gang/youth 

violence activity, missing and trafficking. 

 

Changes made as a result of previous learning/priorities and new developments  

 

The LGT’s safeguarding children training has been updated in line with changes 

made to the Intercollegiate Document: Safeguarding Children and Young People: 

Roles and Competencies for Healthcare Staff (2019). 

 

The LGT’s safeguarding supervision policy has been updated to reflect national and 

local changes and incorporates feedback and findings from previous audits. 

Safeguarding supervision has been extensively re-mapped to widen the breadth of 

professionals receiving this within LGT. 

 

Other policies that are currently being updated include the ‘Was Not Bought’ policy 

and the overarching ‘Safeguarding Children and Young People’ policy.   

 

Learning events have been delivered following findings from recent serious case 

reviews.  

 

Fit with and contribution to LSCB current priorities  

 

Themes around neglect, self-harm, child sexual exploitation and children and 

young people missing, trafficked or involved in serious youth violence are 

addressed within current training. 

 P
age 146



 

23 | P a g e  
 

Any attendance to ED in which the above concerns are analysed at the weekly ED 

safeguarding meeting, to ensure robust actions have been taken to safeguard the 

children / young people involved.    

 

The Trust has contributed towards three learning reviews and two SCR’s which are 

currently awaiting publication. 

 

What was the impact? 

Views of parents/carers/children/young people 

 

The Trust uses the Friends and Family Test and encourages participation from 

parents and children.  

 

Parents and children (if age appropriate) are invited to meetings where their care 

is discussed and where hearing the voice and wishes of the child is actively 

encouraged. 

 

Improvements this year-what are we doing better as a result of the activity? 

 

All three local Safeguarding Children Boards have shared their plans.  Bexley had 

already shared plans to be a standalone partnership. Lewisham and Greenwich 

have one Business Manager, but they have kept the respective subgroups separate.  

The Child Death Overview Panel will be joint between Lewisham, Greenwich and 

Bexley.  

 

Level 3 training now includes a session delivered by the Named Nurses; the session 

is dedicated to disseminating learning from local serious case reviews.  The plan is 

for the Named Nurses to deliver a session based on 2 reviews which involve 

children who were known to Lewisham and the Greenwich hospital/services. The 

training now includes specialist topics presented by an external speaker. 

 

Enhanced supervision has been introduced. This is a forum in which senior service 

leads can discuss complex cases and / or those cases which involve a large number 

of professional input. This was devised following learning from a recent serious 

case review. 

 
What we plan to do next?  

Challenges and priorities for this year (2019/2020)  

 

A key challenge this year has been in reaching compliance with Level 3 

Safeguarding children training. Key staff groups have been identified where low 

compliance is an issue and support has been put in place to overcome any barriers 

to accessing training.    

 

To continue to build frontline staff knowledge and competence in the early 

identification of vulnerabilities and thereby enable a quick response (early 

intervention).   

 

To review and strengthen safeguarding processes, safeguarding supervision and 

practice within maternity services. 

 

To strengthen safeguarding supervision provision and embed a new enhanced 

(multi-agency) supervision model. 

 

To continue to roll out safeguarding supervision across site for community 

midwives and specialist midwives. 

 P
age 147



 

24 | P a g e  
 

To raise the profile of contextual safeguarding and an understanding of early help 

services, across all sites. 

 

To review and strengthen frontline staff knowledge on FGM and Harmful Practices.  

 

To participate in partnership initiatives aimed at supporting children and young 

people at risk of child sexual exploitation, gang/youth violence activity, missing and 

trafficking. 

 

Safer Lewisham Partnership 

 

For 2019-2020 the Partnership seeks to focus on:  

 In taking a public health approach to tackling violence there will be a 

collective and whole system approach to reducing exploitation, harm and 

violence.   

 The partnership will build on the foundations in place towards making 

Lewisham a trauma informed borough;  

 The strength of our response places equal focus on victims and perpetrators 

to help support and bring about positive change  

 

In taking a public health approach to tackling violence there 
will be a collective and whole system approach to reducing 

exploitation, harm and violence. 

(See Lewisham’s Public Health approach to Violence Reduction - 

https://lewisham.gov.uk/inmyarea/publicsafety/our-public-health-approach-to-reducing-

violence ) 

Violence is not normal nor acceptable.  Many of the factors that may lead to 

violence include exposure to violence, experiences to adverse childhood 

experiences and the environments in which we live from birth to older age.     

Greater understanding of these aspects will seek to promote preventative 

approaches, promote protective factors and build resilience for individuals and the 

community as a whole. Violence prevention needs to be seen as a key part of tackling 

inequalities.    

 

Lewisham is taking a public health approach to reducing violence which means: 

 Understanding the extent of all violence, where and how it happens and who 

is affected to better inform including youth violence, domestic abuse, and 

sexual violence. 

 Understanding that violence damages physical and emotional health and can 

have long-lasting negative impacts. It increases individuals’ risks of a broad 

range of health damaging behaviours – including further violence – and 

reduces their life prospects in terms of education, employment and social 

and emotional wellbeing. 

 A wide range of factors relating to individuals, their relationships, and the 

communities and societies in which they live can interact to increase or 

reduce vulnerability to violence.  Issues such as Adverse Childhood 

Experiences (ACEs) can have significant impacts on families. 

 There are a wide range of strategies that can be used to address risk factors 

for violence and promote protective factors across all ages.  Some can be 

implemented universally and others are targeted specifically.  Using 

evidence based models will shape impact. 

 Working with the strengths that exist in communities to listen and 

collaborate on designing solutions together. P
age 148



 

25 | P a g e  
 

 Dialogue that challenges social norms aim to prevent violence by making it 

less socially acceptable. 

 The safer Lewisham partnership will play a significant coordinating role 

through the newly formed violence reduction board. 

 

The Aim is to:  

 Reduce the impacts and actual violence across Lewisham 

 Identify the causes of violence in Lewisham, and act to deliver short and 

longer term reductions  

 Listen and work with communities to build on their strengths and deliver 

solutions together. 

 Create a learning environment for continuous improvement. 

 Impact positively on wider social, economic and health outcomes for our   

residents.  

The partnership will build on the foundations in place 
towardsmaking Lewisham a trauma informed borough; 

“Safety-Throughout the organisation, staff and the people they serve feel 

physically and psychologically safe.” Guiding Principles of Trauma-Informed Care, 

2014. 

“A trauma-informed service system and/or organisation is one in which all 

components of the system have been reconsidered and evaluated in the light of a 

basic understanding of the role that violence and trauma play in the lives of people 

seeking or referred to services. 

ACES provide a measure of traumatic experiences in childhood are used to influnce 

prevention and predict future harm. According to Scottish research people with 4 

or more Adverse Chid Experiences ( abuse,neglect, household dysfunction) are: 

 14 times more likely to have been a victim of violence over the last 12 

months 

 15 times more likely to have committed violence against another person in 

the last 12 months 

 16 times  more likely to have used class A drugs 

 20 times more likely to have been incarcerated at any point in their 

lifetime. 

Lewisham will aim to adopt the following principles and apply to organisations 

throughout the borough: 

 Safety – creating spaces where people feel culturally, emotionally and 

physically safe 

 Transparency and Trustworthiness – full and accurate information about 

what’s happening and what's likely to happen next 

 Choice – an approach that honours an individual’s dignity 

 Voice – creating the opportunity where the individuals views, opinions and 

feeling are heard and acknowledged 

 Collaboration and mutuality – healing happens in relationship and 

partnerships with shared decision making 

 Empowerment – Recognition of an individual’s strengths. These strengths 

are built on and validated. 

To achieve these outcomes the following is needed: 

 Realising the prevalence of trauma through a consistently applied training 

program 

P
age 149



 

26 | P a g e  
 

 Recognising and supporting how stress and fear affects all individuals 

involved with the program, organization or system, including its own 

workforce 

 Resisting re-traumatisation, labelling and re-victimisation  

 Responding by putting this knowledge into practice. The Trauma Recovery 

Model responds to readiness of intervention to underlying need. 

 Restorative: Using conflict or an incident as an opportunity to repair harm 

and heal relationships 

 

The strength of our response places equal focus on victims and 
perpetrators to support and bring about positive change 

Studies of trauma among groups of young people found that: 

 91% of violent young offenders have experienced abuse or loss 

 40% of female and 25% of male youth in custody have suffered violence at 

home 

 33% of female offenders have suffered sexual abuse 

Research also indicates that offenders are more likely than non-offenders to have 

suffered adverse effects from traumatic experiences, which appear to be linked to 

offending behaviour. Trauma can result in inappropriate aggression and is strongly 

associated with a range of problematic behaviour including violence, 

antisocial/criminal conduct, sex offending and substance misuse.   We understand 

that many child and adult offenders will have been subject to a range of adverse 

experiences, from substance misuse problems, difficult family backgrounds 

including experience of childhood abuse or time spent in care, unemployment and 

financial problems, to homelessness and mental health problems and this 

knowledge underpins our trauma informed, restorative approach to tackling 

offending. However we also acknowledge that there are victims of the crimes 

perpetrated by these exploiters and our focus on supporting these victims must 

remain resolute. 

 

Services for all victims will:  

 Support through a recognition of trauma to assist with recovery 

 Provide safety advice and planning  

 Support participation in the criminal justice processes as appropriate 

improving compliance to the victims code of practice  

 Crime prevention advice for all  

 Restorative approaches to help heal the harm caused. 

 

Lewisham approach to breaking the victim/offender cycle will: 

 Focus on both the individuals and their families, understanding the dynamics 

of these relationships and interactions.  

 Aim to stop re-victimisation within interpersonal relationships. 

 Explore appropriate perpetrator desistance programs.  

 Create approaches to tackle specific victim/perpetrator relationships  

 Focus on how perpetrators are supported to change and understand the 

impact of their harmful behaviour.  

 Be developed as a multi-agency Concern Hub, which will work with children 

under 25;  those who are missing or who are victims of child sexual 

exploitation, child exploitation, harmful sexual behaviour, county lines, 

serious youth violence and gangs.   

 Challenge social norms to making interpersonal violence of all kinds less 

socially acceptable. 

P
age 150



 

27 | P a g e  
 

 Coordinate this work through the Violence Reduction Board, the Concern 

Hub and the Violence Against Women and Girls Steering Group. 

Action at all levels 

 Lewisham is committed to tackling and reducing the impacts of violence 

and crime on our communities, linking into strategies and plans that are in 

place such as the Violence against Women and Girls (VAWG) Plan 18-21, 

knife crime action plan 18/19, the Public health approach to violence 

framework 2019, the children and young person’s plan 2019 and building 

stronger communities programme.  

 

 Working with colleagues in other London boroughs on this agenda to share 

practice and findings will help to build the evidence base and opportunities 

for collaborative working.  Doing more together helps to bring about greater 

change and impact. 

 

 Working with the London Mayor’s office for policing and crime (MOPAC) is 

essential to ensure that Lewisham are learning from and feeding into the 

work of the Violence Reduction Unit for London.  This focus for London is 

essential as our communities are affected by what occurs across London.  

Accessing resources for Lewisham community and voluntary sector groups, 

partners and the Council will be a priority where available.   

 

 Working at a National level to influence policy and bring about whole scale 

change is something we will continue to do working with colleagues in the 

Ministry of Justice, Home Office, National Crime Agency, and Department of 

Education. Lewisham is constantly learning from its approach to date and are 

keen to ensure that this is fed into National learning to help greater 

understanding about violence.   

Children and Adolescent Mental Health Service (CAMHS)  

Safeguarding Children Supervision arrangements 
In CAMHS there is a Safeguarding doctor and a Safeguarding lead who are available to 

discuss concerns for children with mental health problems and safeguarding needs. All 

CAMHS staff receive inter-disciplinary and disciplinary supervision.   

Our Priorities: 

 For all staff to access appropriate level 3 Child Safeguarding Training. 

 To ensure all children who access CAMHS with safeguarding needs are 

identified. 

 To ensure that where safeguarding needs are identified they are appropriately 

discussed on a daily basis with senior staff and a care plan is in place.  

 To ensure that we jointly work with multi-agency staff to support children with 

mental health and safe guarding needs 

What did we do? 

Neglect 
 

1. CAMHS staff have training and knowledge to 
identify both gross and subtle neglect.  

2. CAMHS staff have access to discuss concerns and 
formulate plans to safeguard children with 
neglect in the context of complex mental health 
concerns with senior staff, on-call Consultant, 
Safe Guarding Doctor, trust Lead Safeguarding 
Nurse and doctor.  

Governance and 
performance 
 

1. The SLAM trust safeguarding board works closely 
with the local Lewisham safeguarding lead and 
doctor to ensure trust wide policies and 
procedures in line with the local performance 
targets are met.  P

age 151



 

28 | P a g e  
 

2. The monthly CAMHS senior strategy meeting 
monitors performance related to safeguarding 
and addresses any concerns both at trust level 
and locally for Lewisham CAMHS. 

3. All CAMHS staff have access to joint Level 3 
safeguarding training which includes case study 
and discussions of children presenting with 
complex mental health needs and safeguarding 
needs 

Self-harm and 
suicide prevention 
 

1. All CAMHS staff have training in eliciting concerns 
around self-harm and discussing safety plans with 
children and young people presenting in crisis.  

2. Lewisham CAMHS strives for 100% compliance 
with 7 day follow-up of all children presenting 
with suicidal and self-harm concerns to ED at UHL 
to reduce risks.   

3. Lewisham CAMHS is a partner in I-Thrive Self-
harm and Suicide Prevention strategy in 
Lewisham.  

Voice of the child 
and community 
 

1. Lewisham CAMHS has a thriving YAG (Youth 
Advisory Group) group which is an active young 
people’s forum which helps shape the way 
Lewisham CAMHS delivers services for children 
with mental health problems.  

2. The award winning Alchemy project organises 
on-going inclusive groups for children, which are 
co-produced by young people.  

3. The parents group for children presenting with 
complex mental health needs is a space for 
parents to share experiences. 

Missing, exploited 
and Trafficked  
 
 

1. The safeguarding lead monitors and liaised 
closely with the MASH team on vulnerable 
children. Safegaurding leads will liaise with the 
Concern Hub when implemented. 

2. The safeguarding lead continually escalates and 
work closely with relevant agencies to ensure 
safety of vulnerable young people.  

 

London Ambulance Service (LAS)  
 
Our priorities in 2018-19 

• Secure sufficient resources to develop safeguarding in the Trust 

• Monitor trust’s safeguarding processes and compliance 

• Support Trust with safeguarding practice & requirements 

• Assure Trust processes by driving consistency & improvement in 

safeguarding practice 

• Forge effective relationships internally and externally 

 
What did we do? 

• Secured funding to increase safeguarding team by 100% to enable a 

dedicated safeguarding specialist in each area of Trust. 

• 7% increase in safeguarding concerns and referrals to 23,471. 

• Introduced 24/7 safeguarding telephone line for staff 

• >90% safeguarding training Compliance 

• Introduced Quarterly Safeguarding Newsletter 

• Produced new safeguarding pocketbook for staff 

• Introduced Chaperone and Supervision policies 

• Held Safeguarding Conference for over 170 staff and partners 

• Introduced Learning Disability and Mental Capacity Act Strategies. 

Our priorities for 2019-20 

To be outstanding in quality standards and drive continual improvements P
age 152



 

29 | P a g e  
 

 

• Excellent Governance and Assurance of Trusts safeguarding processes and 

compliance 

• Development of the Safeguarding Team 

• Successful delivery of safeguarding training plan, local education and 

supervision 

• Safeguarding innovation and review current practices to identify cost 

savings. 

• Ensure integration of 111 & IUC 

• Forge effective relationships internally and externally to safeguarding 

children and adults 

 

In conclusion the LAS is committed to safeguarding and has invested in the 

safeguarding team to ensure trust is compliant with standards and provides the 

highest level of care for its most vulnerable patients. 

 

The Full LAS annual report can be found on the Trust website. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

London Community Rehabilitation Company (CRC) 
AJ Brooks, Contracts and Partnerships Manager, London Community 

Rehabilitation Company 

 

What did we do?  

In 2018/2019 LCRC have sought to further embed the utilisation of our internal 

safeguarding assessment to inform our practice. These safeguarding assessments, 

which were a large part of our previous year’s work program, act to obtain the 

necessary information in relation to a Service User’s contact with children and 

young people under the age of 18 so that the risk that they may pose to them can 

be managed from the outset. In embedding this LCRC have invested heavily in a 

new case recording and assessment tool, Omnia, which helps to support the 

individual practitioner’s assessment process by highlighting the evident risks and 

intuitively seeking the necessary risk management plans to reduce the perceived 

risks. 

 

Further to this, LCRC have implemented local geographical area Public Protection 

Boards, where safeguarding risk management processes and procedures are 

discussed both independently, but also in relation to the other public protection 

themes including Domestic Abuse, Serious Group Offending and Extremism. These 

local Boards are attended by senior management and operational leads to help 

understand the local picture and drive forward the actions that stem from these 

meeting. Oversight to these Boards is through LCRC’s strategic Public Protection 

Board which his chaired by our Director. 

 

In order to improve partnership work and operational responses to the actions 

stemming from the Public Protection Boards, we have also established ‘Subject 

Matter Expert’ (SME) roles in each of our teams. These SMEs are tasked with 

ensure the implementation of any improvement actions, leading peer learning on P
age 153



 

30 | P a g e  
 

specific safeguarding themes picked up out of our monthly and quarterly audits 

and providing a single point of contact for our safeguarding partners.  

 

What was the impact? 

The addition of the Public Protection Boards allows an extra level of operational 

and strategic oversight to our case management and risk assessment. This 

additional oversight has shown to have a positive impact on the safeguarding 

practices in Lewisham as evidenced through our monthly audit data. At the start of 

2018, when our safeguarding training program was drawing to a conclusion from 

the previous year, the sufficiency of our safeguarding practices were assessed by 

our central Quality & Performance team to be around the 33% mark. However, at 

the end of 2018/19 the monthly audit showed a marked improvement in the 

sufficiency with a score of 100%. 

 

What we plan to do next?  

With the recent announcement that offender management function of Probation 

services managed by the CRC’s across the country will be re-nationalised by Spring 

2021, in 2019/20 we are heading into a period of substantial change. In order to 

ensure the smooth transition of cases in the lead up to the re-nationalisation and 

therefore the on-going effective management of risk, we will be looking to 

continue to strengthen the partnership work we do with the National Probation 

Service. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Phoenix Community Housing  
Leon Yohai, Head of Housing Management 

 

What did we do in 2018-19? 

In 2018-19 to support the LSCB in safeguarding children and deliver its priorities 

we:  

LSCB Priority Our Support 

 

Neglect 

 

 

 Implemented guidance for staff on what they should do 

if they come across children who are home alone when 

visiting properties. 

Governance, 

performance, 

analysis and 

outcomes 

 Implemented the restructure of our Safeguarding 

Panel, updated our Terms of Reference and reporting 

procedures. 

 Reviewed our Safeguarding training programme.  

 Ensured the Designated Officer and Deputy attended 

Designated Officer training. 

Missing, 

exploitation and 

trafficking 

 

 

 Delivered a workshop for staff on Modern Day Slavery 

and continued to promote our Anti-Slavery and Human 

Trafficking Statement as part of our development of 

new services. 

Voice of the 

child and 

community 

 

 Reviewed our Young Makers Agency activities and our 

approach to working with children and young people. 

 

 Reviewed our Community Engagement and 

Empowerment Strategy, this includes specific P
age 154



 

31 | P a g e  
 

objectives to support and empower children and 

young people. 

 

Evidence for and evaluation of effectiveness 

Evidence is monitored through an action plan by our Safeguarding Panel alongside 

a suite of key performance indicators (KPIs).   The Safeguarding Panel is chaired by 

the Designated Officer and reports to the Executive Team quarterly.  The 

Safeguarding Panel reports to the Board quarterly through KPIs and an annual 

performance report.   

 

Our Phoenix Gateway Committee selected the suite of KPIs whilst our Resident 

Scrutiny Panel monitor them on quarterly. 

 

We also reviewed our activities with children and young people against the NSPCC 

Safeguarding Standards and Guidance for the Voluntary and Community Sector.   

 

Changes made as a result of previous learning/priorities and 
new developments 

Fit with and contribution to LSCB current priorities  

Our plans and priorities support the LSCBs priorities but as a landlord, we deliver 

limited activities and services directly to children and young people which means 

our impact is less direct. 

 

What was the impact? 

Key learning included: 

 

 The need for clear specific guidance to support staff with facilitating or 

running children and young people activities. 

 The benefits of separating our adult and children safeguarding procedures. 

 The benefits of supporting staff dealing with safeguarding cases in different 

ways, for example: learning circles and Mental Health First Aiders. 

 

Views of parents/carers/children/young people 

We have a specific complaints and feedback form for children and young people at 

our events and activities.   

 

Improvements this year-what are we doing better as a result of the activity? 

 

Following the restructure of our panel we are now able to monitor our cases more 

frequently and with structured reviews. 

 

What we plan to do next?  

What have you identified-This will inform priorities for next year 

Challenges and priorities for this year (2019/2020)  

 

Our Plans for 2019-20: 

 Review our Safeguarding Policy as part of good practice and to ensure that 

there is clear definition and separation of Adult and Children needs. 

 Develop guidance for our teams when they offer work experience or 

volunteering for people under 18 

 Implement procedures and a commissioning checklist to support staff 

specifically working with children, young people and young adults. 

 Improve compliance with Safeguarding Training (87.65% at year-end) and 

implement a new training programme. 

P
age 155



 

32 | P a g e  
 

 Start implementation of our reviewed Community Empowerment Strategy 

2019-22.  A key theme of the strategy is to improve life chances of children, 

young people and their families. Outcomes will be assessed against 

community based interventions as part of the delivery.  

 Improve our approach to procurement with a focus on contract 

management audits.  This will ensure that our contractor’s policies and 

procedures related to safeguarding are robust. 

 

Example of effective practice 

Our Community Engagement and Empowerment Strategy included reviewing 

current practice.  We took a risk-based approach to activities we will deliver directly 

and those where we will commission others who have more specialist skills to work 

on our behalf; particularly when this involves working with younger children.  

 

Metropolitan Police Service – South East Basic Command Unit 
Jim Foley, Detective Superintendent, Metropolitan Police Service 

 

What did we do? (In relation to safeguarding children or to 
support the LSCB priorities 2018/2019) 

Evidence for and evaluation of effectiveness 

 

Changes made as a result of previous learning/priorities and new developments 

 

Fit with and contribution to LSCB current priorities  

 

South East Basic Command Unit are committed to safeguarding children and young 

people. Our ambition is to provide better outcomes for the most vulnerable people 

in our communities by keeping them safe from harm. The delivery of Safeguarding 

is considered a core component of policing but inevitably it crosses over into other 

areas of activity in the Police Service, as well as having a direct focus in the new 

established South East BCU Safeguarding Hub.  

 

What did we do? Why?  

The South East Basic Command Unit has a CID Proactive Unit, whose remit includes 

safeguarding young people being recruited into gangs who go on to be missing 

from home or care and safeguarding young people becoming victims of gang-

related violence or intimidation.  By conducting home visits with children and their 

parents, the team gather relevant information which would be shared via Police 

Systems for long-term support and awareness with partnership engagement.  

Officers will listen and provide the relevant safety advice/support referrals if the 

subject has expressed the wish to exit a gang. 

 

These home visits also provide reassurance as well as reality to the child, detailing 

the consequences of criminality in an effort to deter them from criminality. It is 

anticipated that in future, information where required will be shared through the 

Concern Hub meeting, so all partner agencies are actively involved in the overall 

support to the child who may have become involved in gangs as well as the 

mechanism to  identify potential gang risks to any siblings.  This forum will also 

provide overall support options to parents and carers, providing them with 

information in relation to County Lines (CL) and Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE), 

detailing what they should look for and how they could best safeguard their child.  

 

A dedicated PC attends schools (particularly those identified as having CSE/CL 

recruiters) to present on these dangers and how to negate them. The CID Proactive 

team proved critical in developing effective, sustainable working relationships to 

minimise harm to young people who were reported missing and will take proactive 

accountability if county line/human trafficking investigation is involved. P
age 156



 

33 | P a g e  
 

 Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH) and Youth Offending 
Service 

Police officers within the MASH team work in partnership with Children’s Social 

Care, Health, Housing and the MPS Child Abuse Investigation Team, delivering 

proven early intervention. 

 

Since the BCU Transformation, CAIT referral officers - supported by Police 

Community Liaison Officers (PCLOs) – will also be in the MASH to allow fast time 

information-sharing between agencies to enhance the safety of children and where 

absolutely necessary, support children being removed from unsafe environments.  

 

As areas of learning are identified, including through Serious Case Reviews, these 

are shared throughout the MASH, to frontline officers and within the community. 

The team now delivers on Operation Encompass, which was incorporated and went 

live in January 2019.  This provides Lewisham schools that have opted in to receive 

information from police of a domestic incident that has occurred, where a child 

was present when police attended.  This allows a cohesive awareness to partners 

for safeguarding children. 

 

The MASH has been enhanced with the CASO Referral Desk forming part of the 

Lewisham MASH. Case conferences are progressed more quickly and Social Worker 

interaction is face-to-face, which leads to closer inter-departmental working 

between MASH police and CAIT, smoother information-sharing and timely, swifter 

safeguarding outcomes.  The drive for 2019/2020 will be to examine more cases to 

try and identify and support a greater number of vulnerable children within 

Lewisham; this is currently on target to proceed. The Youth Offending Service (YOS) 

also works closely with the MASH, forming strong partnership-working between 

YOS police and Children’s Social Care, ensuring that safeguarding concerns are 

shared through the MASH and protective/support plans created quickly. 

 

The work volumes through the police MASH team are substantial, and this 

translates into a constant stream of referrals through to CSC partners. Although 

challenging, CSC continue to effectively review and manage this demand, reviewing 

each of the referrals to provide timely interventions to vulnerable families where 

appropriate.  Between April 2018 and May 2019, a total of 7594 PAC and Pre-Birth 

PACs relating to children were processed through the police MASH team, with the 

vast majority of these reports shared with CSC partners. The MASH team also dealt 

with 242 complex multi-agency reports to target concerns relating to vulnerable 

children and families.  Complex matters relating to CSE, Child Criminal Exploitation, 

Female Genital Mutilation and many other serious concerns are identified, 

reviewed and progressed on a weekly basis. 

 

In April 2019, 492 police Merlin reports were processed, of which 472 were shared 

with CSC partners. In May 2019, 497 merlin reports were processed of which 428 

were shared with CSC partners.  

 

The police MASH team also deals with all child death notifications through partner 

agencies; this is through a new process known as ECDOP. Police also cover Rapid 

Response strategy meetings when required.  MASH also deal with all Sarah’s Law 

(Child Sexual Offences Disclosure or CSOD); liaising with CSC partners for complex 

or high risk cases.  MASH deal with all external enquiries from other police services 

relating to child safeguarding, where the local authority needs to be made aware. 

The impact of the co-location and ongoing development of MASH is clear to see, 

and the police MASH team have an excellent working relationship with CSC at all 

levels.  Over the past year, this has meant that when difficult and complex cases 

are identified through Merlin/MASH, we have addressed them effectively and 

expeditiously to achieve the best outcome for the vulnerable child or young 

person. We look to build on this great work over the coming year.  

 

 

P
age 157



 

34 | P a g e  
 

Safeguarding in Schools 

Safeguarding is the schools police officers’ main role. Lewisham have dedicated 

Safer Schools Officers, who regularly interact with pupils through work with the 

pastoral staff of all secondary schools and at safeguarding meetings, 

assemblies with teachers, pupils and parents. By interacting through school youth 

council meetings and surgeries, the Schools Officers listens to student concerns, 

identify and address children who come to notice re: missing, drugs, CSE, gangs, 

knife crime and domestic abuse concerns.  Going forward, the most high risk cases 

will be referred through to Concern Hub meetings.  These cases will then be 

discussed with leading professionals including Early Help, Chidlren’s Social Care, 

YOS, CSE leads, Police Missing teams, St. Christopher’s, Youth First, Refuge, NHS, 

Probation, Compass and Trilogy plus.  It is anticipated that care strategies will be 

developed by this group within these meetings to ensure there is that safeguarding 

grip around risk for these children and young people.   

 

Dedicated CSE and Missing Teams 

The South East Basic Command Unit now has a dedicated CSE and Missing Unit with 

a direct focus on Contextual Safeguarding. Significant work has taken place 

regarding Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) and Human Trafficking within the 

Borough; dedicated teams have established clear reporting pathways and a 

structure for referrals has been developed to assist safeguarding partners. A new 

Missing policy identifies robust supervision and proactivity of prevention for 

missing people and this will be a key principle in the upcoming Concern Hub, which 

will focus on all contextual safeguarding concerns in Lewisham, with the right 

professional membership present to prevent, protect and avoid. Police and 

Lewisham partners continue to have a good relationship with the Metropolitan 

Police’s centrally based Sexual Exploitation Team, who have delivered training to 

every Schools Officer on the Borough to assist in identifying young people who may 

be subjected to CSE. The CSE team have developed a training package for Borough 

Officers. Reporting pathways for officers to make referrals are developed with the 

MASH team.  

 

What was the impact? 

The impact and effectiveness can be clearly seen through the ongoing 

implementation of focused delivery of contextual safeguarding (including the 

planned implementation of the Concern Hub), which provides better outcomes for 

the most vulnerable people in our communities by keeping them safe from harm. 

The promotion of greater partnership working, early intervention and support for 

vulnerable children with particular emphasis placed on securing suitable 

accommodation and support for at risk children in preference of enacting Sect 46 

powers by police. This greater knowledge and understanding ensures officers and 

staff feel more confident in knowing when and how they can share 

data/information; with or without consent.  MPS places emphasis to all that 

consent / concern should not be a barrier to sharing vital, accurate, relevant and 

proportionate information relating to the safeguarding concerns of a child who has 

come to notice of police or a partner agency. The direction from the Pan London 

MASH protocol document, and recent reports lean towards a stronger and more 

relevant information sharing stance. This allows quicker identification and 

investigation into those children identified as being most at risk.   

 

As areas of learning are identified, including through Serious Case Reviews, these 

are shared throughout the MASH, to frontline officers and within the community.  

MPS also have Dedicated Inspection teams who conduct inspections of work 

undertaken by individual teams. Learning is disseminated across the Basic 

Command Unit to ensure an improvement in performance focussing on 

prevention, protection, prosecution, support and learning development and early 

intervention in all areas of safeguarding. SE Safeguarding Hub have created an 

P
age 158



 

35 | P a g e  
 

internal audit team to dip sample cases to identify and disseminate further learning 

opportunities. 

 

Ongoing training to front line officers and support staff to ensure they are fully 

aware of the resources available to them in Children’s Services, including the MASH 

team, professional’s consultation line, in hours, and out of hours social worker 

advice and support. In addition, training/advice to MASH team partners and 

managers within children’s services to explain police procedures/actions.  

 

Further examples of effective practices include new searchable BRAG features on 

Merlin to assist with accurate record keeping and the establishment of consistent 

daily meetings with partners and missing children co-ordinators to discuss MASH 

cases and other safeguarding cases. 

 

What we plan to do next?  
Protect and support: Focus on what matters most to Londoners 

Quality assurance processes by the safeguarding boards and partners provide 

reassurance that basic practice across all agencies is effectively safeguarding young 

people. 

 

Ensuring support to vulnerable adults, children and young people who have been 

exploited is delivered, ensuring that what is offered is appropriate for each 

individual, child or young person based on their gender, age, ethnicity, disability, 

and the nature of the exploitation that they have experienced.  

 

The Safeguarding Boards to develop their individual and collective expertise 

through joint learning exercises and strong collaboration across the South East. 

Partnerships to be open to joint commissioning opportunities.  Set strategic 

direction for safeguarding across the BCU, understanding the strategic 

partnerships to deliver a best framework. 

 

Knowing our problem and knowing our response: Mobilise 
partners and the public 

Continually developing and understanding our problem profile in the context of 

vulnerability, perpetrators and the spaces and places they frequent online and 

offline.  

 

Professionals who come into contact with adults, children and young people have 

relevant and proportionate knowledge of the broader profile of vulnerability.  This 

includes the factors that exacerbate risk and the consequential vulnerabilities 

arising from exploitation.  

 

Engaging, educating and empowering the broader community forums a critical 

element and this work will be directly supported and informed by the Adult and 

Child Safeguarding Boards of Lewisham (and by the subsequent body that will 

replace the LSCB in 2019-20).  

 

Analytical support – to be coordinated across a range of agencies to identify 

themes, patterns and trends relating to vulnerability.  Stronger intelligence 

gathering and sharing across the partnerships on individuals, peer groups and 

geographic hotspots engages a tactical response from the partnership to make 

young people and vulnerable adults safer.  This intelligence should include 

information gathered from young people, their families and the wider community.  

 

Contextual safeguarding – We will ensure that our safeguarding response is 

contextual in relation to the people and places we, as a partnership, are protecting 

from harm. This approach will address all safeguarding matters across all age P
age 159



 

36 | P a g e  
 

ranges from young children through to elderly adults that officers come across on 

a daily basis. 

 

Disruption and Prosecution: Achieve the best outcomes in the 
pursuit of justice and in support of victims 

Working with Professionals to identify, assess and mitigate any vulnerabilities that 

might reduce the chances of young people exiting gang culture or involvement in 

youth crime and violence.   

 

Ensure robust policing responses to perpetrators are in place: agreeing and 

monitoring investigation plans to run alongside support plans developed in 

response to a child sexual exploitation referral.   

 

Engage with agencies to effectively share information and routinely utilise 

intelligence-led disruption in relation to any local businesses, individuals or groups 

associated with exploitation.  

 

Through intelligence and partnership meetings ensure all agencies flexibly apply 

the full range of disruption tactics available through both criminal and civil routes 

to protect children and young people, including powers available in relation to 

licensing, health and safety, fraud, housing provision and other related legislation.     

Mechanisms put in place to ensure young people demonstrating harmful sexual 

behaviours are identified and support put in place to address their behaviours, with 

their own vulnerabilities and developmental stage being considered within any 

response.  

 

Robust offender management strategies post-conviction and/or effective 

intervention strategies that reduce the risk presented by identified abusers. 

 

Learning, Developing & Support 

Ensure that mechanisms are in place to capture learning from a number of sources; 

Local, Partnership, OFSTED, JTAI, HMIC, SCR, SAR, DHR. We will be able to 

demonstrate how that learning informs practise. Internal and multi-agency audits 

used to support learning and development of practise.  

  

As part of Tri-Borough considerations, completing the implementation of the 

Bexley local learning hub (which brings frontline practice challenges to the board) 

to assist evaluation of Lewisham & Greenwich’s learning models and to work 

towards a hub model and priorities as part of Tri-Borough multi-agency 

safeguarding arrangements supported by the early adopters bid to Department of 

Education.  

 

Establishing an annual programme of safeguarding partnership improvement and 

delivery priorities that are shared across the new BCU.  

 

Establishing shared mechanisms and processes for initiating local serious case 

reviews, which incorporate a shared Tri-Borough, multi-agency serious incident 

and learning sub-group. Each review to be led by one of the three participating 

local authorities and published across the local areas. This strand will also consider 

the provisions of a bi-annual learning and improvement report (with conference) 

for the local tri-borough area. 

 

Establishing Tri-Borough arrangements following the death of a child. Ensure that 

we learn from these as part of business as usual.  

 

Explore Omni-competence and continual professional development in the 

safeguarding arena. Look for local, regional and national best practise to support 

the development of Police Safeguarding Professionals.  P
age 160



 

37 | P a g e  
 

Deliver training around Mental Health training to all SE BCU frontline officers. 

 

Prevention and early intervention 

The performance of Early Help systems to reduce the need for statutory 

interventions – effectively dealing with need and vulnerability.  Early Help is subject 

to ongoing scrutiny by the safeguarding boards testing the difference it is making 

to children and young people’s lives.  

 

Young people who are particularly vulnerable to exploitation (i.e. looked after 

children, missing children) are identified early and supported by their 

families/carers, professionals, and their community to prevent and build resilience 

against exploitation.  

 

Schools deliver high quality Sex and Relationships Education (SRE) and take a 

whole-school approach to gender equality, safeguarding, and preventing 

exploitation. 

 

Professionals engaged in providing universal and targeted services to adults young 

people, empowering them to identify harmful behaviours and supporting them to 

build positive and healthy attitudes towards relationships and friendships, gender 

identity, and sexuality.  

 

Public trust is built through proven and visible positive attitudes towards all cases 

involving vulnerable persons.  It is essential that Police and the local authorities of 

Lewisham, Greenwich and Bexley have current and effective information sharing 

agreements.  

 

Attending all initial case conferences – achieving 100% performance - following 

onto 100% attendance at review case conferences. 

NHS Lewisham Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) 
 

Agency Representative on Safeguarding Board: 

 

 Martin Wilkinson Managing, Director (Attends LSCB Executive) 

 Dr Abimbola Adeyemi, Designated Doctor Safeguarding Children &  

Consultant Community Paediatrician (LSCB Board and subgroups) 

 Maureen Gabriel, Designated Nurse Safeguarding Children & LAC (LSCB 

Board & Subgroups) 

 Dr Agelika Razzaque, Executive Lead Safeguarding Adults & Children/ A CCG 

Clinical Director (GP) (Attends LSCB Board) 

As a health commissioning organisation, Lewisham CCG has a statutory duty to 

ensure that all health providers, from whom the CCG commissions services, 

promote the welfare of children and protect children from abuse or the risk of 

abuse. This includes specific responsibilities for Looked After Children and for 

supporting the Child Death Review process. 

 

The CCG also supports NHS England with the quality assurance of Primary Care 

Services (GP, Independent Practitioners and private hospital services in the 

Borough). This role includes safeguarding assurance as well as strategic leadership 

and influencing. 

 

What did we do? 

 CCG fulfilled statutory functions. There were no gaps in safeguarding roles 

within the CCG.  

   CCG contributed to the LSCB (Executive and Main Board) and it subgroups. 

 CCG gained assurance of provider health services safeguarding arrangements 

by embedding safeguarding into contract monitoring arrangements, 

P
age 161



 

38 | P a g e  
 

monitoring at the Clinical Quality Review meetings (CQRG) for the local 

hospital and the Mental Health Trust and by Designated professionals 

attendance at assurance meetings at these meetings. 

 All CCG staff received safeguarding training and are compliant.  

 CCG provided Safeguarding Children Level 3 training for General 

Practitioners, Practice Nurses and other primary care clinicians. Training 

incorporated learning from serious case reviews and learning reviews,  

raised awareness of the particular safeguarding needs of disabled children 

with complex needs and involved applying a range of knowledge and 

understanding to solve practical child abuse situations such as Child Sexual 

Exploitation, Domestic Violence.  

 150 clinical staff in primary care were trained during the year. 

 CCG facilitated bi-monthly GP Safeguarding Leads meetings. A wide range of 

safeguarding cases including findings of serious case reviews was discussed. 

Guest speakers imparted additional safeguarding information on variety of 

topics such as, Information Governance & GDPR, Neglect Toolkit, Domestic 

Violence, Lewisham Threshold Document & MASH, Fabricated & Induced 

Illness CCG ensured primary care contribution to serious case reviews and 

learning reviews. 

 CCG actively contributed to implementation of the New Safeguarding 

Partnership arrangements and Child Death Review process.  

 

Changes made as a result of previous learning/priorities 
and new developments 

 Lewisham CCG appointed Primary Care Safeguarding Children Practitioner to 

work alongside the Named GP & Designated Professionals for Safeguarding 

to ensure Primary Care contributes effectively to the safeguarding agenda in 

the borough.  

 Work has commenced to complete safeguarding children audits in primary 

care (Recommended from serious cases reviews and learning reviews.  

 

What was the impact? 

i. CCGs are membership organisations that bring together General Practices 

(GPs) to commission local health services for the population in the area. An 

advantage of the CCG being a clinically-led organisation is that the CCG is in 

the position of being able to take account of the experience of patients who 

are best placed as service users, to know the right services for the area and 

can comment objectively when new services are commissioned. The CCG 

ensures that safeguarding is included in all contracts of the services from 

which it commissions. For example, access to health services locally for 

children with complex needs was reviewed as part of the NHS 

Transformation plans. Children with complex needs have increased 

vulnerability and may be at more risk of abuse and neglect. Safeguarding was 

considered in the development of the service. This has resulted in a revised 

service offer for the community nursing of children with complex needs and 

the implementation of a Hospital at Home scheme.  

 

ii. The CCG Designated professionals have supported local health providers and 

the Local Authority with assistance from NHS England to implement the CP-

IS (Child Protection Information Sharing Project). This process has taken a 

number of years to embed. This has improved identification of vulnerable 

young people and unborn children on CP plans and also for Looked After 

Children who attend Emergency Departments (ED) or other unscheduled 

health care settings anywhere in the Country where CP-IS is also 

implemented. An example of how this is enabled is if a child from Lewisham 

attends a Dorset hospital, the emergency department in Dorset checks the 

NHS Spine for information that Lewisham Local Authority has uploaded to P
age 162



 

39 | P a g e  
 

the NHS Electronic Spine. An electronic message is sent to Lewisham Local 

Authority to indicate the child or young person had attended the ED. CP-IS 

does not contain the contents of the medical record of attendance. Agencies 

must still communicate for further clarity. 

 

iii. The CCG has improved engagement with the safeguarding children 

agenda in primary care. 

 

Challenges and priorities for this year (2019/2020)  

The CCG will need to fulfil its statutory key role in the revised Safeguarding 

Partnerships under Working Together 2018. This includes:-  

 Fulfilling the strong leadership responsibilities placed on it working alongside 

the local authority chief executive and chief officer of police as the lead 

representatives with accountability under the legislation. 

 Setting the vision, strategy and policy direction for Lewisham’s safeguarding 

arrangements. 

 Ensuring wider accountability across services. 

 Delivering a fully accountable multi-agency system for safeguarding and 

protecting children in all settings. 

 Holding to account all providers of health services on how effectively they 

participate and implement the local arrangements. 

The CCG together with the Local authority will need to ensure implementation of 

the changes in Child Death Review Process (CDR).  

 

 

 

 

 

Lay Members  
 

The attendance of our Lay Members at Board meetings and Task Groups has been 

instrumental in offering a unique perspective. Both Lay Members are residents of 

Lewisham, and this provides an insight into local issues and concerns in our 

borough. Although it is not a requirement of the role, both of our lay member’s 

contribution to the LSCB are assisted by their backgrounds in children services.  

 

What did we do?  

In 2018/2019, in addition to attending our Main Board meeting, both Lay 

Members were actively involved in 3 of our Task Groups, including being a Panel 

Member on all of our SCRs. Sonia Chambers is a member of our Communications 

and Publications Task Group, including being a panel member on 2 SCRs, while 

Derek Churchman is a member on our MESI Task Group, and a panel member on 

1 SCR. 

 

What was the impact?  

Having our Lay Members involved in some of our Task Groups contributed to the 

LSCB priorities. Lay Members are asked to provide feedback on how the Board’s 

business is done and how children and their views can be better incorporated. This 

is especially useful in our SCRs, so as to ensure we get it right for children. 

 

 

 

 

 P
age 163



 

40 | P a g e  
 

National Probation Service  

The National Probation Service (NPS) is responsible for the following areas of work:  

 

 Advice to the Judiciary with regard to sentencing and Parole decisions 

 The management of: 

o High risk offenders 

o MAPPA offenders (all categories and levels, irrespective of risk) 

o Foreign national offenders who receive 12 months or more 

custody or community sentence and who are in scope for 

deportation 

o Offenders where there is significant public interest 

 Approved Premises 

 Victim Contact Service 

The National Probation Service is divided into six regions and Wales.  NPS London 

is divided into 12 Local Delivery Units, each covering 2-3 London Boroughs.  NPS 

Lewisham and Southwark is one of those clusters.   

 

In Lewisham, the NPS currently manages approximately 570 cases (excluding those 

cases who are being moved to the new Offender Management in Custody system). 

The current caseload is a mixture of both community and custody cases, with 

approximately two thirds of service users being supervised in the community on 

either a Licence, a Community Order or a Suspended Sentence Order. 

 

NPS is committed to Safeguarding Children and it contributes to protecting 

vulnerable children and young people by undertaking the following:  

 

 

 Advice to Courts:  In appropriate cases NPS will contact Children’s Social 

Care pre-sentence to find out if a defendant is known and if there are any 

safeguarding issues that need to be taken into consideration prior to 

making a sentencing proposal.   

 All service users have a thorough assessment after they have been 

sentenced, whether in custody or in the community.  This assessment 

(OASys) provides a holistic picture of risks and needs presented by each 

individual, there are specific questions in relation to safeguarding 

Children.  There are also specialist assessments in relation to Sex 

Offending and Domestic Abuse.  Once the risk and needs are assessed, 

risk management and sentence plans are developed to address the issues 

identified in the assessments. Risk management can include restrictive 

measures such as preventing those who pose identifiable risks from 

having contact with children. 

23%

77%

Youth First Participants 2018/19

Regular Occasional

P
age 164



 

41 | P a g e  
 

 Referrals – NPS staff will make appropriate referrals into Lewisham MASH, 

in order to instigate child protection investigations and to alert partnership 

agencies to concerns about children.   

 Multi-agency partnership working.  NPS contributes to a range of Multi-

agency structures including MAPPA, MARAC, Care Plan Approach and other 

case conferences.  The aim is to share information and ensure the holistic 

management of service users and that risk to children is minimised.  

 Senior Management participation in strategic boards including the Lewisham 

Safeguarding Children’s Partnership.   

 All NPS Staff, including administrative staff, are required to undertake basic 

Child Safeguarding and Domestic Abuse training in the form of an e-learning 

module.  All practitioners are required to undertake more advanced Child 

Safeguarding/Domestic Abuse training in the form of face to face 

training.  Ad hoc briefings and workshops are also delivered to staff. Staff are 

also encouraged to attend Local Authority training where available.  

 A Lead Practitioner who participates in Lewisham MASH is provided.  The 

lead practitioner also provides advice and support to Probation colleagues 

in the form of workshops and case discussions.  

 Practice is audited using Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Probation (HMIP) 

criteria.  Learning is shared with practitioners across the borough. The case 

audit tool asks specific questions regarding safeguarding activity and these 

audits take place every 6 weeks. All staff are required to part during the 

year.    

 Work with the Youth Offending Team to improve transition from youth to 

adult services – this has included the new implementation of the new 

‘transition programme’. The programme consists of 4 modules and is 

designed to improve the transition of young adults from the YOS to 

Probation.  

Youth First  

Youth First has been delivering youth provision under contract with LBL for three 

years. Our core activity is the delivery to all young people in Lewisham aged 8 to 19 

(up to 25 for those with special educational needs) of ‘free at the point of access’ 

youth clubs and adventure playgrounds, both during school terms and holidays. 

These are run across six directly run youth clubs, three commissioned youth clubs 

and five directly run adventure playgrounds. In addition this year Youth First has 

increase service with a Lewisham based street based team. Sessions are sometimes 

broken into specific age and/or gender. Youth First also commissions additional 

targeted activities and provision for example sports, gender specific programs and 

skills based provision. 

In 2018/19 we have seen real growth in attendance by young people year on year. 

With c.84,500 visits in 2018/19 compared to c.81,000 in 2017/18. This year’s 

attendance includes c.5000 individual young people of which around 1,500 

attended regularly (defined as eight times in any school term or 24 times per year 

as opposed to the government definition of five times a year). As we reach more 

young people we have a better chance to safeguard them.  

Safeguarding due to our location  

The location of our sites whilst inherited and often unchanged for many years is 

not simply accidental nor has it been without relatively regular review by LBL, 

including within the past five years. In 2018/19 we have increased provision in 

central Lewisham with our pop up Youth Club at Glassmill Leisure Centre. All our 

sites are by design in areas of high deprivation and as such more accessible and 

attended by children and young people with a higher prevalence of associated 

vulnerabilities including a high proportion of attendance from areas of deprivation 

as defined by both Indices of multiple deprivation (IMD) and the income 

deprivation affecting children index (IDACI). Whilst this does not of course P
age 165



 

42 | P a g e  
 

demonstrate that those who attend have vulnerabilities it does demonstrate that 

there is a higher probability that our sites safeguard those who need it the most.   

Universal School Safety Program 

In its second & third years the Universal School’s Safety Program (USSP), funded 

by MOPAC, LBL and Youth First directly, was delivered by Youth First and 

Compass to 1420 pupils in 52 Year seven forms across nine Lewisham secondary 

schools (Forest Hill Boys, Addey and Stanhope, Bonus Pastor, Prendergast 

Hillyfields, Haberdashers Hatcham College, Sedgehill School, Prendergast Vale, 

Haberdashers Askes Knights Academy).   

The scheme uses informal education techniques/youth work to teach young people 

about issues relating to the borough’s five key safety themes. These are: how to 

stay safe (including the danger of knives), the dangers of substance misuse, 

importance of healthy sex and relationships, online safety and bullying. Sessions 

are delivered to a full year seven cohort in a single day of revolving sessions.  

To date the feedback from both pupils and schools has been very good with a vast 

majority saying they learnt valuable information and that it was preferable to 

receive the subject matter from youth workers rather than their teachers. Many 

young people also reported that they now knew where to get additional support 

and Youth First reports an uptake of universal youth provision (youth clubs and 

adventure playgrounds) off the back of sessions. 

Youth First and LBL are currently looking for funding to expand the program to 

more schools and, at schools request, in-house youth club curriculum, colleges and 

PRUs. 

 

 

Partnership working, Workforce Development and            
Quality Mark 

In addition Youth First run two inset weeks per year and all year round for staff to 

access training through LSCB training provision but also internal training programs.  

All senior staff which manage youth and Adventure Playgrounds are trained to level 

three safeguarding and have also trained as lead professionals, Trauma and 

restorative informed practitioners.  

Youth First has 6 out of 10 directly delivered youth clubs which are Bronze London 

Youth Quality Mark approved with the other units working towards accreditation. 

Youth First works in close partnership with LBL Targeted Services, Children’s 

Services, Youth Offending Service (YOS), local schools and are active members of 

Early Help Services, Safe Spaces, Compass and Kooth. Youth First will be a member 

of the Concern Hub also. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 P
age 166



 

43 | P a g e  
 

Appendices 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Lewisham Safeguarding Children Board Business Structure Chart 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Lewisham Safeguarding Children Board Business Structure Chart 

Communications 

& 

Publications  

Group 

 

 

Missing, 
Exploited 

& 
Trafficked  

Task Group 

 Case 
Review  
Panel 

    

LSCB          

Main Board 

 

There is also a quarterly Chairs of Task Groups meeting, which meets approximately 4 weeks prior to each Main Board 

 

 

Child Death 

Overview  

Panel  

Monitoring, 

Evaluation 

&Service  

Improvement  

Task Group 

 

Policy, 

Procedures & 

Training  

Task Group 

 Multi-Agency 

Audit  

Sub-Group 

Serious Case  

Review  

Learning  

Review  

Groups 

LSCB          

Executive 

Board 

P
age 167



 

44 | P a g e  
 

LSCB Financial Arrangements for 2018-19 

 

Income: 

Organisation LSCB contribution 

2015/2016 

LSCB contribution 

2016/2017 

LSCB contribution 

2017/2018 

LSCB contribution 

2018/2019 

Lewisham CCG 45,110 45,110 50,110 45,110 

LBL Children’s & Young People’s service  83,280 83,280 88,280 83,280 

Cafcass 550 550 550 550 

Community Rehabilitation Company 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000 

London Fire Brigade N/A N/A 500 500 

London Probation 2,000 2,000 1,850 1000 

Metropolitan Police Service 5,000 5,000 5,000 5,000 

Lewisham & Greenwich NHS Trust 22,555 22,555 27,555 

 

22,555 

South London and Maudsley NHS 

Foundation Trust 

22,555 22,555 22,555 22,555 

 

Total: 

 

182,350 

 

182,350 

 

197,400 

 

181,550 

 P
age 168



 

45 | P a g e  
 

Training Summary

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Lunchtime Briefings 

Children Missing Education 

Fabricated & Induced Illness Awareness 

Introduction to Safeguarding Children & Young People in Lewisham 

Learning from Domestic Homicide Reviews 

Learning from Serious Child Safeguarding Practice Reviews 

Multi-Agency Risk Assessment Conference (MARAC) Awareness 

Safeguarding Sexually Active Young People 

Understanding the Different Strands of Violence Against Women & Girls 

Workshop to Raise Awareness of Prevent 

Young Carers & Hidden Harm (parents who substance misuse) 

  

 

Half Day Courses 

Gangs, Exploitation & Effective Practice 

Safe Recruitment 

Sexual Violence and Exploitation Amongst Young People (Peer-on-Peer Abuse) 

Workshop to Raise Awareness of Prevent – Greater Depth 

 
Full Day Courses 

Breast Ironing & Harmful Cultural Violence 

Child Sexual Abuse in The Family 

Child Trafficking, Modern Slavery and the National Referral Mechanism 

Child Sexual Exploitation – Advanced 

Cultural Competence in Safeguarding Children & Young People 

Domestic Violence & Abuse Awareness 

Early Help Champions 

Neglect 

Safeguarding Children Affected by Parental Substance Misuse 

Safeguarding Children Level 3 – Designated Safeguarding Leads 

Safeguarding Sexually Active Young People 

Self-Harm & Suicide Ideation in Children & Young People 

Working with Challenging & Hard to Help Families 

Working with Perpetrators of Domestic Violence 

 

Delegates rated 

Trainers 

performance as 

Good or 

Excellent 

LSCB Training Delivered 2018-19 

100% delegates 

experienced an 

overall increase 

in knowledge, 

skills and 

understanding in 

each of the 

training courses 

delivered. 

Delegates had a good 

understanding of 

where to seek further 

advice and support in 

each subject. 

100% delegates agreed to 

share learning with their 

colleagues 

Child Sexual Exploitation 

Advanced Delegate 

Comment 

“This course will enable me 

to support and guide staff 

on resources to use to 

engage young people “  

Child Sexual Abuse in The 

Family Course Delegate 

Comment 

“I will be able to support the 

child / family through the 

process of recovery and repair 

and ensure correct information 

is shared with professionals.” 

Working with Perpetrators 

of Domestic Violence 

Delegate Comment 

“I am better able to explore 

incidents of violence with 

perpetrators and assess 

future risk” 

P
age 169



 

46 | P a g e  
 

 

CAFCASS (7)
1%

CAMHS / SLaM (11)
1%

Child Minder (8)
1% Children & Young People's 

Directorate (42)
6%

Children with Complex Needs 
Service (2)

0%
Children's Centre (25)

3%

Children's Social Care (180)
24%

Commissioned Organisation (40)
5%

Early Years Provider (90)
12%

Education Other (30)
4%

Faith Group (2)
0%

GP (4)
1%

Housing (19)
3%

Lewisham & Greenwich NHS 
Trust (40)

5%

Lewisham Clinical Commissioning 
Group (1)

0% Lewisham College (2)
0%

Lewisham Council Other (19)
3%

Primary School (39)
5%

Private Organisation (39)
5%

Probation Service (28)
4%

Secondary School (27)
4%

Voluntary Organisation (41)
6%

Youth Offending Service (24)
3%

Youth Services (21)
3%

AGENCY ATTENDANCE
(ALL COURSES)

P
age 170



 

47 | P a g e  
 

 

 

0

50

100

150

200

250

MeLearning Safeguarding Children Level 1 (by delegate role)

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

MeLearning Safeguarding Children Level 2 (by delegate role)

P
age 171



 

48 | P a g e  
 

 

 

 

  

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

All Other MeLearning (by numbers of completed courses)

P
age 172



 

49 | P a g e  
 

Safeguarding Children Level 3 – Designated Safeguarding Leads (Full day) 

No delegates had additional requirements, such as wheelchair access. 

 

 

 

 

  

  

1 1
8 9

7
1 1 2 2 4

22

2 5

Equal Opportunities Monitoring

1 1 3 2

38

3 1 2 1 5 3 5

Agency Type

1512 Individuals 

viewed the course on 

the LSCB Website 

65 individuals 

attended training 

(81.3%) 

119 Individuals booked 

to attend the training, 

out of a possible 80 

spaces available 

 

4x courses were 

completed in 2018-19  

Delegates said they would go for additional advice and support from:- 

LSCB Website     

x37 

MASH 

 x13 

Line Manager 

X5 

London Child 

Protection Procedures 

X10 

LADO  

x 4 

99% of delegates 

agreed to share the 

learning with their 

colleagues and line 

manager. 

P
age 173



 

50 | P a g e  
 

 

 

 

 

59

60

57

60

57

60

62

60

95

61

0 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90 100

NUMBER OF DELEGATES WHO FELT THIS TRAINING WAS VERY OR EXTREMELY RELEVANT TO THEIR 
ROLE

NUMBER OF DELEGATES WHO RATED THEIR CONFIDENCE IN OBTAINING THE WISHES AND 
FEELINGS OF A CHILD AS GOOD, EXCELLENT, OR EXCELLENT AND ABLE TO OFFER PEER SUPPORT …

% INCREASE IN CONFIDENCE IN OBTAINING PARENTAL CONSENT.

NUMBER OF DELEGATES WHO RATED THEIR CONFIDENCE AS GOOD, EXCELLENT OR EXCELLENT AND 
ABLE TO OFFER PEER SUPPORT IN OBTAINING PARENTAL CONSENT.

% INCREASE IN CONFIDENCE IN MAKING APPROPRIATE DECISIONS ABOUT THE ACTION TO BE 
TAKEN WHEN INFORMED OF A RANGE OF CONCERNS ABOUT A CHILD OR YOUNG PERSON.

NUMBER OF DELEGATES WHO RATED THEIR CONFIDENCE AS GOOD, EXCELLENT OR EXCELLENT AND 
ABLE TO OFFER PEER SUPPORT IN MAKING APPROPRIATE DECISIONS ABOUT THE ACTION TO BE …

% INCREASE IN KNOWLEDGE OF BARRIERS INHIBITING CHILDREN FROM DISCLOSING ABUSE.

NUMBER OF DELEGATES WHO RATED THEIR KNOWLEDGE OF BARRIERS INHIBITING CHILDREN 
FROM DISCLOSING ABUSE AS GOOD, EXCELLENT, OR EXCELLENT AND ABLE TO OFFER PEER …

% AGREED ALL AIMS AND OBJECTIVES WERE MET 

NUMBER OF COMPLETED EVALUATIONS (65 DELEGATES)

Learning Evaluation Statistics

Key:   Orange = %     Blue = Numbers 

“I am working with 

young people so I will 

be able to identify the 

triggers and safeguard 

even better.” 

“Content was very good 

and it is so relevant to my 

practice.  It has provided 

me with more confidence.” 

“Much clearer 

about the relevant 

legal documents 

and guidance.” 

“Understanding 

of bigger picture 

when looking into 

concerns.” 

“I am more confident 

about my role and 

what action and 

discussions to have.” 

P
age 174



 

51 | P a g e  
 

Neglect – An Analytical Approach (Full Day) 

No delegates had additional requirements, such as wheelchair access. 

 

 

 

 

  

  

1 1

5

9

4

1

3

1

6

1

ASIAN 
INDIAN;

ASIAN 
OTHER;

BLACK 
AFRICAN;

BLACK 
BRITISH;

BLACK 
CARIBBEAN;

CHINESE; MIXED BLACK 
AND WHITE 

AFRICAN;

MIXED BLACK 
AND WHITE 
CARIBBEAN;

WHITE 
BRITISH;

WHITE 
OTHER;

Equal Opportunities Monitoring

1 4 1

19

2 1 1 1 1 1

Agency Type

1086 Individuals 

viewed the course on 

the LSCB Website 

32 individuals 

attended training 

(80%) 

41 Individuals booked 

to attend the training, 

out of a possible 40 

spaces available 

 

2x courses were 

completed in 2018-19 

Delegates said they would go for additional advice and support from:- 

LSCB Website     

x14 

Line Manager 

X9 

Work in Partnership 

with Other services x3 

Neglect 

Toolkit x2 

All delegates agreed to 

share the learning 

with their colleagues 

and line manager. 

P
age 175



 

52 | P a g e  
 

 

 

 

 

 

30

32

78

29

71

31

93

32

0 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90 100

NUMBER OF DELEGATES WHO FELT THIS TRAINING WAS VERY OR EXTREMELY RELEVANT TO 
THEIR ROLE

NUMBER OF DELEGATES WHO RATED THIR CONFIDENCE IN OBTAINING THE WISHES AND 
FEELINGS OF A CHILD AS GOOD, EXCELLENT, OR EXCELLENT AND ABLE TO OFFER PEER SUPPORT 

POST TRAINING.

% INCREASE IN CONFIDENCE IN THIS SUBJECT

NUMBER OF DELEGATES WHO RATED THEIR CONFIDENCE TO USE THE NEGLECT TOOLKIT FOR 
ANALYSIS OF THE CHILD'S LIVED EXPERIENCE

% INCREASE IN CONFIDENCE IN THIS SUBJECT

NUMBER OF DELEGATES WHO RATED THEIR UNDERSTANDING OF THE COMPLEXITIES OF 
NEGLECT AS GOOD, EXCELLENT, OR EXCELLENT AND ABLE TO OFFER PEER SUPPORT POST 

TRAINING.

% AGREED ALL AIMS AND OBJECTIVES WERE MET 

NUMBER OF COMPLETED EVALUATIONS (32 DELEGATES)

Learning Evaluation Statistics

Key:   Orange = %     Blue = Numbers 

“This helped to refresh 

my knowledge in this 

area and given me key 

ideas on how to 

improve practice and 

support families.” 

“Looking at neglect 

through a different 

lens and language to 

use with parents.” 

“Exploring 

different ways in 

learning to deal 

with neglect and 

difficult parents.” 

“It has helped to 

challenge parents 

and get them to think 

about their child's 

views.  Help to set 

baby steps.” 

“Being able to 

explain and 

support parents to 

hold their child in 

mind.” 

P
age 176



 

53 | P a g e  
 

Self-Harm & Suicide Ideation in Young People Awareness (Full Day) 

No delegates had additional requirements, such as wheelchair access. 

 

 

 

 

     

3

2

3

5

BLACK AFRICAN; BLACK BRITISH; BLACK CARIBBEAN; WHITE BRITISH;

Equal Opportunities Monitoring

1

8

1

3

CHILDREN'S CENTRE CHILDREN'S SOCIAL 
CARE

EDUCATION OTHER VOLUNTARY 
ORGANISATION

Agency Type

833 Individuals 

viewed the course on 

the LSCB Website 

15 individuals 

attended training. 

(75%) 

19 Individuals booked to 

attend the training, out of 

a possible 20 spaces 

available 

 

1x course was completed. 1x course was 

cancelled by the trainer due to service 

pressures.  The course content has been 

reviewed for the 2019 training programme 

Delegates said they would go for additional advice and support from:- 

LSCB Website     

x7 

Line Manager 

X3 

Lewisham CAMHS 

X5 

Other Online 

Resources x7 

99% of delegates 

agreed to share the 

learning with their 

colleagues and line 

manager. 

P
age 177



 

54 | P a g e  
 

 

 

 

 

13

14

78

13

78

12

64

12

81

14

0 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90

NUMBER OF DELEGATES WHO FELT THIS TRAINING WAS VERY OR EXTREMELY RELEVANT TO 
THEIR ROLE

NUMBER OF DELEGATES WHO RATED THEIR CONFIDENCE IN OBTAINING THE WISHES AND 
FEELINGS OF A CHILD AS GOOD, EXCELLENT, OR EXCELLENT AND ABLE TO OFFER PEER SUPPORT …

% INCREASE IN KNOWLEDGE OF THE LINK BETWEEN SELF-HARM AND SUICIDE IDEATION.

NUMBER OF DELEGATES WHO RATED THEIR KNOWLEDGE AS GOOD, EXCELLENT OR EXCELLENT 
AND ABLE TO OFFER PEER SUPPORT OF THE LINK BETWEEN SELF-HARM AND SUICIDE IDEATION. 

% INCREASE IN KNOWLEDGE IN THE MANAGEMENT AND CARE PATHWAYS OF SELF-HARM AND 
SUICIDALITY.

NUMBER OF DELEGATES WHO RATED THEIR KNOWLEDGE AS GOOD, EXCELLENT OR EXCELLENT 
AND ABLE TO OFFER PEER SUPPORT IN THE MANAGEMENT AND CARE PATHWAYS OF SELF-…

% INCREASE IN CONFIDENCE IN RECOGNISING THE COMMON WARNING SIGNS OF SELF-HARM.

NUMBER OF DELEGATES WHO RATED THEIR CONFIDENCE IN RECOGNISING THE COMMON 
WARNING SIGNS OF SELF-HARM AS GOOD, EXCELLENT, OR EXCELLENT AND ABLE TO OFFER …

% AGREED ALL AIMS AND OBJECTIVES WERE MET IN FULL

NUMBER OF COMPLETED EVALUATIONS (15 DELEGATES)

Learning Evaluation Statistics

Key:   Orange = %     Blue = Numbers 

“Will feel less worried 

about discussing the 

topic with young 

people.” 

“Better knowledge of 

management pathways and 

self-harm increased 

awareness and confidence in 

assessing self-harm.” 

“I am now confident in 

being able to approach 

and discuss with 

individuals their mental 

health issues.” 

“I will be able to have a more 

informed decision when it 

comes to dealing with 

children who self-harm.” 

P
age 178



 

55 | P a g e  
 

Child Sexual Exploitation Advanced Course (Full Day) 

No delegates had additional requirements, such as wheelchair access. 

 

 

 

 

     

1 1 2 3

10

4 1 1 2 1

20

2 2

Equal Opportunities Monitoring

1 4 2

12

2 1 3

6

3
5

3 2 1
5

Agency Type

901 Individuals 

viewed the course on 

the LSCB Website 

50 individuals 

attended training. 

(55.6%) 

89 Individuals booked to 

attend the training, out of 

a possible 90 spaces 

available 

 

3x courses were 

completed in 2018-19 

Delegates said they would go for additional advice and support from:- 

LSCB Website     

x16 

Line Manager 

X4 

MASH 

X11 

CEOP 

Website  x27 

All delegates agreed to 

share the learning 

with their colleagues 

and line manager. 

Safer London 

X32 

P
age 179



 

56 | P a g e  
 

 

 

 

 

49

47

48

85

49

83

47

90

49

0 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90 100

DELEGATES RATED THE TRAINERS PRESENTION AS GOOD, VERY GOOD OR EXCELLENT

NUMBER OF DELEGATES WHO FELT THIS TRAINING WAS VERY OR EXTREMELY RELEVANT TO THEIR 
ROLE

NUMBER OF DELEGATES WHO RATED THEIR CONFIDENCE IN OBTAINING THE WISHES AND 
FEELINGS OF A CHILD AS GOOD, EXCELLENT, OR EXCELLENT AND ABLE TO OFFER PEER SUPPORT 

POST TRAINING.

% INCREASE IN CONFIDENCE IN IDENTIFYING YOUNG WOMEN INVOLVED IN CSE, MISSING YOUNG 
PEOPLE, AND IN RELATION TO COUNTY LINES.

NUMBER OF DELEGATES WHO RATED THEIR CONFIDENCE AS GOOD, EXCELLENT OR EXCELLENT 
AND ABLE TO OFFER PEER SUPPORT IN IDENTIFYING YOUNG WOMEN INVOLVED IN CSE, MISSING 

YOUNG PEOPLE, AND IN RELATION TO COUNTY LINES.

% INCREASE IN CONFIDENCE IN ADVISING PEERS ON SUGGESTED WAYS OF WORKING WITH CSE 
CASES AND IMPLEMENTING EFFECTIVE DISRUPTIONS.

NUMBER OF DELEGATES WHO RATED THEIR CONFIDENCE IN ADVISING PEERS ON SUGGESTED 
WAYS OF WORKING WITH CSE CASES AND IMPLEMENTING EFFECTIVE DISRUPTIONS AS GOOD, 

EXCELLENT, OR EXCELLENT AND ABLE TO OFFER PEER SUPPORT.

% AGREED ALL AIMS AND OBJECTIVES WERE MET IN FULL

NUMBER OF COMPLETED EVALUATIONS (50 DELEGATES)

Learning Evaluation Statistics

Key:   Orange = %     Blue = Numbers 

“I will be able to 

identify signs and 

symptoms of trauma 

in CSE.” 

“It will help me in 

working with 

children where there 

are CSE and county 

lines concerns.” 

“Numerous toolkits 

available online and 

can be used with 

young people for 

direct work.” 

“Consider CSE in 

younger children i.e. 

12+ and consider the 

impact of trauma.” 

“I have a deeper 

understanding of 

trauma and CSE, plus 

contextual 

safeguarding.” 

P
age 180



 

57 | P a g e  
 

 LSCB Training Analysis 

 

The training data above provides an outline of some key elements of the larger LSCB Training Program in 2018-19.  

 

Core Safeguarding Training 

 

As outlined on pages 49-52 above, the LSCB has managed to train large numbers of people who work with children and young people in Lewisham across a wide range of 

safeguarding topics.  

 

Me-Learning (E-Learning) 

 

The Me-Learning (Online learning) for Safeguarding Children Level 1 course trained 1069 individuals in 2018-19, with safeguarding partners in Primary and Secondary Schools, 

Adult Social Care, Child Care, Early Years and Charites being some of the agencies that most frequently utilised this safeguarding training offer. The Me-Learning Level 2 

Safeguarding Children course has now transitioned to being an online course, which has led to a resultant increase from 40 individuals trained in 2017-18 to 430 individuals 

in 2018-19. This has provided greater reach for this more advanced safeguarding course, with Child Care professionals, Early Years Providers, Primary and Secondary Schools 

and members of the public being those who most frequently accessed this e-learning training offer. 

 

The LSCB also offers a wide array of additional safeguarding Me-Learning courses, having trained hundreds of additional individuals online around a range of safeguarding 

issues ranging from Safeguarding Children with Disabilities, Sexual Abuse and Online Safety, Human Trafficking & Modern Day Slavery, Data Protection and Information 

Sharing and Consent being some of the more heavily subscribed e-learning courses. Overall, 2995 individuals were trained in Me-Learning courses across the LSCB training 

offer in 2018-19.  

 

The LSCB also offers Level 3 Safeguarding Children for Designated Safeguarding Leads ‘classroom’ learning. This training is targeted at professionals who are the identified 

lead for safeguarding within their organisation (eg. School Designated Safeguarding Leads). The LSCB trained over 60 designated safeguarding leads in 2018-19, with a take-

up rate of over 80% for this course.  When taking into account all other LSCB Classroom Learning courses, 741 individuals received LSCB training in 2018-19.  

 

 

 

 P
age 181



 

58 | P a g e  
 

LSCB Priority-Linked Training 

 

The LSCB maintains a range of safeguarding priorities and information relating to a sample of courses that link directly to LSCB Priorities have been listed above at pages 54-

58. Attendance has varied at some courses and work will be ongoing in 2019-20 to enhance awareness of LSCB training courses to continue to share information to develop 

practice around areas such as Neglect, Suicidal Ideation & Self-Harm and Child Sexual Exploitation alongside Core Safeguarding Training. Feedback from delegates who have 

attended priority-linked training has been very positive, with noted increases in knowledge, confidence and the ability to support others when confronted with these issues 

when working with children and families.  

 

Training Program Development & Improvement 

 

Over 2018-19, the LSCB has expanded its training program on safeguarding issues such as Breast Ironing, Child Sexual Exploitation Champions, Lunchtime Introductory 

Safeguarding Briefings for safeguarding partners and expanded the number of Safeguarding Children Level 3 – Designated Safeguarding Leads from 2 to 4 sessions annually 

and commissioned additional training on Working with Challenging and Hard to Help Families and Safeguarding Children affected by Parental Substance Misuse.  

 

Moving forward, the LSCB is looking to support professionals to develop their knowledge and skills within a Trauma-Informed Approach to safeguarding, in line with 

Lewisham’s wider Public Health approach to key issues such as violence reduction for young people. A series of courses will be provided by Solace Women’s Aid on a pro 

bono basis to enhance practice around Working with Perpetrators of Domestic Violence.  A Gaming & Gambling Harm Prevention Program will also be offered by YGAM 

(charity) and the LSCB will implement a LADO Awareness Lunchtime Briefing for safeguarding professionals.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 P
age 182



 

59 | P a g e  
 

LSCB Task Groups 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Responsible for monitoring and  

evaluating the effectiveness of what 

is done by agencies both individually 

and collectively to safeguard and 

promote the welfare of children 
Aims to safeguard children and young 

people from harm as a result of going 

missing; child sexual exploitation; or 

trafficking for exploitation arising as a 

consequence of being the victim of 

trafficking including County Line drug 

dealing.  

Responsible for communicating and 

raising awareness of the need to 

safeguard and promote the welfare of 

children and how this can best be done 

by agencies, children and young people, 

families and the community.  

Responsible for developing policies and 

procedures to safeguard children and 

ensuring that multi-agency training on 

safeguarding is provided in order to meet 

local needs  

Responsible for considering cases in light 

of the Serious Case Review criteria as set 

out in Working Together to Safeguard 

Children 2015 and making 

recommendations to the Independent 

Chair  

Reviews the deaths of all children in 

Lewisham: this became a statutory duty in 

April 2008  

The Business Unit also co-ordinates a meeting of 

the Task Group Chairs, who meet before each 

LSCB Main Board Meeting.   

Monitoring 

Evaluation  

&  

Service 

Improvement 
Missing 

Exploited 

& 

Trafficked 

Strategic  

Group 

Communications  

&  

Publications 

Case 

 Review  

Panel  

Child Death  

Overview  

Panel   

Policies,  

Procedures  

&  

Training  

LSCB  

Main  

Board   

P
age 183



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Children and Young People Select Committee 

Title Select Committee work programme 

Contributor Scrutiny Manager Item  10 

Class Part 1 (Open) 5 December 2019 

 
1. Purpose 
 
 To advise Committee members of the work programme for the 2019/20 municipal 

year, and of the agenda items for the next meeting.  
 
2. Summary 
 
2.1 At the beginning of the new administration, each select committee drew up a draft 

work programme. The Overview and Scrutiny Business Panel agreed a co-
ordinated work programme. The work programme for each individual committee can 
be reviewed at each Select Committee meeting so that Members are able to include 
urgent, high priority items and remove items that are no longer a priority. 

  
3. Recommendations 
 
3.1 The Committee is asked to: 
 

 note the work plan attached at Appendix B and discuss any issues arising from 
the programme;  

 specify the information and analysis required in the report for each item on the 
agenda for the next meeting, based on desired outcomes, so that officers are 
clear on what they need to provide; 

 review all forthcoming key decisions, attached at Appendix C, and consider any 
items for further scrutiny 

 
4. The work programme 
 
4.1 The work programme for 2019/20 was agreed at the Committee’s meeting on 30 

April 2019. 
 
4.2 The Committee is asked to consider if any urgent issues have arisen that require 

scrutiny and if any existing items are no longer a priority and can be removed from 
the work programme. Before adding additional items, each item should be 
considered against agreed criteria.  
 

4.3 The flow chart attached at Appendix A may help Members decide if proposed 
additional items should be added to the work programme. The Committee’s work 
programme needs to be achievable in terms of the amount of meeting time 
available. If the committee agrees to add additional item(s) because they are urgent 
and high priority, Members will need to consider which medium/low priority item(s) 
should be removed in order to create sufficient capacity for the new item(s).  

Page 185

Agenda Item 10



 

 

 
 
5. The next meeting 
 
5.1 The following reports are scheduled for the meeting on 5 December 2019: 
 

Agenda item Review type Link to Corporate Priority 

Children’s Social Care 
Improvement Plan 

Performance 
Monitoring 

CP3&5 

How living in temporary 
accommodation affects 
children and young 
people 

Investigation CP3 

Early Help Review Review CP3&5 

 
5.2 The Committee is asked to specify the information and analysis it would like to see 

in the reports for these item, based on the outcomes the committee would like to 
achieve, so that officers are clear on what they need to provide for the next 
meeting. 

 
6. Financial Implications 
 

There are no financial implications arising from this report.  
 

7. Legal Implications 
 

In accordance with the Council’s Constitution, all scrutiny select committees must 
devise and submit a work programme to the Business Panel at the start of each 
municipal year. 

 
8. Equalities Implications 
 
8.1 The Equality Act 2010 brought together all previous equality legislation in England, 

Scotland and Wales. The Act included a new public sector equality duty, replacing 
the separate duties relating to race, disability and gender equality. The duty came 
into force on 6 April 2011. It covers the following nine protected characteristics: age, 
disability, gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and 
maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation. 

8.2 The Council must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to the need to: 
 

 eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other 
conduct prohibited by the Act 

 advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected 
characteristic and those who do not. 

Page 186



 

 

 foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and 
those who do not. 

 
8.3 There may be equalities implications arising from items on the work programme and 

all activities undertaken by the Select Committee will need to give due consideration 
to this. 
 

9. Date of next meeting 
 

9.1 The date of the next meeting is Thursday 23 January 2020. 
 

Background Documents 
 

Lewisham Council’s Constitution 
 

Centre for Public Scrutiny: the Good Scrutiny Guide 
 

Page 187



Appendix A 
 

 

 

Page 188



Children and Young People Select Committee 2019/20 Programme of Work

Work Item Type of item

Strategic 

Priority 30-Apr 12-Jun 11-Jul 17-Sep 16-Oct 05-Dec 23-Jan 10-Mar

Lewisham Future Programme
Performance 

monitoring Budget Cuts

Election of the Chair and Vice-Chair
Constitutional 

requirement

Select Committee work programme 2019/20
Constitutional 

requirement
CP3

Children and Young People's Plan
Performance 

monitoring
CP3

Safeguarding Services 6-monthly Report and update on new 

safeguarding arrangements, inc update on CSC 

Improvement Plan

Performance 

monitoring

CP3 & 

CP5

Young Mayor and Advisors Verbal update
CP3 & 

CP5

BAME achievement
Performance 

Monitoring
CP3

Annual Report on Attendance and Exclusions
Performance 

monitoring
CP3 

Public Health cuts
performance 

monitoring
CP5

M&C response

In-depth review - school exclusions In-depth review CP3
M&C response

Children's Social Care budget, including sufficiency strategy, 

staffing, fostering

Performance 

monitoring

CP3 & 

CP5

SEND Strategy 
Performance 

monitoring

CP3 & 

CP5

Provisional school results
Performance 

monitoring
CP3

Education Strategy
Policy 

development
CP3

CAMHS waiting times for Lewisham Children
Performance 

monitoring

CP3 & 

CP5

Unregulated educational settings Information item CP3

BAMER mental health inequalities referral 
Policy 

development

CP3 & 

CP5 HWB response

Children's Social Care Improvement Plan 
Performance 

monitoring

CP3 & 

CP5
How living in temporary accommodation affects children and 

young people
Investigation

CP3 & 

CP2

Early Help review In-depth review
CP3 & 

CP5
Safeguarding Services 6-monthly Report and update on new 

safeguarding arrangements

Performance 

monitoring

CP3 & 

CP5

Exclusions from school - in-depth review follow up
Performance 

monitoring
CP3

Corporate Parenting and LAC Annual Report For information
CP3 & 

CP5

Annual Schools Standards Report 2018/19 (primary, 

secondary, post 16 and AP) 

Performance 

monitoring
CP3

Lewisham Safeguarding Children Board annual report (for 

information only)

Performance 

Monitoring

CP3 & 

CP5

Item completed

Item on-going 1) 4) Tuesday 17 September 7)

Item outstanding 2) 5) Wednesday 16 October 8)

Proposed timeframe 3) 6) Thursday 5 December

Item added

CP 2

CP 3

CP 5

CP 7

Tuesday 30 April

Wednesday 12 June

Thursday 11 July

Meetings

Giving Children and young people the best start in life.

Delivering and defending: health, social care and support

Building Safer Communities

Thursday 23 January

Tuesday 10 March

Tackling the housing crisis

P
age 189



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
  

 
 

 

  
FORWARD PLAN OF KEY DECISIONS 

 

   
 

Forward Plan December 2019 - March 2020 
 
 
This Forward Plan sets out the key decisions the Council expects to take during the next four months.  
 
Anyone wishing to make representations on a decision should submit them in writing as soon as possible to the relevant contact officer (shown as number (7) in 
the key overleaf). Any representations made less than 3 days before the meeting should be sent toKevin Flaherty 0208 3149327, the Local Democracy Officer, 
at the Council Offices or kevin.flaherty@lewisham.gov.uk. However the deadline will be 4pm on the working day prior to the meeting. 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

A “key decision”* means an executive decision which is likely to: 
 
(a) result in the Council incurring expenditure which is, or the making of savings which are, significant having regard to the Council’s budget for the service or function to which the 

decision relates; 
 

(b) be significant in terms of its effects on communities living or working in an area comprising two or more wards. 

 
 

P
age 191



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS 

Date included in 
forward plan 

Description of matter under 
consideration 

Date of Decision 
Decision maker 
 

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios 

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials 

 

February 2019 
 

Insurance Renewal 
 

12/11/19 
Executive Director 
for Resources and 
Regeneration 
 

David Austin, Acting 
Chief Finance Officer and 
Councillor Amanda De 
Ryk, Cabinet Member for 
Finance and Resources 
 

 
  

 

October 2019 
 

Award of Contract for an 
Integrated Housing IT System 
 

12/11/19 
Executive Director 
for Customer 
Services 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Housing, Regeneration & 
Environment and 
Councillor Kevin Bonavia, 
Cabinet Member for 
Democracy, Refugees & 
Accountability 
 

 
  

 

October 2019 
 

Early Help Support Services - 
Review and Permission 
 

20/11/19 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Sara Williams, Executive 
Director, Children and 
Young People and 
Councillor Chris 
Barnham, Cabinet 
Member for School 
Performance and 
Children's Services 
 

 
  

 

October 2019 
 

Ladywell Playtower: progress 
update 
 

20/11/19 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Housing, Regeneration & 
Environment and Mayor 
Damien Egan, Mayor 
 

 
  

 

April 2019 
 

Contract Award Tier 2/3 Drug 
Services/Shared Care 
 

20/11/19 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Tom Brown, Executive 
Director for Community 
Services and Councillor 
Joani Reid, Cabinet 
Member for Safer 
Communities 

 
  

 

P
age 192



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS 

Date included in 
forward plan 

Description of matter under 
consideration 

Date of Decision 
Decision maker 
 

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios 

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials 

 

October 2019 
 

Retention of Right to Buy 
Receipts 
 

20/11/19 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Housing, Regeneration & 
Environment and 
Councillor Paul Bell, 
Cabinet Member for 
Housing 
 

 
  

 

October 2019 
 

School Meals Provision 
 

20/11/19 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Sara Williams, Executive 
Director, Children and 
Young People and 
Councillor Chris 
Barnham, Cabinet 
Member for School 
Performance and 
Children's Services 
 

 
  

 

October 2019 
 

Polling District Review 
 

27/11/19 
Council 
 

Kath Nicholson, Head of 
Law and Councillor Leo 
Gibbons 
 

 
  

 

October 2019 
 

Dockless Bikes bye-law 
 

27/11/19 
Council 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Housing, Regeneration & 
Environment and 
Councillor Brenda 
Dacres, Cabinet Member 
for Environment and 
Transport (job share) 
 

 
  

 

October 2019 
 

Constitutional Update 
 

27/11/19 
Council 
 

Kath Nicholson, Head of 
Law and Councillor Kevin 
Bonavia, Cabinet 
Member for Democracy, 
Refugees & 

 
  

 

P
age 193



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS 

Date included in 
forward plan 

Description of matter under 
consideration 

Date of Decision 
Decision maker 
 

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios 

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials 

Accountability 
 

October 2019 
 

Contract Award Report for 
Extra Care Service at Conrad 
Court 
 

03/12/19 
Overview and 
Scrutiny Business 
Panel 
 

Tom Brown, Executive 
Director for Community 
Services and Councillor 
Chris Best, Deputy Mayor 
and Cabinet Member for 
Health and Adult Social 
Care 
 

 
  

 

October 2019 
 

Adoption of Draft Conservation 
Area Appraisal, Boundary 
Change and Article 4 Direction 
for Deptford High Street and St 
Paul's Conservation Areas 
 

11/12/19 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Housing, Regeneration & 
Environment and Mayor 
Damien Egan, Mayor 
 

 
  

 

August 2019 
 

Consultation: Proposal to 
Transfer Management of 5 
Community Centres to 
Lewisham Homes 
 

11/12/19 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Tom Brown, Executive 
Director for Community 
Services and Councillor 
Jonathan Slater, Cabinet 
Member for Community 
Sector 
 

 
  

 

October 2019 
 

NHS Commissioning 
Arrangements in Lewisham 
 

11/12/19 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Tom Brown, Executive 
Director for Community 
Services and Councillor 
Chris Best, Deputy Mayor 
and Cabinet Member for 
Health and Adult Social 
Care 
 

 
  

 

 
 

Reduction & Recycling Plan 
 

11/12/19 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Housing, Regeneration & 
Environment and 
Councillor Brenda 

 
  

 

P
age 194



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS 

Date included in 
forward plan 

Description of matter under 
consideration 

Date of Decision 
Decision maker 
 

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios 

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials 

Dacres, Cabinet Member 
for Environment and 
Transport (job share) 
 

October 2019 
 

Old Town Hall works - 
permission to tender 
 

11/12/19 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Housing, Regeneration & 
Environment and Mayor 
Damien Egan, Mayor 
 

 
  

 

October 2019 
 

Preferred Tender for Travel and 
Transport Programme 
 

11/12/19 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Housing, Regeneration & 
Environment and 
Councillor Brenda 
Dacres, Cabinet Member 
for Environment and 
Transport (job share) 
 

 
  

 

October 2019 
 

Re-commissioning of 
Healthwatch & NHS Complaints 
Advocacy Services 
 

11/12/19 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Tom Brown, Executive 
Director for Community 
Services and Councillor 
Chris Best, Deputy Mayor 
and Cabinet Member for 
Health and Adult Social 
Care 
 

 
  

 

October 2019 
 

Contract Award for Stage 2 of 
Greenvale School Expansion 
Project 
 

11/12/19 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Sara Williams, Executive 
Director, Children and 
Young People and 
Councillor Chris 
Barnham, Cabinet 
Member for School 
Performance and 
Children's Services 
 

 
  

 

P
age 195



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS 

Date included in 
forward plan 

Description of matter under 
consideration 

Date of Decision 
Decision maker 
 

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios 

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials 

October 2019 
 

Schools Minor Works 
Programme 2020 
 

11/12/19 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Sara Williams, Executive 
Director, Children and 
Young People and 
Councillor Chris 
Barnham, Cabinet 
Member for School 
Performance and 
Children's Services 
 

 
  

 

October 2019 
 

Contract extension Tier 2/3 
Drug Services for adult 
substance misuse services 
 

11/12/19 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Tom Brown, Executive 
Director for Community 
Services and Councillor 
Chris Best, Deputy Mayor 
and Cabinet Member for 
Health and Adult Social 
Care 
 

 
  

 

October 2019 
 

Expansion of Drumbeat School 
& ASD Service 
 

11/12/19 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Sara Williams, Executive 
Director, Children and 
Young People and 
Councillor Chris 
Barnham, Cabinet 
Member for School 
Performance and 
Children's Services 
 

 
  

 

October 2019 
 

Building for Lewisham New 
Homes Programme parts 1 & 2 
 

11/12/19 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Housing, Regeneration & 
Environment and 
Councillor Paul Bell, 
Cabinet Member for 
Housing 
 

 
  

 

October 2019 
 

Response to TfL consultation 
on Bakerloo Line Extension 
 

11/12/19 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Housing, Regeneration & 

 
  

 P
age 196



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS 

Date included in 
forward plan 

Description of matter under 
consideration 

Date of Decision 
Decision maker 
 

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios 

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials 

Environment and 
Councillor Brenda 
Dacres, Cabinet Member 
for Environment and 
Transport (job share) 
 

October 2019 
 

State of the Highways 
Infrasructure and Update on 
Asset Management Strategy 
 

11/12/19 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Housing, Regeneration & 
Environment and 
Councillor Brenda 
Dacres, Cabinet Member 
for Environment and 
Transport (job share) 
 

 
  

 

October 2019 
 

PLACE/Ladywell parts 1 & 2 
 

11/12/19 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Housing, Regeneration & 
Environment and 
Councillor Paul Bell, 
Cabinet Member for 
Housing 
 

 
  

 

October 2019 
 

Contract award Violence 
against Women and Girls 
service 
 

11/12/19 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Tom Brown, Executive 
Director for Community 
Services and Councillor 
Joani Reid, Cabinet 
Member for Safer 
Communities 
 

 
  

 

October 2019 
 

Achilles Street Update parts 1 
& 2 
 

11/12/19 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Housing, Regeneration & 
Environment and 
Councillor Paul Bell, 
Cabinet Member for 
Housing 

 
  

 

P
age 197



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS 

Date included in 
forward plan 

Description of matter under 
consideration 

Date of Decision 
Decision maker 
 

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios 

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials 

 

October 2019 
 

Parking Policy Update 
 

11/12/19 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Housing, Regeneration & 
Environment and 
Councillor Brenda 
Dacres, Cabinet Member 
for Environment and 
Transport (job share) 
 

 
  

 

 
 

Approach to Boroughwide pot 
of Neighbourhood Community 
Infrastructure Levy 
 

11/12/19 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Housing, Regeneration & 
Environment and 
Councillor Brenda 
Dacres, Cabinet Member 
for Environment and 
Transport (job share) 
 

 
  

 

 
 

Learning Disability Framework 
- Permission to Reprocure 
Contracts from Framework 
 

11/12/19 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Tom Brown, Executive 
Director for Community 
Services and Councillor 
Chris Best, Deputy Mayor 
and Cabinet Member for 
Health and Adult Social 
Care 
 

 
  

 

 
 

Post Consultation for two 
Article Directions Perry Vale 
and the Christmas Estate CA 
and Lewisham Park CA 
 

11/12/19 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Housing, Regeneration & 
Environment and Mayor 
Damien Egan, Mayor 
 

 
  

 

 
 

Improvement Work Social Care 
Software Systems (LiquidLogic 
Adults - LAS & Childrens LCs) 

11/12/19 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

David Austin, Acting 
Chief Finance Officer and 
Councillor Kevin Bonavia, 

 
  

 

P
age 198



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS 

Date included in 
forward plan 

Description of matter under 
consideration 

Date of Decision 
Decision maker 
 

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios 

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials 

 Cabinet Member for 
Democracy, Refugees & 
Accountability 
 

 
 

Contract Award LSL Sexual 
Health Promotion Service 
 

11/12/19 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Tom Brown, Executive 
Director for Community 
Services and Councillor 
Chris Best, Deputy Mayor 
and Cabinet Member for 
Health and Adult Social 
Care 
 

 
  

 

 
 

Approval for the Procurement 
of a cafe at Mountsfield Park 
 

11/12/19 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Housing, Regeneration & 
Environment and 
Councillor Sophie 
McGeevor, Cabinet 
Member for Environment 
and Transport (job share) 
 

 
  

 

 
 

Catford Town Centre Housing 
Infrastructure Fund Grant 
Agreement 
 

11/12/19 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Housing, Regeneration & 
Environment and 
Councillor Paul Bell, 
Cabinet Member for 
Housing 
 

 
  

 

 
 

Playing Pitch Strategy 
 

11/12/19 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Tom Brown, Executive 
Director for Community 
Services and Councillor 
Andre Bourne, Cabinet 
member for Culture, Jobs 
and Skills (job share) 
 

 
  

 

P
age 199



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS 

Date included in 
forward plan 

Description of matter under 
consideration 

Date of Decision 
Decision maker 
 

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios 

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials 

 
 

The Leathersellers' Federation 
of Schools Instrument of 
Government 
 

11/12/19 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Sara Williams, Executive 
Director, Children and 
Young People and 
Councillor Chris 
Barnham, Cabinet 
Member for School 
Performance and 
Children's Services 
 

 
  

 

June 2019 
 

Disposal of former Wide 
Horizon Sites in Wales & Kent' 
 

15/01/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

David Austin, Acting 
Chief Finance Officer and 
Mayor Damien Egan, 
Mayor 
 

 
  

 

October 2019 
 

Acquisition of land at Pool 
Court. parts 1 & 2 
 

15/01/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Housing, Regeneration & 
Environment and Mayor 
Damien Egan, Mayor 
 

 
  

 

May 2019 
 

Performance Monitoring 
 

15/01/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

David Austin, Acting 
Chief Finance Officer and 
Councillor Kevin Bonavia, 
Cabinet Member for 
Democracy, Refugees & 
Accountability 
 

 
  

 

October 2019 
 

Private Sector Housing 
Borough-wide Licensing 
 

15/01/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Housing, Regeneration & 
Environment and 
Councillor Paul Bell, 
Cabinet Member for 
Housing 
 

 
  

 

June 2019 Adopting a Residents Charter 15/01/20 Kevin Sheehan,   

P
age 200



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS 

Date included in 
forward plan 

Description of matter under 
consideration 

Date of Decision 
Decision maker 
 

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios 

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials 

 for Lewisham 
 

Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Executive Director for 
Housing, Regeneration & 
Environment and 
Councillor Paul Bell, 
Cabinet Member for 
Housing 
 

  

October 2019 
 

Lewisham Draft Housing 
Strategy 
 

15/01/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Housing, Regeneration & 
Environment and 
Councillor Paul Bell, 
Cabinet Member for 
Housing 
 

 
  

 

October 2019 
 

Housing Strategy and 
Homelessness Strategy 
 

15/01/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Housing, Regeneration & 
Environment and 
Councillor Paul Bell, 
Cabinet Member for 
Housing 
 

 
  

 

October 2019 
 

Precision Manufactured 
Housing (PMH) Procurement 
 

15/01/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Housing, Regeneration & 
Environment and 
Councillor Paul Bell, 
Cabinet Member for 
Housing 
 

 
  

 

October 2019 
 

Mayow Road Supported Living 
Service Parts 1 & 2 
 

15/01/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Tom Brown, Executive 
Director for Community 
Services and Councillor 
Chris Best, Deputy Mayor 
and Cabinet Member for 
Health and Adult Social 

 
  

 

P
age 201



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS 

Date included in 
forward plan 

Description of matter under 
consideration 

Date of Decision 
Decision maker 
 

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios 

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials 

Care 
 

October 2019 
 

Highway Contract Tendering 
strategy for 2021 award 
 

15/01/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Housing, Regeneration & 
Environment and 
Councillor Brenda 
Dacres, Cabinet Member 
for Environment and 
Transport (job share) 
 

 
  

 

 
 

Approval for the procurement 
of lake operations for 
Beckenham Place Park 
 

15/01/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Housing, Regeneration & 
Environment and 
Councillor Sophie 
McGeevor, Cabinet 
Member for Environment 
and Transport (job share) 
 

 
  

 

 
 

Setting the Council tax Base 
NNDR Tax Base & Discounts 
for Second Homes and Empty 
Homes 
 

15/01/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

David Austin, Acting 
Chief Finance Officer and 
Councillor Amanda De 
Ryk, Cabinet Member for 
Finance and Resources 
 

 
  

 

 
 

Supported Accommodation 
Permitted Contract Extension 
 

15/01/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Tom Brown, Executive 
Director for Community 
Services and Councillor 
Chris Best, Deputy Mayor 
and Cabinet Member for 
Health and Adult Social 
Care 
 

 
  

 

October 2019 
 

NHS Commissioning 
Arrangements in Lewisham 

22/01/20 
Council 

Aileen Buckton, 
Executive Director for 

 
  

 P
age 202



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS 

Date included in 
forward plan 

Description of matter under 
consideration 

Date of Decision 
Decision maker 
 

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios 

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials 

  Community Services and 
Councillor Chris Best, 
Deputy Mayor and 
Cabinet Member for 
Health and Adult Social 
Care 
 

 
 

Setting the Council tax Base 
NNDR Tax Base & Discounts 
for Second Homes and Empty 
Homes 
 

22/01/20 
Council 
 

David Austin, Acting 
Chief Finance Officer and 
Councillor Amanda De 
Ryk, Cabinet Member for 
Finance and Resources 
 

 
  

 

October 2019 
 

Budget 2020-21 
 

05/02/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

David Austin, Acting 
Chief Finance Officer and 
Councillor Amanda De 
Ryk, Cabinet Member for 
Finance and Resources 
 

 
  

 

October 2019 
 

Renewal of Social Care 
software systems 
 

05/02/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Housing, Regeneration & 
Environment and 
Councillor Kevin Bonavia, 
Cabinet Member for 
Democracy, Refugees & 
Accountability 
 

 
  

 

October 2019 
 

Renewal of revenue and 
benefits software systems 
 

05/02/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Housing, Regeneration & 
Environment and 
Councillor Kevin Bonavia, 
Cabinet Member for 
Democracy, Refugees & 
Accountability 
 

 
  

 

P
age 203



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS 

Date included in 
forward plan 

Description of matter under 
consideration 

Date of Decision 
Decision maker 
 

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios 

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials 

October 2019 
 

Renewal of Oracle Licensing 
arrangements 
 

05/02/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Housing, Regeneration & 
Environment and 
Councillor Kevin Bonavia, 
Cabinet Member for 
Democracy, Refugees & 
Accountability 
 

 
  

 

 
 

Learning Disability Framework 
- Award of call off contracts 
 

05/02/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Tom Brown, Executive 
Director for Community 
Services and Councillor 
Chris Best, Deputy Mayor 
and Cabinet Member for 
Health and Adult Social 
Care 
 

 
  

 

October 2019 
 

Budget Update 
 

12/02/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

David Austin, Acting 
Chief Finance Officer and 
Councillor Amanda De 
Ryk, Cabinet Member for 
Finance and Resources 
 

 
  

 

October 2019 
 

Precision Manufactured 
Housing (PMH) Procurement 
Process Outcome and Decision 
 

12/02/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Housing, Regeneration & 
Environment and 
Councillor Paul Bell, 
Cabinet Member for 
Housing 
 

 
  

 

October 2019 
 

Budget 2020-21 
 

26/02/20 
Council 
 

David Austin, Acting 
Chief Finance Officer and 
Councillor Amanda De 
Ryk, Cabinet Member for 
Finance and Resources 
 

 
  

 

P
age 204



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS 

Date included in 
forward plan 

Description of matter under 
consideration 

Date of Decision 
Decision maker 
 

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios 

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials 

October 2019 
 

Lewisham Climate Emergency 
Action Plan 
 

11/03/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Housing, Regeneration & 
Environment and 
Councillor Sophie 
McGeevor, Cabinet 
Member for Environment 
and Transport (job share) 
 

 
  

 

October 2019 
 

Air Quality Action Plan 
 

11/03/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Housing, Regeneration & 
Environment and 
Councillor Sophie 
McGeevor, Cabinet 
Member for Environment 
and Transport (job share) 
 

 
  

 

October 2019 
 

Adoption of the Catford 
Regeneration Masterplan 
Framework 
 

25/03/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Housing, Regeneration & 
Environment and Mayor 
Damien Egan, Mayor 
 

 
  

 

 
 

Approval to appoint operator 
for concessions contract at the 
lake, Beckenham Place Park 
 

29/04/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Housing, Regeneration & 
Environment and 
Councillor Sophie 
McGeevor, Cabinet 
Member for Environment 
and Transport (job share) 
 

 
  

 

 
 

Corporate Equalities Scheme 
 

29/04/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

David Austin, Acting 
Chief Finance Officer and 
Councillor Jonathan 
Slater, Cabinet Member 

 
  

 

P
age 205



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS 

Date included in 
forward plan 

Description of matter under 
consideration 

Date of Decision 
Decision maker 
 

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios 

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials 

for Community Sector 
 

P
age 206



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS 

Date included in 
forward plan 

Description of matter under 
consideration 

Date of Decision 
Decision maker 
 

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios 

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials 

 

      

      

P
age 207



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	1 Minutes of the meeting held on 16 October 2019
	2 Declarations of interest
	3 Responses to Referrals
	4 Provisional key stage outcomes for Lewisham schools
	5 Education Strategy
	05a Education Strategy Presentation

	6 CAMHS waiting times for Lewisham children
	7 Recruitment and retention of school staff - in-depth review follow up
	07a Review of R and R Appendix 2

	8 Lewisham Alternative Provision and unregulated education settings
	9 Lewisham Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2018-19
	09 LSCB Annual Report 2018-2019

	10 Select Committee work programme
	10Appendix B - Select committee work programmes 2019-20
	10Appendix C key decision plan


